
SU
N

 H
U

N
G

 K
A

I &
 C

O
. LIM

ITED
A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2019

2019
Annual Report

Stock Code: 0086



WHO WE ARE
Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited

Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (the “Company” 

or “SHK & Co.”, together with its subsidiaries, 

the “Group”) is a financing and investing 

firm headquartered in Hong Kong. Since its 

establishment in 1969, the Group has owned 

and operated market-leading businesses 

in Financial Services. Building on its rich 

heritage, experience and network, the Group 

aims to generate long-term capital growth 

for its shareholders through a diverse, yet 

complementary Financing and Investment 

model. It is the major shareholder of leading 

Consumer Finance firm United Asia Finance 

Limited, and a substantial shareholder of 

Everbright Sun Hung Kai Company Limited. 

The Group currently holds about HK$43 

billion* in total assets.

www.shkco.com

*As at 31 December 2019

Endure. Adapt. Excel
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Our journey started over 50 years ago, 

with the Company offering brokerage 

and related services in Hong Kong. 

The Group then strategically entered 

the Consumer Finance business in 

Hong Kong and Mainland China, and 

eventually expanded into Investment 

Management, making us a stronger 

and mo re d i ve r s i f i ed p l a ye r i n 

Financial Services.

Now, t he G roup i s f ocused on 

F i n a n c i n g a n d I n v e s t i n g . T h e 

philosophy behind this dual-engine 

mode l i s tha t our core Lend ing 

business, focused on Greater China, 

aims to provide stable returns and 

strong cash flows, while Investing 

seeks new income st reams and 

opportunities for increased returns 

across a broad range of sectors, 

strategies and geographies.

FINANCING BUSINESS

Consumer Finance 
United Asia Finance Limited (“UA 
Finance” or “UAF”)

UAF is a l icensed money lender 
providing loans for individuals and 
businesses through branches and 
online platforms in Hong Kong and 
Mainland China. In recent years, 
UAF has been a pioneer in modern 
loan o f fe r ings,  such as  Faster 
Payment System (“FPS”) for loan 
disbursement, “No Show” loans  
with approvals solely completed by 
phone, and mobile applications.

Mortgage Loans
Sun Hung Kai Credit Limited (“Sun 
Hung Kai Credit” or “SHK Credit”)

Established in 2015, SHK Credit 
has a significant market presence in 
providing mortgage loans in Hong 
Kong.

Specialty Finance
Structured Finance (previously 
presented as “Private Credit”)

This division provides tailored funding 
solutions to corporates, investment 
funds and high net worth individuals. 
The loan book has primary focus on 
Greater China markets, with all loans 
either secured with assets or other 
guarantees.

42%
CONSUMER FINANCE
HK Market Leader, Significant Market Presence 
in the PRC

9%
MORTAGE LOANS

4%
SPECIALTY 
FINANCE
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Investment Management (“IM”)
In 2015, the Company estab l ished 
Investment Management division (formerly 
known as “Pr inc ipa l Investments” ) 
which leverages the Group’s expertise, 
network and strong financial position to 
seek attractive risk-adjusted investment 
oppor tun i t i es i n Cap i t a l marke ts , 
Alternatives markets and Real Assets 
markets.

IM Divisions

Public/Capital Markets
Inc ludes the Company’s in terna l l y 
managed APAC long/short strategy, 
direct equity holdings, our internal ly 
managed global credit strategy and cash. 
We actively manage all sub-portfolios, 
carefully using derivatives and hedging to 
increase returns and manage risk.

Alternative Investments
Alternat ives include the Company’s 
investments in externally managed private 
equity and hedge funds, as well as equity 
direct and co-investments. The portfolio 
seeks to maximise risk-adjusted returns 
and diversify exposure by industry and 
geography.

Real Assets
The Real Assets portfolio includes all the 
Group’s real estate holdings in Hong 
Kong, the UK and Europe. Real Assets is 
a core strength of the Group and an area 
where we expect to grow our portfolio 
going forward.

INVESTING BUSINESS

31%
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
•	 Diversified portfolio of equity, credit and 		
	 real assets, both public and private
•	 Extension to Fund Management

8%
GMS
Liquidity Reserves, 
Group Services and 
Unallocated Finance 
Costs

6%
STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENTS
Wealth Management
& Car Financing

Strategic Investments (“SI”)
This portfolio consists of our retained 
30% equi ty s take in Everbr ight 
Sun Hung Kai Company Limited 
(“EBSHK”) and a strategic interest 
in LSS Financial Leasing (Shanghai) 
Limited (“LSS Leasing”). EBSHK 
is a full-service financial institution 
that spans wealth management and 
brokerage, corporate finance and 
capital markets, asset management, 
i n v e s t m e n t ,  a n d s t r u c t u r e d 
financing. In partnership with the 
Brilliance China Group and 58.com, 
LSS Leasing connects f inancing 
to tradit ional and new transport 
models, from corporates to individual 
customers.

Group Management and Support 
(“GMS”)
This includes the Group’s treasury and 
other assets, unallocated finance costs 
and Group services.
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Dear Shareholders,

This has been a meaningful year for SHK & Co. as we 

celebrated the 50th anniversary of our establishment in 

1969, and I am proud to present you with solid results: 

significant gains to basic earnings per share and total assets 

of HK$42.6 billion as at 31 December 2019. In a year of 

market disruptions and uncertainties, the Group achieved 

growth in loan balances and a higher loan yield from lending, 

as well as strong investment performance.

The results for this past year showed the strength of 

the Group’s dual-engine growth model. Our diverse yet 

complimentary business portfolio made 2019 one of our 

strongest years ever, and we feel it further validates the 

strategic transformation we embarked on almost five years 

ago. Our Lending businesses remain our largest in terms of 

assets and provide steady cash flow and organic growth, 

while our Investment Management business focuses 

on higher return strategies across various sectors and 

geographies. Looking forward, we will continue to expand 

the Investment Management business by launching a Fund 

Management platform which will manage external capital 

and seek additional assets and revenue. As we continue to 

grow our offerings, we believe the Investment Management 

business will be a major driver of our future growth.

2019 was one of our strongest years ever 
and we feel it further validates the strategic 
transformation we embarked on almost five 
years ago. 

At SHK & Co., we believe in investing in growth, whether 

by offering f inancing to people and companies or by 

contributing capital through Investment Management. That 

same philosophy applies to the Company, where we invest 

in our people to foster their development and provide a 

welcoming and supportive workplace environment. We 

invest in our systems and governance controls to assure 

business continuity at the highest institutional standards. In 

our communities, we invest through the Sun Hung Kai & Co. 

Foundation and the Sun Hung Kai Scallywag sailing team, as 

well as our ESG initiatives. We know these are all the right 

things to do and believe they will all contribute to making our 

Company a continued success.

At this t ime of year, we take a moment to look back 

and appreciate what we achieved in a challenging year. 

Unfortunately, the new year has immediately brought new 

and unprecedented difficulties as the coronavirus outbreak 

and its widespread effects have caused massive disruptions 

to the global economy. The effects are being felt here and 

around the world through travel bans, national lockdowns, 

and resulting violent swings in the markets only ever seen 

in historic crashes. Like you, we are constantly watching 

the news and adjusting to new information and dangers 

on what seems a daily basis. In the midst of these ongoing 

challenges and uncertainties, I am proud of how quickly our 

team at SHK & Co. continues to adapt, and to keep both 

safe and productive. It is times like this that our Company 

ethos “Endure. Adapt. Excel” not only expresses our 

mindset and culture, but also guides us forward. After a year 

in which we were able to Excel, we now need to Endure and 

Adapt once more. I am confident that we will successfully 

navigate these turbulent waters and Excel again.
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Financial Highlights, Capital 
Management and Dividend
In 2019, our combined business portfolio produced a record 

high of 76% growth on profit attributable to owners of the 

Company, totalling HK$2,085.2 million (2018: HK$1,183.8 million). 

Earnings per share surged to HK104.4 cents, an increase of 

86% (2018: HK56.2 cents). The book value per share gained 

7% to HK$10.2 (2018: HK$9.5). Return on equity and return 

on assets were 10.6% and 6.0%, respectively (2018: 6.2% 

and 4.1%, respectively).

Delivering on our strategies and achieving our goals requires 

maintaining a strong balance sheet. During the year, the 

Group partial ly tendered two US dollar-denominated 

medium term notes (due in 2021 and 2022, respectively) 

and issued new 5.75% US dollar-denominated medium term 

notes due in 2024. In addition, the Group maintained our 

European Commercial Paper programme and bank facilities 

to fulfil our capital needs.

Since the Company listed in 1983, we have maintained 

continuous dividends and distributions, returning HK$11.7 

billion (including dividends and share buybacks) to our 

shareholders over the past 13 years. The Board has 

declared a second interim dividend of HK14 cents bringing 

the total dividend per share to HK26 cents for 2019, 

representing a pay-out ratio of 25% (excluding share 

buybacks).

In 2019, the Company continued to repurchase stock, 

buying back 9.2 million shares. In addition, the Group’s 

subsidiary, UA Finance bought 7.27% of its then issued 

shares from a minority shareholder, resulting in the Group’s 

interest in UAF rising from 58% to 63%.

Business Update
Our journey started over 50 years ago, with the Company 

offering brokerage and related services in Hong Kong. The 

Group then strategically entered the Consumer Finance 

business in Hong Kong and Mainland China, and eventually 

expanded into Investment Management, making us a 

stronger and more diversified player in financial services.

The Group realigned business segments into two categories: 

Financing and Investing. The philosophy behind this dual-

engine model is that our core Lending business aims to 

provide stable returns and strong cash flows, while Investing 

seeks new income streams and opportunities for increased 

returns.

Dur ing the year , bo th segments de l i ve red s t rong 

performance, led by the Lending businesses. UA Finance 

contributed HK$1,276.0 million to the Group’s pre-tax profit and 

its gross loan balance increased by 7% to HK$11,121.3 million 

at the end of 2019. Sun Hung Kai Credit contributed a 

meaningful pre-tax profit of HK$121.4 million in its fourth 

full year of operation, with gross loan balance reaching 

HK$3,648.6 million at the end of 2019. Both businesses 

focused on organically growing the loan books, enhancing 

profitability and managing risks.

The Group’s Investment Management business had a strong 

year, contributing HK$1,083.2 million of pre-tax profit with 

assets reaching a total value of HK$13,129.7 million at 

end of 2019, an increase of 6%. Since the inception of this 

business almost five years ago, we have built a significant 

portfolio of diversified investments and staffed a professional 

team to select and manage them. The next step is the 

launch of Sun Hung Kai Fund Management, a fully licensed 

and regulated fund manager, and a series of funds that will 

be available to accept third party capital. We have received 

regulatory approval to proceed and have been working to 

build out the institutional grade infrastructure to support 

this new business. This evolution will allow the Investment 

Management business to become a powerful generator 

of steady revenue and investment profits. The additional 

assets under management will allow the teams to scale their 

operations, retain talent and diversify risk.
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People and Community
We value our people and are committed to build and 

promote a flexible, diverse, inclusive and open culture to 

attract and retain talent. In December 2018, we announced 

unlimited annual leave for staff, a pioneering move amongst 

Hong Kong corporates. Over the course of the year, we 

built out systems to allow our employees to more easily 

work remotely, which helped us remain productive in the 

coronavirus outbreak and should continue to add value once 

business travel begins again. As we celebrate our heritage, 

we also embrace modern working styles to enhance 

employee engagement and foster a sense of ownership.

Outside the office, SHK & Co. has a vision to promote 

sailing, a sport with a rich legacy in Hong Kong, as we 

believe that sailing exemplifies endurance, adaptability and 

excellence. We launched the Sun Hung Kai Scallywag 

Foundation in May 2019, with the mission of making sailing 

more accessible for the underprivileged youth in Hong Kong. 

Especially for youngsters, sailing helps nurture important 

qualities such as resil ience, discipline, teamwork and 

leadership. Since the launch, over 100 young sailors have 

trained under the programme.

Off the water, we have engaged with the community through 

the Sun Hung Kai & Co. Foundation. Through our support 

of eye health (Orbis), Harvard University scholarship and the 

arts in Hong Kong, we endeavor to enrich our communities.

Outlook
2020 has started with a global coronavirus pandemic 

unlike anything we have seen before. At this point it is 

impossible to know how or when this will end and how 

much damage will be done. We have seen some initial signs 

of success in China and South Korea and hope to soon 

see improvement in Italy and the USA. The outlook from 

here is difficult to predict. Governments are embarking on 

previously unseen levels of support, with massive stimulus 

and liquidity measures being approved and rolled out day 

by day. However, fear and uncertainties continue to run 

high among investors and ordinary citizens as the trade-off 

between lockdowns and keeping people working is hashed 

out in each country and city. We are also trying to maintain 

a balance, keeping our staff healthy as we try to keep the 

Company running effectively.

The continued unprecedented economic stress and volatility, 

together with liquidity shortages, has created broad panic in 

many markets as investors react to losses. We are confident 

that these swings will smooth out and that our liquidity and 

longer-term investment horizon put us in a position to be 

patient and prudent as we navigate these turbulent markets. 

We are constantly monitoring the situation and trying to 

understand the immediate impacts as well as the second 

and third order effects to best position ourselves to benefit 

when the world eventually returns to stability. I believe that 

with the strength of our team, our strong financial position 

and our dual-engine business model we will weather the 

storm.

I would like to express my gratitude to our shareholders and 

business partners for their steadfast support, and to all my 

fellow Board members and colleagues, past and present, for 

their commitment and professionalism over the years.

Lee Seng Huang

Group Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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Attributable Profit +76%

HK$2,085.2m
Total Assets +5%

HK$42,561.6m
Basic EPS +86%

HK104.4c
Total Liabilities +6%

HK$18,985.0m
DPS no change

HK26.0c
Net Gearing Ratio from 52.4%

54.1%
BVPS +7%

HK$10.2
Interest Cover +22%

4.5x

Revenue 
(HK$m)

Attributable Profit 
(HK$m)

Book Value per Share 
(HK$)

4,2174,176
3,796

3,511

4,174

20192015 2016 2017 2018

2,085

1,184

1,824

1,110

3,897

20192015 2016 2017 2018

10.2
9.5

9.0
8.28.1

20192015 2016 2017 2018

Total Borrowings

HK$16,756m 
+12%

Bank and Other
 Borrowings

Notes and Paper

HK$8,157m
+14%

HK$8,599m
+10%

Funding Structure
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Segment Breakdown (HK$ million)

2018 2019

1,831.3

2,743.4

Dec. 2018 Dec. 2019

40,684.1
42,561.6

Segment
Assets

Pre-tax
Contribution

Consumer Finance Consumer Finance Mortgage Loans Mortgage LoansSpeciality Finance Speciality Finance

Investment Management Investment ManagementStrategic Investments Strategic InvestmentsGMS GMS

Balance Sheet (HK$ million)

6,229

10,526

20,382

3,195

2,229

Funded by

Non controlling 
interest 

Others

Shareholders’ Equity

Long-term debt

Short-term debt5,726

10,414

3,627

1,906

15,056

3,277

2,555

Consumer Finance
Loans

Term Loans 

Mortgage Loans

Cash

Investment Assets

Goodwill, Intangibles

Others

Assets 42,561.6

Total
Loans 

15,947

The Group’s balance sheet 

remained strong, with a 

healthy cash position and low 

gearing. Long-term loans and 

investment assets are funded 

by long-term debt and equity, 

while short-term assets are 

well-matched with short-term 

debt.
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SHK & Co. has a solid track record of delivering returns to shareholders through dividends and distributions, share 

repurchases and long-term capital growth. Since the current management took the helm 13 years ago, the Group has 

returned over HK$11.7 billion to shareholders in the form of dividends and share buybacks.

Five-Year Financial Summary

Results for the year ended 31 Dec (HK$ Million) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
19/18

% change       
Revenue 4,174.1 3,511.3 3,795.6 4,175.7 4,216.8 1.0%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 3,896.5 1,109.6 1,824.3 1,183.8 2,085.2 76.1%

Balance Sheet data as at 31 Dec (HK$ Million)
Total assets 32,369.1 32,560.9 37,422.2 40,684.1 42,561.6 4.6%
Total liabilities 10,778.3 10,905.1 14,023.7 17,839.0 18,985.0 6.4%
Shareholders’ equity 18,007.6 18,077.0 19,426.7 19,039.2 20,381.7 7.1%

Share Data
Basic EPS (HK cents) 173.8 50.3 84.0 56.2 104.4 85.8%
Diluted EPS (HK cents) 173.8 50.2 83.9 56.1 104.2 85.7%
Basic EPS (HK cents) – From continuing operations 29.8 50.3 84.0 56.2 104.4 85.8%
Diluted EPS (HK cents) – From continuing operations 29.8 50.2 83.9 56.1 104.2 85.7%
DPS (HK cents) 26.0 26.0 26.0 26.0 26.0 –
BVPS (HK$) 8.1 8.2 9.0 9.5 10.2 7.4%
Total number of shares at year end (Million) 2,229.0 2,193.0 2,153.0 2,008.0 1,998.8 -0.5%       

Track Record of Capital Return Value Growth

20082007 2018 20192017201620152014201320122011201020090
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20082007 2018 2019201720162015201420132012201120102009

(HK$m) 4,038

26

10.2

(HK$)

HK$11.7B
Returned to shareholders 
through distributions and 
share buybacks

  Book value per share (Left axis)          Dividend per share (Right axis)  Dividends and Distributions          Share Buybacks

(HK cents)
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Financial Highlights
Year ended

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 Change    

Revenue 4,216.8 4,175.7 1%

Pre-tax profit 2,743.4 1,831.3 50%

Profit attributable to owners 

of the Company 2,085.2 1,183.8 76%

Basic earnings per share  

(HK cents) 104.4 56.2 86%

Second interim dividend  

(HK cents) 14.0 14.0 –

Book value per share (HK$) 10.2 9.5 7%    

The profit attributable to owners of the Company in 2019 

was HK$2,085.2 million (2018: HK$1,183.8 million). Basic 

earnings per share (“EPS”) for the year was HK104.4 cents 

(2018: HK56.2 cents), up 86% year on year. The increase of 

EPS was attributable to the strong increase in net profit and 

the results of share buybacks.

The results for the year reflect solid performance which has 

improved significantly compared with the second half of 

2018 primarily as a result of changes in the value of the assets 

of the Investment Management business. The Consumer 

Finance business also delivered improved profitability.

The Board has declared a second interim dividend of HK14 

cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2019, the 

same as the previous year.

During the year, the Company repurchased 9.2 million 

shares for a total consideration of HK$33.0 million. As at 

31 December 2019, the Group’s book value per share was 

HK$10.2 with a steady increase of 7% from HK$9.5 at the 

end of 2018.

Results Analysis
The Group’s revenue in 2019 was HK$4,216.8 million (2018: 

HK$4,175.7 million), of which interest income was the 

biggest component.

Pre-tax profit for the year increased by 50% to HK$2,743.4 million 

(2018: HK$1,831.3 million), mainly driven by the significant 

increase in the marked value of our Investment portfolio. 

Pre-tax profit of Investment Management for the year 

substantially increased to HK$1,083.2 million. This solid 

performance was a result of substantial improvement in 

Public/Capital Markets and Alternatives though slightly offset 

by Real Assets. Additionally, the portfolio’s liquidity has 

improved during 2019.

Consumer Finance was the biggest contributor to pre-tax 

profit for the year, and its contribution increased by 6% over 

the year.

The Mortgage Loans business contributed a meaningful pre-

tax profit, which has increased by 6% compared to 2018 as 

it enjoyed operating leverage from an expanded scale.

Specialty Finance had a reduced profit as a result of lower 

loan balance and higher loan impairment expenses.

Pre-tax loss of Group Management and Support decreased 

from HK$18.6 million in 2018 to HK$11.5 million.

Operating costs slightly decreased by 1% to HK$1,447.5 million.
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On 27 June 2019, UAF completed the repurchase of 

ordinary shares from ORIX Asia Capital Limited, a then 

minority shareholder which held 7.27% of the then issued 

ordinary shares of UAF, at a cash consideration of JPY10 

billion. As a result, the Group’s beneficial equity interest 

in UAF increased from 58% to 63%. UAF management 

bel ieves that the share repurchase wi l l improve the 

management and operat iona l e f f ic iency o f UAF in 

implementing business decisions and developing strategies, 

thus enhancing the competitiveness of UAF. The repurchase 

has been earnings accretive for the Group.

Segment Full Year Results

Year ended 31 December

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 Change    

Revenue 3,504.7 3,422.1 2%

Return on loans  

(% average gross loan 

balance) 32.5% 33.8%

Operating costs (1,124.7) (1,147.1) –2%

Cost to income  

(% revenue) 32.1% 33.5%

Finance costs (321.1) (237.4) 35%

Net impairment losses (803.9) (833.6) –4%

Other gains 20.1 25.4 –21%

Exchange gain (loss) 0.9 (21.5) N/A    

Pre-tax contribution 1,276.0 1,207.9 6%

Loan Book:

Net loan balance 10,413.5 9,769.7 7%

Gross loan balance^ 11,121.3 10,415.3 7%     

^	 Before impairment allowance

The gross loan balance grew for the 26th year at an 

annual pace of 7% after rising at 6% in 2018. The pre-tax 

contribution to the Group amounted to HK$1,276.0 million, 

an increase of 6% against 2018, and one percentage point 

smaller than the growth rate in gross loan balance.

Business Review
The profit before tax by segment, before non-controlling 

interests, is analysed as follows:

Pre-tax Contribution for  

the Year ended

Segment Assets  

as at  

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 Change

Dec. 

2019

Dec. 

2018      

FINANCING 

BUSINESS

Consumer Finance 1,276.0 1,207.9 6% 17,917.7 17,226.8

Specialty Finance 64.8 241.7 –73% 1,865.0 2,488.8

Mortgage Loans 121.4 114.1 6% 3,694.4 3,950.6

INVESTING BUSINESS

Investment Management 1,083.2 83.2 1,202% 13,129.7 12,398.1

Strategic Investments 209.5 203.0 3% 2,650.1 2,568.2

GMS1 (11.5) (18.6) –38% 3,304.7 2,051.6      

Total 2,743.4 1,831.3 50% 42,561.6 40,684.1      
1	 Certain treasury assets were reclassif ied from Investment 

Management to GMS.

Financing Business
As at 31 December 2019, total loans and advances to 

customers, net of impairment allowance, was HK$15,828.4 

million (31 December 2018: HK$16,109.1 million). Net 

impairment losses on f inancial instruments (formerly 

“impairment and bad debts”) increased from HK$901.7 

million to HK$975.8 million with additional provisions in 

mortgage loans and term loans partly offset by reduced 

provisions in Consumer Finance loans.

Consumer Finance
The Group’s Consumer Finance business is conducted via 

its majority-owned subsidiary UA Finance. Through a well-

established branch network and sophisticated online and 

mobile platforms, UAF primarily offers unsecured loans to 

individuals and businesses in Hong Kong and Mainland 

China. UAF is the market leader in the Hong Kong personal 

loan market. Further, UAF holds money lending licences in 

major cities in the PRC and internet money lending licences 

to conduct its online loan business all over the PRC.
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Ageing analysis for net loan balance of 
Consumer Finance customers (HK$ Million)

No. of days 

past due as at:

31 Dec. 

2019 Note

31 Dec. 

2018 Note     

Less than 31 582.9 5.6% 528.6 5.4%

31–60 55.6 0.5% 50.4 0.5%

61–90 20.9 0.2% 11.9 0.2%

91–180 148.4 1.4% 48.2 0.5%

Over 180 61.4 0.6% 109.2 1.1%     

Total 869.2 8.3% 748.3 7.7%     

Note:  amount as a percentage of net loan balance

Hong Kong Business

Key Operating Data 2019 2018 Change    

Number of branches 48 49

Loan data:

Gross loan balance  

(HK$ Million) 8,576.2 7,803.4 10%

Loan originated for the year  

(HK$ Million) 12,499.1 10,136.3 23%

Number of loans originated 183,354 165,459 11%

Average gross balance  

per loan (HK$) 60,174 59,132 2%

Ratios for the year:

Total return on loans1 32.1% 31.5%

Charge-off ratio2 4.9% 4.4%

Net impairment losses ratio3 6.0% 4.7%

Impairment allowance ratio4 5.7% 5.0%    
1	 Revenue/average gross loan balance
2	 Charge-off amount/average gross loan balance
3	 Net impairment losses/average gross loan balance
4	 Impairment allowance at year end/gross loan balance at year end

The social unrest in Hong Kong and the US-Sino trade 

dispute weighed on the performance of Hong Kong 

economy in the second half of 2019. As a result, UAF Hong 

Kong (“UAF HK”) was adversely impacted by higher charges 

for expected credit loss which resulted in higher impairment 

allowance ratio at year end. However, the negative impact 

on contribution was partly mitigated by increased revenue 

from growth in the loan portfolio. Overall, the full year pre-tax 

contribution compared to 2018 increased as business grew.

The increased share of Hong Kong loan book, which has 

a lower average yield compared to the PRC loan book, 

slightly reduced the yield on loans on a consolidated basis. 

During 2019, Hong Kong accounted for approximately 

76% of the average gross loan balance (2018: 71%). The 

increased proportion of loans from Hong Kong coupled with 

the decrease in charge-off ratio in the PRC contributed to 

an improvement in the overall charge-off ratio from 7.8% to 

6.9%.

Operating costs reduced as a result of a further reduction 

in the PRC branch network. Finance costs increased as a 

result of higher average borrowing rates and an increase in 

borrowings to support the growth of the loan book in Hong 

Kong.

Net Impairment Losses on Financial 
Instruments

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018   

Amounts written off1 (933.2) (989.4)

Recoveries2 195.4 196.6   

Charge off (737.8) (792.8)

As % of average gross loan 

balance 6.9% 7.8%

Charges of impairment allowance3 (66.1) (40.8)   

Net impairment losses (803.9) (833.6)

As % of average gross loan 

balance 7.5% 8.2%

Impairment allowance at year end 707.8 645.6

As % of gross loan balance at 

year end 6.4% 6.2%   
1	 An impairment constituting a derecognition event which is made if 

a loan is more than 90 days overdue, borrower deceased, or the 
borrower has entered bankruptcy proceedings.

2	 Reflect recovery/repayment of loans which have previously been 
impaired and derecognised.

3	 An adjustment to reflect changes in expected credit loss in the loan 
portfolio balance.
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The FinTech team, which was set up in January 2019, has 

completed several initiatives during the year, embracing the 

challenges and opportunities in the market. UAF HK was 

a pioneer in launching Faster Payment System services 

around the clock for loan disbursements, demonstrating 

our commitment to deliver enhanced customer experience 

through innovation. The on-line and mobile platforms have 

been further enhanced with more user-friendly features and 

adoption of enhanced security measures. Customers can 

now utilise facial recognition and fingerprint features for 

log-in in the latest version of mobile applications. As more 

transactions are conducted on-line, UAF HK will allocate 

more advertising resources to promote business through 

on-line media. UAF HK will continue to launch various 

advertising campaigns using market intelligence tools to 

raise the efficiency of marketing dollars spent to reach 

target customers. Leveraging on the strong brand position, 

market leading role and experienced management team, 

UAF HK continues its strategy of growing the business while 

managing credit risk.

Mainland China Business

Key Operating Data 2019 2018 Change    

Number of branches 30 46

Loan data:

Gross loan balance  

(HK$ Million) 2,545.1 2,611.9 –3%

Loan originated for the year  

(HK$ Million) 4,522.2 5,160.9 –12%

Number of loans originated 104,716 95,635 9%

Average gross balance  

per loan (RMB) 31,937 34,147 –6%

Ratios for the year:

Total return on loans1 33.9% 39.5%

Charge-off ratio2 13.2% 16.2%

Net impairment losses ratio3 12.0% 16.8%

Impairment allowance ratio4 8.6% 9.7%    
1	 Revenue/average gross loan balance
2	 Charge-off amount/average gross loan balance
3	 Net impairment losses/average gross loan balance
4	 Impairment allowance at year end/gross loan balance at year end

UAF China adopted a cautious approach during 2019 given 

uncertainties in the operating and economic environment. 

The on-going cost-cutting exercises contributed to an 

improvement in the bottom-line contribution as operating 

costs trended down year-on-year. Expected credit losses 

were reduced substantially following a more conservative 

lending approach. The credit scoring model adopted in the 

second half of 2018 contributed to lowering the charge-

off on new credits in 2019. UAF China will continue to 

develop its credit scoring system to enhance credit approval 

effectiveness and improve credit quality.

Prospects
Looking ahead, management is cognizant of many risk 

factors facing UAF in the coming year. The recent outbreak 

of coronavirus has impacted business operations in the 

PRC and Hong Kong, with the operations in Mainland China 

closed for an extended period after Chinese New Year. 

UAF HK has set up contingent offices should we need to 

suspend operations at a given location. Management is 

closely watching this highly fluid situation to assess the 

impact on the overall economy and UAF’s operations 

and loans in particular. We will strive to maintain business 

activities during this uncertain time and resume normal 

operations once the epidemic subsides. In addition to 

the epidemic risk, noteworthy risks relating to economic, 

political, social and environmental may arise from time to 

time impacting the outlook of the business. UAF remains 

alert to our on-going risks and will adjust our strategy whilst 

looking for any new opportunities. With our dedicated teams 

of experts, we will strive to deliver returns to the satisfaction 

of all stakeholders.

Specialty Finance
The Group’s Specialty Finance business provides tailored 

funding solutions to corporates, investment funds and 

high net worth individuals. The net loan balance was 

HK$1,788.0 million as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 

2018: HK$2,485.2 million). After taking into account net  

impairment losses of HK$159.9 million (2018: HK$64.3 million), 

the segment’s pre-tax contribution was HK$64.8 million 

(2018: HK$241.7 million). All the loans were either secured 

by assets or had other guarantees by corporates or high net 

worth individuals.
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Specialty Finance Portfolio

84%

10%

6%

Investments
Property
Development
Logistics

Term Loan
Breakdown
by Sector

Mortgage Loans
The Group’s Mortgage Loans business is operated by Sun 

Hung Kai Credit. The business contributed a pre-tax profit 

of HK$121.4 million during the year, a 6% year on year 

increase from HK$114.1 million in 2018.

Segment Annual Results

Year ended 31 December

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 Change    

Revenue 295.6 249.5 18%

Return on loans  

(% average gross loan 

balance) 7.9% 8.4%

Operating costs (43.1) (45.4) –5%

Cost to income  

(% revenue) 14.7% 18.2%

Finance costs (119.1) (86.2) 38%

Net impairment losses (12.0) (3.8) 216%    

Pre-tax contribution 121.4 114.1 6%

Loan Book:

Net loan balance 3,626.9 3,854.2 –6%

Gross loan balance^ 3,648.6 3,863.9 –6%    

^	 Before impairment allowance

Segment Annual Results

Year ended 31 December

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 Change    

Revenue 340.6 452.3 –25%

Return on loans  

(% average gross loan 

balance) 14.4% 15.4%

Operating costs (3.7) (4.9) –24%

Cost to income  

(% revenue) 1.1% 1.1%

Finance costs (111.5) (142.1) –22%

Net impairment losses (159.9) (64.3) 149%

Net loss on financial assets 

and liabilities (0.7) – N/A

Net exchange gain – 0.7 N/A    

Pre-tax contribution 64.8 241.7 –73%

Loan Book:

Net loan balance 1,788.0 2,485.2 –28%

Gross loan balance^ 2,098.8 2,636.0 –20%    
^	 Before impairment allowance

In 2019, the loan book shrank compared to 2018 mainly 

due to repayments of outstanding loans and fewer new 

loans. As the portfolio mainly focused on the Greater China 

market, we adopted a conservative approach in credit 

approval considering the impact on the economy from Sino-

US trade tensions and social unrest in Hong Kong. We 

saw a deterioration of credit quality in the form of increased 

delinquencies and impairments, symptoms of a challenging 

debt market resulting from slowing business activities over 

the year.

The outbreak of the coronavirus has affected global markets 

and management continues our cautious approach to new 

lending. We are focusing on careful management of existing 

loans though we remain open to new lending opportunities 

that may arise. We remain confident in this business’s 

prospects as it leverages the Group’s business network and 

strong financial position at a time when fewer banks and 

large institutions provide Specialty Finance.
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Analysis of Pre-tax Profit by Nature

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 Change    

Realised gain on financial 

assets^ 270.8 204.8 32%

Interest income – 4.5 N/A

Dividends received 8.7 5.4 61%

Rental income 24.1 21.8 11%

Fees received – 0.2 N/A

Mark-to-market valuation^ 1,262.2 (73.9) N/A

Net impairment losses on 

financial instruments (48.2) – N/A

(Loss)/gain from revaluation 

of investment properties (42.0) 186.0 N/A

Gain on disposal of 

subsidiaries – 132.4 N/A

Others 18.9 13.7 38%    

Total gains 1,494.5 494.9 202%

Operating costs  (91.7) (86.5) 6%

Cost of capital (319.6) (325.2) –2%    

Pre-tax contribution 1,083.2 83.2 1,202%    

^	 Breakdown of net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

2019 provided good investment opportunities in both the 

equity and credit markets. While there were uncertainties 

around the Sino-US trade war, moves by the US Federal 

Reserve (“US Fed” or “Fed”) and several events in the Middle 

East, our active investment strategies in equities and credit 

produced strong results.

In Alternatives, our focus remained on portfolio management 

and monetisation as the existing portfolio matures. With our 

extensive network, we are well placed to make selective 

new fund and co-investment commitments through 

2020, primarily continuing to support managers that have 

performed well for us over the years.

Revenue increased by 18%, primarily driven by the year-on-

year increase in the average loan balance and higher loan 

yields. The gross loan balance was HK$3,648.6 million as 

at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: HK$3,863.9 

million), of which 95% was for first mortgage loans. Average 

loan size was HK$6.3 million (2018: HK$5.9 million). As the 

business has reached an effective scale with a solid market 

position, emphasis was placed on improving profitability, 

capital eff iciency and the margins of the business. In 

implementing this strategy, Sun Hung Kai Credit underwrote 

fewer lower margin loans through the second half of the year 

due to the opportunity cost of capital and credit risks in this 

segment. Further, management has focused on investing in 

infrastructure and people.

During the year, finance costs increased from the higher 

average loan balance and a higher average funding rate. 

This was offset by better operating leverage with lower cost 

to income ratio.

The credit quality of the loan book remained satisfactory 

at the end of 2019 and we continue to monitor it closely. 

Management is cognisant of the potential volati l ity in 

residential property prices in Hong Kong due to the social 

unrest, coronavirus and eventual economic impact, and 

hence continues to adopt a prudent underwriting approach. 

The overall loan-to-valuation ratio of the portfolio was below 

65% at the end of the year.

Looking ahead, management will continue to build the 

business for further profit growth, including diversification to 

higher margin mortgage loan products.

Investing Business
Investment Management
The Investment Management division leverages the Group’s 

expertise, network and strong financial position to seek 

attractive risk-adjusted investment opportunities. In 2019, 

the annual return on the average assets for the segment 

was 12.4%, compared to 4.1% in 2018. Taking into account 

operating expenses and funding costs allocation, the 

segment contributed HK$1,083.2 million to pre-tax profit, 

an increase of 1,202% from HK$83.2 million achieved in the 

previous year.
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On the operational side, we continued to strengthen our investment and operating teams while upgrading systems and 

infrastructure in advance of the launch of our Fund Management platform. During 2019, we added new team members and 

further formalised our internal processes and compliance systems. We will continue to build out our analytical and investment 

framework across businesses with a focus on risk management and control. We remain focused on building a world-class 

team with institutional grade architecture in order to support the planned growth of the Investment Management business.

To explain the nature and strategy of our businesses better, we reclassified or renamed some assets and sub-portfolios.

Segment Assets Breakdown and Annual Return

2019 Return track record4
  

(HK$ Million)

Year End 

Value

Average 

Value Gain

Annual 

Return4 2018 2017       

Public/Capital Markets1 3,106.2 2,732.5 409.6 15.0% –8.6% 3.3%

Alternatives2 7,481.0 6,881.0 1,178.9 17.1% 9.2% 19.7%

Real Assets3 2,542.5 2,391.4 (94.0) –3.9% 9.8% 7.5%       

Total 13,129.7 12,004.9 1,494.5 12.4% 4.1% 12.4%       
1.	 Public/Capital Markets include Equity portfolio, Credit portfolio, Direct Equity Holdings and Cash.
2.	 Alternatives include External Hedge Funds, External Private Equity Funds and Direct and Co-investments.
3.	 Real Assets include the Group’s direct holdings and equity interests in commercial and hospitality properties.
4.	 Gain before costs/average value.

Public/Capital Markets (24% of IM)
The public/capital markets portfolio achieved a 15.0% 

annual return in 2019. The portfolio consists of an internally 

managed equity strategy, direct equity holdings, an internally 

managed credit strategy and cash.

Breakdown of Public/Capital Market Portfolio 
as at 31 December 2019

(HK$ Million)

Year End 

Value Gain

Annual 

Return^    

Equity 1,588.8 273.8 18.5%

Credit 679.7 120.7 23.5%

Direct Equity Holdings 79.4 15.0 14.3%

Cash 758.3 – N/A    

Total 3,106.2 409.6 15.0%    

^	 Gain before costs/average value

Public Equity
The equity markets in APAC in 2019 were a story of two 

quarters, namely Q1 and Q4. A tumultuous last quarter of 

2018 sent the S&P 500 index approximately 20% lower, 

temporarily ending the bull market of the last decade. 

This abruptly changed in mid-January 2019 with a dovish 

pivot by US Fed Chairman Powell causing a rebound in 

equity valuations in Q1 2019. The last quarter of 2019 saw 

significant progress in trade talks and the Chinese economy 

continued to show considerable resilience as the year 

progressed which caused global equities finish the year on a 

strong footing.

The Company’s main active management strategy in 

equities focuses on companies in Asia Pacific or, in certain 

cases, companies where Asia Pacific is a key driver for their 

business. This strategy implements an active long-short 

investment program, utilising opportunistic event-driven 

investments and derivatives, with the goal of generating 

alpha while mitigating downside risk.
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The core long positions in the portfolio are established in 

high-quality companies with strong cash flow and solid 

management. These companies are expected to have good 

growth and provide stability and consistent positive returns 

for the portfolio over the medium to long term. The short 

positions are chosen to generate additional returns and are 

made up of companies with opposite characteristics of the 

long positions.

In addition to the long and short positions, the team follows 

companies in the market that could rise or fall sharply if 

certain events occur and is ready to take advantage if they 

do. Finally, derivatives and hedging are used both for risk 

management and enhancing returns.

The team’s deep research and understanding of the 

companies and markets is central to making this strategy 

effective. In 2020, we plan to move this strategy to the Fund 

Management platform and begin taking in third party capital.

Public Equity Portfolio

48%

25%

10%

9%

4% 4%
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Japan
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5%
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Others
Industrials
Communication Services
Information Technology

Holdings 
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Public Credit
Our credit portfolio returned solid results in 2019. Our 

strategy was to identify and invest into credit situations 

globally which presented attractive risk-reward profiles 

with near-term upside, with a net long notional bias at the 

portfolio level. Global markets were agitated by the on-going 

trade war between the United States and China, causing 

concerns over potential slow-down in global economic 

growth. In view of those uncertainties and with inflation 

remaining under control, the US Fed cut the Fed Funds Rate 

by 25 bps three times in 2019, totaling a 75 bps reduction. 

A low interest rate environment provided support to global 

credit markets, including developed and emerging market 

economies, which provided good investment opportunities.

In late 2018, the European banks were hit hard because of 

Brexit uncertainty. As asset values dropped, we felt there 

was a good opportunity and bought into them. In Q1 2019, 

this space rebounded rapidly, and we took advantage of this 

liquidity to exit and generate solid returns.

In the Middle East, we saw an opportunity in Oman’s 

sovereign debt in early 2019. Markets were concerned about 

the fiscal sustainability of the nation, but we took comfort in 

the government’s ongoing fiscal reform. The bonds rallied 

after the country announced the successful results of the 

measures and we sold our bonds for a profit. Saudi Arabia 

also faced some difficulties in 2019 but we expected that 

things would normalise and the debut offering by Saudi 

Aramco, the largest oil company in the world, would support 

the government bonds. As these positive developments 

played out, they provided us with attractive returns.
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Going forward, we will continue to look for these kinds of 

market dislocations and use our network and experience to 

carefully select investments.

Public Credit Portfolio
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Alternatives (57% of IM)
Over the past several years, we have invested the Group’s 

capital prudently and built a portfolio of private equity funds, 

direct investments and co-investments to maximise risk-

adjusted returns and diversify our exposure by industry and 

geography. The portfolio is invested through a combination 

of direct or co-investments, and external managers who 

are selected based on performance, strategic fit, as well as 

access to markets and sectors. The portfolio benefited from 

early positioning in growth sectors and companies. Our key 

direct and co-investments include the Wuxi Pharmaceutical 

group of companies, and financial and FinTech names 

such as Fairstone Inc (consumer finance, Canada) and 

Jefferson Capital Systems, LLC (debt collection, USA). With 

the Group’s expertise and network in the financial services 

segment, this wil l continue to be a core theme of the 

portfolio.

Breakdown of Alternatives Portfolio as at 
31 December 2019

(HK$ Million)

Year End 

Value Gain

Annual 

Return^    

External Hedge Funds 1,075.6 90.1 9.4%

External Private Equity 

Funds 2,337.0 315.8 14.1%

Direct and Co-investments 4,068.4 772.9 21.0%    

Total 7,481.0 1,178.8 17.1%    

^	 Gain before costs/average value

Distributions received in 2019 were HK$746 million (2018: 
HK$428 million) and HK$1,248 million is anticipated from 
realised positions in 2020 across co-investments and fund 
entities, or 16.7% of the entire Alternatives portfolio. Over 
the course of the year, we made several new investments 
through committing capital to new funds from existing 
and new managers, co-investments through existing 
funds and managers, and our own direct investments. We 
believe this approach gives us the best chance of seeing 
good investment opportunities, utilising the networks and 
expertise of our team and those of the external managers. 
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We continue to review and analyse several situations 
across our core areas of Healthcare, Technology and 
Financials/Fintech, with a geographical focus on Greater 
China, Australasia, UK and the USA. We remain open to 
investments in other sectors, however we are cautious 
about valuations given their current level.

Private Equity Portfolio^

41%

28%

19%

6%
3% 2%1%
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^	 Includes investments in externally managed private equity funds, as 
well as our direct and co-investments.

We invested in a group of selected high-quality external 
hedge funds that complemented our capabil it ies and 
extended our investment networks in the market. The 
partnerships enabled us to exchange ideas with external 
managers and these additional resources helped us manage 
the equity portfolio as well as the broader Investment 
Management program.

Hedge Funds Portfolio
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Real Assets (19% of IM)
The real assets portfolio had a valuation of HK$2,542.5 

mil l ion as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 

HK$2,338.0 million). The portfolio includes the Group’s 

interests in Hong Kong commercial real estate as well as 

hotels and commercial investments in Global markets. 

During the year, there was a small loss on the portfolio 

of HK$94.0 million arising from increased provisions on 

property valuations. We continue to look for opportunities in 

the real estate space with a focus on the UK and Europe.

On 10 December 2019, the Group formed a joint venture 

company to acquire a company which held a property 

situated at 17 Columbus Courtyard, Canary Wharf, London, 

UK. This acquisition strengthened and diversified our real 

assets investment portfolio in London and showed the value 

of the team’s expertise and sourcing network.

Real Assets Portfolio

61%

29%

7%
3%
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Real estate is a core strength of the Group and an area 

where we expect to grow our portfolio going forward. In 

addition to our equity real estate holdings, we plan to launch 

our first real estate debt fund. With the Group’s long track 

record and strong institutional knowledge of the lending 

space, we see private debt in real estate as an attractive 

opportunity to expand and offer our expertise and deal flow 

to outside investors.

Expansion into Fund Management
Over the last f ive years, the Company has bui l t our 

investment platform by leveraging our capital, business 

expertise and networks in financial services. During this 

period, we establ ished the Investment Management 

business through careful and continuous efforts to build a 

strong and diversified portfolio. We believe our experience 

and the returns generated by IM put us in a strong position 

to expand to our next phase, Fund Management. The 

Company is nearly ready to launch a fully licensed and 

regulated fund management platform.

Three funds (APAC long/short equity, global unconstrained 

credit and real estate direct lending) will be launched at the 

start, with each fund seeded by the Company and able to 

take in third party capital. The equity and credit funds are 

the next evolution of the investment program detailed above. 

The real estate fund will have a focus on direct lending 

across Australia, Greater China, the UK/Ireland and Europe.

Going forward, we expect Fund Management to be a new 

driver for sustainable growth in assets under management 

and revenue. In the first quarter, we have received regulatory 

approval to proceed and have been working to build out the 

infrastructure to support this new business. We plan to use 

the networks and relationships built over the last five years 

to create specialised and attractive fund offerings which 

will allow our internal teams to build their investment base, 

expand their reach and diversify risk.
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Strategic Investments
The Group has strategic interests in financial services 

through a joint venture and an investment in an associated 

company. These interests are complementary to our 

Financing and Investment Management businesses, and the 

Group has benefited from these strategic investments. Pre-

tax contribution from this during the year was HK$209.5 million 

(2018: HK$203.0 million).

In 2015, the Group disposed of a 70% interest in a wholly 

owned subsidiary, Sun Hung Kai Financial Group Limited 

(“SHKFGL”) to Everbright Securities Financial Holdings 

Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Everbright Securities 

Company Limited (stock code: 6178.HK). SHKFGL has 

become an associate of the Group with a carrying value 

of HK$1,644 million for the retained 30% interest upon 

completion of the transaction. As part of the sale transaction, 

the Group received a put r ight on the retained 30% 

equity interest of SHKFGL, which owns the business now 

known as EBSHK. In 2019, the Group maintained its 30% 

shareholding, amounting to 90,365,142 shares, in SHKFGL. 

During the year, EBSHK delivered a strong performance 

with a solid increase in turnover of HK$112 million despite 

the Hong Kong market’s lower average trading volume. In 

2019, the business won several prestigious industry awards 

in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Client assets under 

management, custody, and/or advice was over HK$124 billion.

The net gain from impairment losses on the Group’s 30% 

stake in EBSHK and change in fair value of the put right of 

the stake was HK$131.1 million (2018: HK$133.7 million). 

The total unrealised gain from the associate during the year 

was recognised as HK$210.5 million (2018: HK$190.6 

million), including valuation accretion on equity of HK$79.4 

mil l ion (2018: HK$56.9 mil l ion), impairment losses of 

HK$135.9 million (2018: reversal of HK$66.7 million) and 

gain on the put right of HK$267.0 million (2018: HK$67.0 

million). No realised gain from the associate was recognised 

in 2019 (2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the 

Group’s 30% equity interest in EBSHK together with 

fair value of the put right on the 30% stake amounted to 

HK$2,363 million (2018: HK$2,251 million), representing 

5.6% of the Group’s total assets and const i tut ing a 

significant investment of the Group according to the Listing 

Rules. During the year, the Group received dividends of 

HK$98.5 million from EBSHK (2018: HK$76.6 million).

LSS Leasing is a B2B and B2C auto leasing business in 

Mainland China. The business environment continued to 

be challenging in 2019, with declines in auto sales and 

production and tight liquidity as the government continued 

to deleverage the economy. Against this backdrop, LSS 

Leasing has expanded into the ride-hailing and goods 

delivery segments, leveraging its network and know-

how in the auto leasing sector. In 2019, LSS has formed 

partnerships with leading platforms such as Lalamove 

and Deppon to further explore and develop new business 

initiatives.

Outlook
At the time we present this report to you, we are facing 

challenging times. The outbreak of the coronavirus and its 

rapid advance around the globe has disrupted businesses, 

societies and markets in a way that no one has ever seen 

nor could have predicted. The effects are being felt here and 

around the world through travel bans, national lockdowns, 

and investor panic as markets are repeatedly whipsawed 

by violent swings. We are closely monitoring the situation 

and the potential impact on all the Group’s businesses and 

investments and will continue to adjust our strategy and 

tactics to guide the Group through this turbulent time.

As we look back at 2019, we feel that the results show the 

strength of the Group’s dual-engine growth model. Over 

the past year, the Group realigned business segments 

into two categories: Financing and Investing. Our core 

Financing business aims to provides stable returns and 

strong cash flows, while the Investment business seeks new 

income streams and opportunities for increased returns. 

The results for the past year show the strength of our 

diverse yet complimentary business portfolio, and we feel it 

further validates the strategic transformation we embarked 

on almost five years ago. We believe having these two 

businesses put us in a stronger position to manage through 

the current crisis.
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The Group will continue the Financing and Investing business 

model and aims to deliver strong performance over the long 

term with sound governance and risk controls through all 

market conditions. We will also maintain diversified funding 

sources and liquidity to provide staying power and enable 

our business expansion. As an investment firm, we treasure 

our people as valuable assets of the Group. Over the course 

of the year, we built out systems to allow our employees 

to more easily work remotely, which helped us remain 

productive during the coronavirus outbreak and will continue 

to add value once business recommences. We will further 

develop our culture and systems to adapt to the current 

work environment and attract and retain top talent with a 

commitment to integrity, creativity and teamwork.

Long Term Corporate Strategies
The Group is focused on building sustainable growth to 

deliver further value to shareholders. To achieve our goals, 

the Company has set the following long-term strategies:

SHK & Co. Business Objectives
•	 Produce strong risk-adjusted returns through our 

Financing and Investing businesses

•	 Leverage networks to seek new business opportunities

•	 Build trusted relationships with all stakeholders

•	 Produce strong financial results through mid-to-long 

term focus and consistent leadership

Corporate Values
•	 Reliable, consistent and transparent communication 

with investors and stakeholders

•	 Robust risk management culture with regular evaluation 

of risk factors

•	 Flexible, diverse, inclusive and open culture to attract 

and retain talent

•	 Invest ing in our communit ies and protecting the 

environment

The UAF business was the most immediately impacted by 

the coronavirus when it first broke out in China. Several 

UAF branches were closed in accordance with quarantine 

measures and business was disrupted. At this time China 

is only starting to resume business and we cannot yet 

know the total impact on the business and loan book. We 

believe the initiatives to move more of the business online, 

reduce the physical branches and total staff mitigated some 

of the impact and may position the business for a quicker 

recovery through the remainder of 2020. For the Hong 

Kong business, we remain cautious. The economy had 

been affected by social unrest in the second half of 2019 

even before the recent outbreak. The impact on business 

from travel bans and social distancing orders could likely 

produce increased unemployment which in turn could affect 

the credit quality of consumer finance loans. We have initial 

indications that delinquencies are starting to rise and loan 

origination has slowed, both of which we will watch closely. 

Nonetheless, we are confident in management’s capability 

and capacity to weather these challenges, monitor the 

situation as it develops and adjust strategy as needed.

The Sun Hung Kai Credit business has maintained its 

scale and profitability thus far. The cautious underwriting of 

mortgage loan business through the conservative loan to 

value ratio and careful credit standards should help position 

the business to manage the current situation. The ultimate 

effects on the Hong Kong real estate market are yet to be 

seen, so management will closely watch the Hong Kong 

economy and prepare for any adjustments that need to be 

made.

The Investment Management business has felt the impact 

of the falling markets after a strong 2019 and been actively 

managing the investment portfolio through these difficult 

market conditions. Even as markets and sectors around 

the world have been sharply impacted by indiscriminate 

selling, we have maintained liquidity and are managing 

our assets carefully. We are ready to launch our Fund 

Management platform this year and believe this will add 

assets and revenue to the Group. Going forward, the Group 

will continue to assess the market and utilise our extensive 

networks to seek out opportunities.
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Financial Review
Financial Resources, Liquidity, Capital 
Structure and Key Performance Indicators

(HK$ Million)

31 December 

2019

31 December 

2018 Change    

Capital Structure

Equity attributable to  

owners of the Company 20,381.7 19,039.2 7%

Total cash 5,726.2 4,995.9 15%

Total borrowings1 16,755.8 14,983.1 12%

Net debt2 11,029.6 9,987.2 10%

Net debt to equity ratio 54.1% 52.4%

Liquidity

Interest cover3 4.5 3.7 22%

Return Ratios

Return on assets4 6.0% 4.1%

Return on equity 10.6% 6.2%

Key Performance 

Indicator

Book value per share (HK$) 10.2 9.5 7%

Dividend per share  

(HK cents) 26.0 26.0 –    
1	 Bank and other borrowings and notes/papers payable
2	 Total borrowings minus total cash
3	 Earnings before interest and tax/interest expense
4	 Profit including non-controlling interests/average assets

The Group’s return on equity ratio increased from 6.2% of 

2018 to 10.6%, mainly driven by strong earnings and results 

of share buybacks.

The Group’s gearing ratio has remained steady at 54.1% 

at the end of 2019. Interest cover for the year significantly 

improved to 4.5x, an increase of 22% from 3.7x for 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, total borrowings of the Group 

amounted to HK$16,755.8 million (31 December 2018: 

HK$14,983.1 million). Of this amount, 37.2% was repayable 

within one year (31 December 2018: 39.9%). The Group  

maintains a balanced mix of funding from various sources. 

Bank borrowings accounted for 48.7% of total debt 

(31 December 2018: 47.9%) and are at floating interest 

rates, denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and 

RMB. There were no known seasonal factors in the Group’s 

borrowing profile.

As at 31 December 2019, the fo l lowing notes were 

outstanding:

HK$ 

Equivalent

Note Maturity Date (Million) % Total    

4.75% USD notes^ 5/2021 1,927.0 22.4%

4.65% USD notes^ 9/2022 3,504.8 40.8%

5.75% USD notes^ 11/2024 2,734.3 31.8%

HKD paper/notes various 432.6 5.0%    

Total 8,598.7 100%    
^	 Listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

In November 2019, the Group commenced a tender offer to 

purchase the 4.75% USD medium term notes due in 2021 

and the 4.65% USD medium term notes due in 2022. The 

Group ultimately purchased US$112 million of 4.75% USD 

medium term notes and US$105 million of 4.65% USD 

medium term notes in mid-November 2019. At the same 

time, the Group issued US$350 million new 5.75% USD 

medium term notes due in 2024.

The Group maintained foreign currency positions to cater 

for its present and potential investments and operating 

activities. Most non-US/HK dollar investment assets are 

hedged against currency fluctuations. Exchange risks are 

closely monitored by the Group and held within approved 

limits.

Significant Investments
The Group recognised a signif icant investment in the 

securities of EBSHK. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 

interest in the equity stake plus fair value of a put right on 

the stake was 5.6% of the Group’s total assets at end of 

2019. A detailed discussion on the investments is stated in 

the section titled “Strategic Investments” of this report.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposal 
of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint 
Ventures
On 27 June 2019, UAF completed the repurchase of 

ordinary shares held by a then minority shareholder for the 

consideration of JPY10 billion as mentioned in the Consumer 

Finance section above and the Company’s announcements 

dated 20 and 27 June 2019.

Charges on Group Assets
Proper t ies o f the Group wi th a tota l book va lue of 

HK$1,087.0 mill ion and cash of HK$33.2 mill ion were 

pledged by subsidiaries to banks for facilities granted 

to them. HK$550.8 mi l l ion was drawn down as a t  

31 December 2019.

Contingent Liabilities
Details regarding contingent liabilities are set out in Note 45 

of the consolidated financial statements.

Human Resources and Training
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total staff numbered 

2,318 (31 December 2018: 2,719). Out of this, 55 staff 

(31 December 2018: 50) are corporate and investment 

staff and the remainder are within the main subsidiaries 

UAF and Sun Hung Kai Credit. The net decrease in staff 

numbers is a result of the ongoing branch consolidation in 

the consumer finance business in Mainland China, as the 

business migrated further online and its continuous effort 

in driving cost efficiency. Total staff costs amounted to 

HK$775.6 million (2018: HK$782.6 million) as a result of 

higher performance-related compensation.

The Group adopts various compensation structures as 

relevant to different job roles and functions within the 

organization. For most staff, compensation comprises base 

salary with bonus or performance-based incentives, as 

appropriate. The remuneration packages of employees in a 

sales function consist of a base pay and commission, bonus 

or performance-based incentives as appropriate.

Under the Employee Ownership Scheme (“EOS”), selected 

employees or directors of the Group (the “Selected 

Grantees”) were awarded shares of the Company. Following 

management’s recommendation, a total of 1,788,000 shares 

were granted to the Selected Grantees during the year 

subject to various terms. 1,498,000 shares were vested for key 

management personnel in 2019. As at 31 December 2019,  

the outstanding award shares under the EOS (excluding 

shares awarded but subsequently forfeited) amounted to 

3,195,000 shares.

The Group values its people as our greatest asset. We 

believe that a competent and motivated workforce is integral 

to the sustainable growth of our business. In line with our 

business strategies and ongoing development, the Group 

supports employees’ professional development and life-long 

learning in cooperation with their managers by providing 

sponsorship for their training and development programs in 

areas such as compliance, regulatory matters, management 

skills, practical job skills and personal development.

Relevant Laws and Regulations
The Group is committed to complying with laws and 

regulations that govern our businesses. As the Group’s 

holding company is incorporated in Hong Kong, we are 

under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong. As a listed company, 

we abide by the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange and Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong 

Kong Law.

The Group has built strong compliance culture over the 

years since our establishment as a brokerage firm five 

decades ago. The Board and its committees may make 

recommendations to the Group in relation to relevant 

codes and practice guides in pursuing business integrity 

and the results are reviewed regularly. A variety of trainings 

on regulations and compliance matters are also provided 

internally or through professional institutions.
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With establishing the fund management business, the 

Group strengthened our compliance framework to protect 

the interests of investors. In the first quarter of 2020, 

approval for the licensed fund management platform was 

received from regulators. Additional third-party compliance 

consultants and fund administrators were contracted to 

conduct extensive compliance work for the funds.

Our loan businesses in Hong Kong are governed by the 

Money Lenders Ordinance. The lending businesses in the 

PRC are operated in accordance with the regional guidelines 

announced by the provincial governments under the Guiding 

Opinions of the China Banking Regulatory Commission 

and the People’s Bank of China on the Pilot Operation of 

Small Loan Companies as well as the Special Rectification 

Documents of their special working group on cash loans, 

internet loans and P2P loans including “Notice on Regulation 

and Rectification of Cash Loan business”, “Notice on the 

Implementation Guideline on Special Rectification of Online 

Microlenders Risks” [2017] No. 56 and “Notice on Special 

Rectif ication and Check of P2P Lending Risk” [2017]  

No. 57.
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2018-2019 The Listed Enterprise Excellence Award – 

Financial Performance

Capital Weekly

2018-2019 Listed Enterprises of the Year 

Bloomberg Businessweek/Chinese Edition 

2019 Corporate Governance, Social Responsibility 

and Investor Relations – Titanium Award

2013-2018 Excellence in Management and Corporate 

Governance - Gold Award 

The Asset

2018-2019 Listed Company Awards of Excellence  

Hong Kong Economic Journal

2019 League of American Communications 

Professionals LLC (LACP) Awards for Annual 

Report 2018

•	  Silver Award

•	  Top 80 Chinese Reports of 2018

•	  Technical Achievement Award

•	  Outstanding Production Values

2016-2019

2018

2017-2018

Asian Excellence Award

Corporate Governance Asia

•	  Best Investor Relations Company  

  (Hong Kong)

•	  Asia’s Best CEO for Investor Relations  

  (Hong Kong)

•	  Asia’s Best CFO for Investor Relations  

  (Hong Kong)

2019 ARC Awards for Annual Report 2018

•	  Bronze Award for Traditional Annual Report        

  (Financial Services – General)

2016-2020 Caring Company
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The Risk Management Framework and 
Process
The Group adopts a comprehensive r isk management 

framework. Risk management policies and procedures are 

regularly reviewed and updated by the Board to react to 

changes in market and the Group’s business strategy. Risk 

Management Committee of the Board (“Risk Committee”), a 

standing committee reporting to the Board, acts to oversee 

the Group’s risk management and monitors internal control 

systems. The Risk Committee considers the principal risks by 

identifying the nature and extent of significant risks and ensures 

critical judgements and decisions on risk control are taken. The 

internal control framework and strategy are reviewed by the Risk 

Committee and initiatives are actioned through each tier of the 

Group to examine the effectiveness of our risk identification and 

risk control methods. Internal audit is carried out continuously 

to examine risk management and internal control.

Identifying Principal and Emerging Risks
The Risk Committee identifies the principal risks by considering 

an array of aspects such as business strategy, f inancial 

posi t ion, the operat ing environment of the Group and 

external risk factors including economic conditions and major 

regulations and government policies. Relevant risks identified by 

our peers, individual research reports and market standards are 

considered to determine our principal risks. The principal risks 

of the Group are reviewed and updated by the Risk Committee 

annually, with a focus on identifying those risks that could 

threaten the business development, operational and financial 

performance, the Group’s treasury management and the 

liquidity and credit management.

Emerging risks affiliated to principal risks are also monitored 

regularly to assess any potential impact on the Group and to 

determine whether any actions are required. Emerging risks 

include those related to regulatory and legislative changes, 

macroeconomic and political changes and other factors. The 

Risk Committee has identified political unrest in Hong Kong, the 

Sino-US trade war and the COVID – 19 coronavirus to be key 

emerging risks.

Principal Risks of the Group
In 2019, the Group identified the following principal risks and major risk control initiatives were carried out as set out below:

Strategic and Business Risks

The risk of failing to deliver on our strategic objectives resulting in a negative impact on financial performance and profitability   

Impact Key Controls Emerging Risks/Risks Movements in 2019   

Principal Risk 1:	Loss or missed opportunity as a result of major external changes   

Lowering economic growth of China 

and Hong Kong could have an adverse 

impact on the profitability of businesses.

Continuous monitoring of the economic 

situation and credit risk. Conservative 

lending policy.

The ongoing Sino-US trade war had some 

impact on the credit quality of consumer 

f inance loans in China. Further, social 

unrest in Hong Kong affected business 

activity in the second half of the year. After 

the end of the financial year, the outbreak 

of coronavirus has impacted the business 

environment.

Tightened regulations by authorities 

on consumer finance may impact the 

Group’s consumer finance business.

Ongoing monitoring of the regulatory 

environment.

The risk exposure was unchanged during 

the year.

Hong Kong’s social unrest impacted the 

Group’s businesses operating in HK.

Closely monitor ing the situat ion to 

respond as appropriate.

The risk emerged in the second half of 

2019.   
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Principal Risk 2:	Failure to deliver the Group’s business strategy   

The Group has been transforming its 

business since 2015. Since then, the 

Group launched two new businesses 

(Mortgage Loans business and Investment 

Management) and continued to enhance 

other businesses. The failure to execute 

s t ra tegy may resu l t i n the Group 

underperforming targets.

The Group maintains a discipl ined 

approach to strategy rollout.

This risk level reduced due to stabilization of 

the Mortgage Loans business and progress 

in Investments. Further the UAF business 

continues to grow in a competitive market.

L imi ted growth opportun i t ies and 

competit ion in lending impacts the 

Company’s performance.

Deep management exper t ise and 

understanding of markets.

The risk had no material movement in the 

year. Management continues to observe 

market developments such as virtual banks 

in Hong Kong.   

Financial Risks (Market, Credit and Liquidity risk)

The risk of an adverse impact on the Group due to market fluctuations, counterparty failure or having insufficient resources to meet 

financial obligations   

Impact Key Controls Emerging Risks/

Risks Movements in the Current Year   

Principal Risk 1:	Investment loss as a result of adverse market fluctuations   

Vo la t i l i t y i n mac roeconomic and 

m ic roeconom ic f ac to r s l eads t o 

changes in the mark-to-market value 

of investment assets.

Disciplined investment process and risk 

management monitoring controls

There was no material change during the 

year. Financial markets have been volatile in 

the early part of 2020.

Volatil ity in interest rates potentially 

narrows the interest spreads of the 

Group’s financing business and reduces 

its profitability.

Manage diversified funding sources and 

ability to reprice assets.

Market rates fluctuated during the year. 

Ref inanced and extended matur i ty of 

medium term notes (“MTNs”).

   

Principal Risk 2:	Investment loss as a result of change in exchange rate   

Volatility in currencies leads to changes 

in value of the Group’s assets and 

liabilities and, to the extent that these are 

unhedged, may impact on the financial 

performance of the Group.

R o b u s t h e d g i n g t h r e s h o l d s a n d 

monitoring.

The risk had no movements in the year. 

As the majority of the Group’s assets and 

investments were dominated in HK dollars 

and US dollars, the r isk exposure was 

relatively low. Exposure to other currencies 

are largely hedged.   
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Principal Risk 3:	Loss as a result of exposure to a failed counterparty   

The Group’s financing businesses relies 

on the credit quality of borrowers. Credit 

deterioration jeopardises the Group’s 

profitability.

Conduct careful credit management and 

approval policies. Where appropriate, 

use credit data bases and technology.

The credit risk of the Financing business in 

China improved during the year. The risk 

emerged in the Hong Kong market due 

to social unrest. In 2020 the coronavirus 

outbreak has disrupted markets.

The Group uses derivatives to hedge 

risks. By entering these derivatives, the 

Group is exposed to counterparty credit 

risk.

The Group deals with high credit quality 

counterparties and manages exposures 

within limits.

The risk exposure was unchanged during 

the year.

   

Principal Risk 4:	Failure to meet the Group’s financial obligations due to lack of liquidity   

A failure to manage assets and liabilities 

could result in the Group failing to meet 

its payment obligations as they fall due.

Treasury manages a variety of funding 

sources and maintains appropriate 

levels of l iquid assets as a l iquidity 

buffer.

The Group re f inanced and extended 

maturity of MTNs and refinanced other 

credit facilities.

Potential lack of liquidity in the Group’s 

investments portfolio.

The liquidity and expected realization of 

investments is continuously monitored. 

Prior to making new investments, the 

Group carefully considers the monetization 

plans for existing investments.

Liquidity of investment portfolio improved 

during the year as a result of distributions 

received and this is expected to continue in 

2020.

   

Operational Risks

The risk of loss or missed opportunity, resulting from a regulatory or legislative failure or inadequate or failed internal processes, 

people or systems   

Impact Key Controls Emerging Risks/

Risks Movements in the Current Year   

Principal Risk 1:	Loss of a “key person” and inability to recruit into key roles 

Loss of a key employee to the Group 

could impair the Group’s ability to deliver 

its strategic objectives as planned if that 

role is not filled in a timely manner.

Key roles are identified, and backup 

p lans a re i n p l ace . The Group i s 

focused on improving human resources 

management to of fer an attract ive 

working environment and benefits to key 

staff.

The risk exposure was unchanged during 

the year.

   

Principal Risk 2:	Negative financial or reputational impact arising from regulatory or legislative failing 

Adverse regulatory change could impact 

the ability of the Group to deliver its 

strategy such as deploying capital, 

raising new funds.

C lose l y mon i t o r t he changes on 

regulatory and governmental policies.

The risk exposure was unchanged during 

the year.
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Principal Risk 3:	Loss arising from failure of internal control process  

Failure of internal control procedures. C l ea r seg rega t i on o f du t i e s and 

responsibilities; conduct reviews and 

internal audit regularly.

The risk exposure was unchanged during 

the year.

   

Principal Risk 4:	�Technology/information security inadequate or fails to adapt to changing business requirements or 

external threats 

Failure to manage technology or data 

resulting in system outage or confidential 

information leak.

Regularly monitor systems and data. 

Test system security and continually 

upgrade system.

The Group upgraded infrastructure and 

cyber security during the year.

   

Principal Risk 5:	�Loss or missed opportunities arising from failure of key business processes, including valuations 

and external reporting 

Failure of business processes resulting 

in s igni f icant business disrupt ion, 

financial or reputational damage.

Contingency planning and testing. The Group improved i ts cont ingency 

planning and upgraded infrastructure during 

the year.   

Principal Risk 6:	�Loss or reputation damage arising from a failure to ensure financial statements are materially 

accurate/timely and in line with legislative requirements 

Failure to maintain adequate processes 

and internal controls over f inancial 

reporting and related disclosure which 

cou ld resu l t in losses, regu la tory 

penalties or other claims.

Control processes are in place to ensure 

that financial reporting processes are 

identified, documented and monitored. 

The e f f ec t i v eness o f con t r o l s i s 

monitored by management and internal 

audi t wi th overs ight f rom the Risk 

Committee and the Audit Committee of 

the Board.

The risk exposure was unchanged during 

the year.

   

The Group acknowledges that no regulatory and governmental policy changes during the year brought to the Group’s attention had 

a high probability of impairing business operations, financial and investment performance as well as business plans.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard 

of corporate governance within a sensible framework, with 

an emphasis on the principles of integrity, transparency, 

accountability and independence. The Board of Directors 

believes that good corporate governance is essential to 

the success of the Company and to the enhancement of 

shareholder’s value.

Corporate Governance Code and 
Corporate Governance Report
In light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate 

Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14  

to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of 

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Stock Exchange”), the Board has reviewed the corporate 

governance practices of the Company with the adoption of the 

various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report. 

The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, 

the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year 

ended 31 December 2019, except for certain deviations as 

specified together with considered reasons for such deviations 

as explained below. The Board has reviewed the practices at 

least annually and made appropriate changes if considered 

necessary.

The Board
During the year 2019 and up to the date of this report, the 

composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors: Lee Seng Huang 
  (Group Executive Chairman)
Simon Chow Wing Charn

Non-Executive Directors: Peter Anthony Curry
Jonathan Andrew Cimino

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors:

Evan Au Yang Chi Chun
David Craig Bartlett
Alan Stephen Jones
Jacqueline Alee Leung
Peter Wong Man Kong 
  (deceased on 11 March 2019)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the 

section “Profiles of the Directors and Senior Management” of 

the Directors’ Report.

Board Process
As at the date of this report, the Non-Executive Directors 

(“NEDs”) (four of whom were independent) provided the 

Company and its subsidiaries (col lectively the “Group”) 

with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their active 

participation in Board and committee meetings brought 

independent judgment on issues relating to the Group’s 

strategy, performance and management process, at the same 

time taking into account the interests of all shareholders of the 

Company (the “Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, at least 

one of the Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”) has 

the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or 

related financial management expertise specified under Rule 

3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each 

INED an annual confirmation of his/her independence and 

considers that all the INEDs are independent in accordance 

with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well 

as the operations and financial performance of the Group. The 

Board also meets to review and approve the Group’s annual 

and interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be 

dealt with by the Board. Relevant senior executives are invited 

to attend Board meetings to make presentations and answer 

the Board’s enquiries.
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During the year, four Board meetings were held. The individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, 

Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Risk Management Committee and the general meeting of the Company during the year 

ended 31 December 2019 are set out as follows:

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Directors Board

Remuneration

Committee

Audit

Committee

Risk

Management

Committee

General

Meeting      

Executive Directors:

Lee Seng Huang 4/4 1/1

Simon Chow Wing Charn 4/4 6/7 1/1

Non-Executive Directors:

Peter Anthony Curry 4/4 3/3 1/1

Jonathan Andrew Cimino 4/4 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Evan Au Yang Chi Chun 4/4 2/2 3/3 0/1

David Craig Bartlett 3/4 2/2 3/3 1/1

Alan Stephen Jones 4/4 2/2 3/3 1/1

Jacqueline Alee Leung 4/4 2/2 3/3 1/1

Peter Wong Man Kong 

(deceased on 11 March 2019)

1/1

      

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration 

matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual 

operating budget, annual and interim results, approval of 

Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the 

recommendations made by the Nomination Committee), 

material contracts and transactions, corporate governance 

as well as other significant policies and financial matters. The 

Board has delegated the daily operations and administration 

responsibil it ies to the executive management under the 

instruction/supervision of the Executive Committee which has 

its specific written terms of reference. The respective functions 

of the Board and management of the Company have been 

formalised and set out in writing. The Board reviews these 

procedures from time to time to ensure that they are consistent 

with the existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in 

advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At 

least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all 

Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters for 

discussions in the agenda. The Company Secretary assists the 

Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings, and ensures 

that all applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The 

agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally sent 

to all Directors at least three days prior to the proposed date of 

a Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board 

meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated 

to all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the 

following Board meeting for approval. Minutes of meetings are 

kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at 

any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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According to the current Board practice, if a substantial 

shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to 

be considered by the Board which the Board has determined 

to be material, the matter cannot be dealt with by a written 

resolution of the Board but will be dealt with by the Board at 

a duly convened Board meeting. The articles of association 

of the Company (the “Articles”) also stipulate that save for the 

exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain from 

voting on the relevant Board resolution and not be counted in 

the quorum at meetings of the Board for approving any contract 

or arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close 

associate(s) has a material interest. The Board will also follow 

relevant rules stipulated in the Listing Rules in this regard.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and 

related materials and has access to the advice and services 

of the Company Secretary. The Board and each Director also 

have separate and independent access to the Company’s 

senior management. Directors will be continuously updated on 

major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable 

regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of 

good corporate governance practices. In addition, a written 

procedure has been established since June 2005 to enable the 

Directors, in the discharge of their duties, to seek independent 

professional advice in appropr iate circumstances at a 

reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

Directors’ Continuous Professional 
Development
For continuous professional development, in addition to 

Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of papers and 

circulars sent by management, Directors participated in the 

following activities:

Name of Directors

Reading

regulatory

updates

Attending

seminars^   

Executive Directors:

Lee Seng Huang √ √

Simon Chow Wing Charn √ √

Non-Executive Directors:

Peter Anthony Curry √ √

Jonathan Andrew Cimino √ √

Independent Non-Executive 

Directors:

Evan Au Yang Chi Chun √ √

David Craig Bartlett √ √

Alan Stephen Jones √ √

Jacqueline Alee Leung √ √

Peter Wong Man Kong 

  (deceased on 11 March 2019)

N/A N/A

   

^	 Including trainings/briefings/seminars/conferences relevant to 
Directors’ duties
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Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles 

of the chairman and chief executive should be separate and 

should not be performed by the same individual. Under the 

current organisational structure of the Company, the functions 

of a chief executive are performed by the Group Executive 

Chairman, Mr. Lee Seng Huang, in conjunction with the 

Group Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Simon Chow Wing 

Charn. The Group Executive Chairman oversees the Group’s 

Investment Management (“IM”) business with support from the 

Managing Director of IM, as well as its interest in United Asia 

Finance Limited (“UAF”) whose day-to-day management lies 

with its designated Managing Director. Mr. Simon Chow assists 

the Group Executive Chairman in driving the performance of the 

Mortgage Loans and other operating businesses of the Group as 

well as exploring new areas of growth.

The Board believes that this structure spreads the workload 

that would otherwise be borne by an individual chief executive, 

allowing the growing businesses of the Group to be overseen 

by appropriately qualified and experienced senior executives 

in those fields. Furthermore, it enhances communications and 

speeds up the decision-making process across the Company. 

The Board also considers that this structure will not impair 

the balance of power and authority between the Board and 

management of the Company. An appropriate balance can 

be maintained by the operation of the Board, which holds at 

least four regular meetings a year to discuss business and 

operational issues of the Group.

The Group Executive Chairman is responsible for the leadership 

of the Board, ensuring that all key and significant issues are 

discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner, 

all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board 

meetings, and the Directors receive in a t imely manner, 

adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete and 

reliable.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include 

a nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for 

selection and recommendation of candidates for directorships 

of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director, will receive an induction 

package from the Company Secretary on the responsibilities 

and ongoing obligations to be observed by a Director pursuant 

to the Companies Ordinance, Listing Rules and Securities and 

Futures Ordinance. The package will also include materials 

briefly describing the operations and business of the Company, 

the latest published financial reports of the Company and the 

documentation for the corporate governance practices adopted 

by the Board. Senior management will subsequently conduct 

such briefings as necessary to provide the new Directors with 

detailed information on the Group’s businesses and activities.

The NEDs (including the INEDs) of the Company are appointed 

for a specific term of two years, but subject to the relevant 

provisions of the Articles or any other applicable laws whereby 

the Directors shall vacate or retire from their offices but are 

eligible for re-election. The term of appointment of the NEDs 

(including the INEDs) were renewed for two years commencing 

from 1 January 2019.

According to Article 94 of the Articles, any Director appointed 

to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the Company’s 

next following general meeting and shall be eligible for re-

election. Any Director appointed as an addition to the Board 

shall hold office only until the next following annual general 

meeting (“AGM”) of the Company and shall be eligible for re-

election at that meeting. Furthermore, pursuant to Article 103 

of the Articles, at each AGM of the Company, one-third of the 

Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple 

of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-

third) shall retire from office by rotation at least once every three 

years.
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Board Diversity
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having 

a diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level 

as an essential element in maintaining an effective Board to 

enhance the quality of its performance. The Board has adopted 

the Board Diversity Policy on 1 September 2013 with an aim to 

promote broad experience and diversity on the Board.

The objectives of the Board Diversity Policy include:

(i)	 the Board should possess a ba lance of sk i l ls and 

experience appropriate for the requirements of the 

businesses of the Company. The Directors should have a 

mix of finance, legal and management qualifications with 

considerable experience in diversified businesses;

(ii)	 selection of candidates for directorship will be based on 

a broad range of perspectives, including but not limited 

to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 

knowledge, professional experience or skills; and

(iii)	 Directors (especia l ly the NEDs) are encouraged to 

participate in Board meetings to bring an independent 

judgment, to promote critical review and to bring a wide 

range of business and financial experience to the Board 

which contributes to the effective direction of the Company.

Appointments to the Board should be made in the context 

of complementing and expanding the skills, knowledge and 

experience of the Board as a whole and candidates wil l 

be considered against objectives, taking into account the 

Company’s business and needs.

The Board has reviewed, through the Nomination Committee, 

the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board as 

well as the nomination and appointment procedure of directors 

during the year.

Corporate Governance Functions
To maintain a high standard of corporate governance within 

a sensible framework, with an emphasis on the principles of 

integrity, transparency, accountability and equity, the Company 

has adopted a Corporate Governance Policy and terms of 

reference of the Board with effect from 1 April 2012.

The major duties of the Board in respect of performing 

corporate governance functions include:

(i)	 to develop and review the Company’s pol ic ies and 

practices on corporate governance;

(ii)	 to rev iew and monitor the tra in ing and cont inuous 

profess ional development of Di rectors and senior 

management;

(iii)	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices 

for compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct 

and compliance manuals applicable to employees and 

Directors; and

(v)	 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code 

and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Board has 

performed its corporate governance duties in accordance with 

its terms of reference.

Board Committees
The Board has established various committees, including 

the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit 

Committee, Executive Committee and Risk Management 

Committee, each of which has its specific written terms of 

reference. Copies of minutes of all meetings and resolutions 

of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary, 

are circulated to all Board members and the committees are 

required to report back to the Board on their decisions and 

recommendations where appropriate. The procedures and 

arrangements for a Board meeting have been adopted for the 

committee meetings so far as practicable.
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee has been established since April 

2012 and at the date of this report consists of the Group 

Executive Chairman and four INEDs, including Messrs. Lee 

Seng Huang (Chairman), Evan Au Yang Chi Chun, David Craig 

Bartlett, Alan Stephen Jones and Ms. Jacqueline Alee Leung. 

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources 

to perform its duties, including, where necessary, to seek 

independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense. 

The duties and authorities of the Nomination Committee are 

contained in its terms of reference, which fully comply with 

code provision A.5.2 of the CG Code and are available on the 

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out its 

nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of reference. 

The objective of the Nomination Policy is to ensure that the 

Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of 

perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s 

businesses. To ensure changes to the Board composition can 

be managed without undue disruption, a formal, considered 

and transparent procedure is in place for selection, appointment 

and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place 

for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including 

periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new 

Director (to be an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy 

as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a 

matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of 

the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate 

is qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time 

and attention to the affairs of the Company, contribution to 

the diversity of the Board and ability to effectively carry out the 

Board’s responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria 

and the procedure are set out in the terms of reference of the 

Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in 

accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with 

matters by way of circulation of written resolutions. In 2019, no 

Nomination Committee meeting was held. The committee dealt 

with matters by way of circulation of written resolutions. The 

works performed by the Nomination Committee in 2019 and up 

to the date of this report are summarised as follows:

(i)	 reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of 

the Board;

(ii)	 assessed the independence of the INEDs; and

(iii)	 reviewed the proposed re-election of Directors at the 2019 

AGM and 2020 AGM, with a recommendation to the Board 

for proposal to the Shareholders for approval at each 

meeting.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee has been established since 

April 1985 and at the date of this report consists of four INEDs 

including Messrs. Evan Au Yang Chi Chun (Chairman), David 

Craig Bartlett, Alan Stephen Jones and Ms. Jacqueline Alee 

Leung. The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient 

resources to perform its duties, and, where necessary, to seek 

independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense. 

The duties and authorities of the Remuneration Committee are 

contained in its terms of reference which are available on the 

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee 

adopted by the Company are in compl iance with code 

provision B.1.2 of the CG Code but with a deviation from the 

code provision that the Remuneration Committee shall make 

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages 

of the Executive Directors only and not senior management (as 

opposed to executive directors and senior management under 

the code provision). The reasons for the above derivations are 

summarised as below:

(i)	 the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not 

properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior 

management and that this evaluation process is more 

effectively carried out by the Executive Directors; and

(ii)	 the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise 

and control senior management and thus should be able to 

control their compensation.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year 

in accordance with its terms of reference. Two Remuneration 

Committee meetings were held in 2019 and the attendance of 

each member at each meeting is set out in the section headed 

“Board Process” of this report. The committee also dealt with 

some matters by way of circulation of written resolutions.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during 

2019 is summarised as follows:

(i)	 rev iewed the ex ist ing pol icy and st ructure for the 

remuneration of Directors;

(ii)	 considered the proposal for a compensation review carried 

out by an independent professional consultant for reviewing 

remuneration policy, structure, benchmarking and quantum 

of remuneration for Executive Directors;

(iii)	 reviewed the remuneration packages of the Executive 

Directors, with a recommendation to the Board for approval 

of an increase in the monthly salary of each of the two 

Executive Directors commencing from January 2019;

(iv)	 reviewed the bonuses for the year ended 31 December 

2018 for the two Executive Directors, with a recommendation 

to the Board for approval; and

(v)	 reviewed the remuneration of all Directors (including 

the NEDs and INEDs), with a note to the Board that the 

Director’s fee of all Directors and annual consultancy 

fees of the INEDs and a NED remained unchanged since 

January 2019.

Each Director wil l be entitled to a Director’s fee. Further 

remuneration payable to Directors (including any consultancy 

fees to the INEDs or NED) for their responsibi l i t ies and 

services will be determined according to their respective 

contractual terms under their employment contracts or service 

contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation 

of the Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ 

remuneration are set out in Note 8(a) to the consolidated 

financial statements. In addition, the annual remuneration 

payable to members of senior management by band and of 

the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in Note 

8(b) to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the 

remuneration policy of the Group are also set out in the “Human 

Resources and Training” section in the Management Discussion 

and Analysis of this Annual Report.

After the end of the report ing per iod, a Remunerat ion 

Committee meeting was held in March 2020 to review the 

summary compensation report which includes the information 

provided by an independent professional consultant, policy 

and structure of Directors’ remuneration, and remuneration 

packages of the Directors. The Remuneration Committee 

recommended the fo l low ing to the Board and wh ich 

recommendations were subsequently approved (where 

appropriate) by the Board:

(i)	 the payment of discretionary bonuses for the year 2019 to 

the two Executive Directors:

–	 HK$49,000,000 in cash to Mr. Lee Seng Huang  

(“Mr. Lee”); and

–	 HK$5,500,000 in cash to Mr. Simon Chow Wing Charn 

(“Mr. Chow”).

(ii)	 the monthly salary for both Mr. Lee and Mr. Chow from 

January 2020 remains unchanged;

(iii)	 an increase of 10% to the consultancy fee of the four 

INEDs and Mr. Peter Anthony Curry, a NED, commencing 

from the year 2020; and

(iv)	 the annua l d i rectors ’ fee to a l l D i rectors remains 

unchanged.

For the purpose of Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the 

amount for the monthly rental-related expenses which form 

part of the emoluments of Mr. Lee are varying in nature and has 

changed.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has been established since April 1985 and 

at the date of this report consists of four INEDs and one NED. 

To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee 

is chaired by an INED who possesses appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related financial management 

expertise. The current members of the Audit Committee are 

Messrs. Alan Stephen Jones (Chairman), Evan Au Yang Chi 

Chun, David Craig Bartlett, Ms. Jacqueline Alee Leung and 

Mr. Peter Anthony Curry. The Audit Committee is provided with 

sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to 

independent professional advice according to the Company’s 

policy, when necessary. The responsibilities and duties of the 

Audit Committee are contained in its terms of reference which 

are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 

Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the Company 

are revised from time to time to comply with the code provision 

C.3.3 of the CG Code, but with deviations from the code 

provision regarding the Audit Committee’s responsibilities to:

(i)	 implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor 

to supply non-audit services;

(ii)	 ensure that management has performed its duty to have 

effective risk management and internal control systems;

(iii)	 ensure co-ordination between the internal and external 

auditors; and

(iv)	 ensure that the internal audit function is adequately 

resourced and has appropriate standing within the 

Company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee of the Company 

shall recommend (as opposed to implement under the code 

provision) the policy on engaging the external auditor to supply 

non-audit services for the following reasons:

(i)	 i t is proper and appropr iate for the Board and i ts 

committees to develop policy and make appropriate 

recommendations;

(ii)	 the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation 

of such policy and recommendations is through the 

Executive Directors and management; and

(iii)	 the INEDs are not in an effective position to implement the 

policy and follow up implementation of the same on a day-

to-day basis.

Furthermore, the Board considers that the Audit Committee 
only possesses the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed 
to ensure under the code provision) whether management has 
performed its duty to have an effective risk management and 
internal control systems. The Audit Committee is not equipped 
to ensure that the same is in place, as this would involve 
day-to-day supervision and the employment of permanent 
experts. The Audit Committee is not in a position to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, but it 
can promote the same. Similarly, the Audit Committee cannot 
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced 
and has appropriate standing within the Company but it can 
check whether it is adequately resourced and has appropriate 
standing within the Company, and recommend the correction 
of any identified deficiency.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least three times a year in 
accordance with its terms of reference. Three Audit Committee 
meetings were held in 2019 and the attendance of each 
member at these meetings is set out in the section headed 
“Board Process” of this report.

Apart from committee meetings, the Audit Committee also 
deals with matters by way of circulation of written resolutions, 
when necessary. The work performed by the Audit Committee 
in 2019 and up to the date of this report is summarised as 
follows:

(i)	 considered and approved the terms of engagement 
and fees proposed by the external auditor regarding the 
interim results review for the six months ended 30 June 
2019 and the final audit of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2019;

(ii)	 r ev i ewed the repo r t s f rom the ex te rna l aud i to r , 
management representation letters in relation to the final 
audit of the financial statements of the Group for the years 
ended 31 December 2018 and 2019;

(iii)	 rev iewed the report f rom the external audi tor and 
management representation letter in relation to the interim 
results review of the financial statements of the Group for 
the six months ended 30 June 2019;

(iv)	 reviewed the financial reports of the Company for the 
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, and for the six 
months ended 30 June 2019, and recommended approval 
by the Board;

(v)	 reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control system and recommended action to the 
Board where appropriate; and

(vi)	 reviewed internal audit review reports prepared by the 
internal audit function and the 2020 internal audit plans.
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Executive Committee
The Executive Committee (the “Exco”) has been established 

since November 1983 and at the date of this report consists of 

two Executive Directors, Messrs. Lee Seng Huang (Chairman) 

and Simon Chow Wing Charn. The Executive Committee is 

vested with all the general powers of management and control 

of the activities of the Group as are vested in the Board, save 

for those matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision 

and approval pursuant to the terms of reference of the Exco.

The Exco is mainly responsible for undertaking and supervising 

the day-to-day management of the Group, and is empowered, 

subject to the general policies adopted by the Board:

(i)	 to formulate and implement policies for the business 

activities, internal control and administration of the Group; 

and

(ii)	 to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the 

business activities of the Group within the overall strategy 

of the Group as determined by the Board.

Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee (the “RMC”) has been 

established since January 2007. As at the date of this report, 

it consists of the Group Chief Financial Officer (“Group CFO”), 

an Executive Director, Managing Director of Investment 

Management (“IM”) and Head of Operations, being Messrs. 

Robert James Quinlivan (Chairman), Simon Chow Wing Charn, 

Benjamin John Falloon and Alfred Leung Sai Kit respectively.

The major roles and responsibilities of the RMC are:

(i)	 to analyse and define risks likely to be encountered by the 

Group in the various aspects of its operation;

(ii)	 to ensure through appropriate mechanisms including 

setting up committee(s) and supervision by division/

department heads, adequate review, assessment, and 

monitoring the risks which may be encountered by the 

Group and the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of risk 

management and internal controls, including but not limited 

to, financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 

management functions; and 

(iii)	 to act as a provider of assurance (in conjunction with the 

Group’s internal audit function and the Group’s external 

auditor) to the Board in its annual review of:

(a)	 the changes in the nature and extent of significant 

risks likely to be encountered by the Group since the 

last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond 

to such changes in its business activities and external 

environment;

(b)	 the scope and quality of management’s ongoing 

monitoring of risks and system of internal controls;

(c)	 the adequacy of the extent and frequency of the 

communication of the results of monitoring to the 

Board enabling it and the Audit Committee to develop 

a cumulative assessment of the state of control in the 

Group and the effectiveness with which risk is being 

managed;

(d)	 any major incident that poses substantial risk and/

or loss exposure to the Group, whether actual loss 

is incurred or not; in the event of l ikely or actual 

v io lat ions of any appl icable laws, regulat ions, 

regulatory guidel ines/codes; signif icant internal 

policies, operational or technological failures; and any 

other significant events that may expose the Group to 

substantial reputational risk;

(e)	 the effectiveness of the Group’s processes relating to 

financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance; and

(f)	 all other relevant issues appropriate to risk identification 

and management and internal control issues.
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The RMC will normally meet quarterly or as directed by the 

chairman of the RMC. Seven meetings of the RMC of the 

Company were held in 2019 and meetings were held in 

January, March, April, May, July and November 2019, and the 

work performed by the RMC during the year and up to the date 

of this report is summarised as follows:

(i)	 review of the legal and compliance issues and requirements 

arising from business activities and regulatory issues;

(ii)	 monitoring of the liquidity risk, credit risk, market risk and 

reporting approaches;

(iii)	 review of the foreign exchange exposure of the Group’s 

investment portfolio;

(iv)	 review of the risk management reports from the Group’s IM 

business, UAF and Sun Hung Kai Credit and Operations;

(v)	 review and assessment of the completed responsibility 

statements from the relevant business units and department 

heads regarding their risk management, compliance and 

internal control procedures for the financial years ended  

31 December 2018 and 2019;

(vi)	 review of the anti-money laundering (“AML”)/know your 

clients guidelines and policies and the adoption of AML 

Guidance Manual of the Group;

(vii)	 review of cyber security risk control measures and business 

continuity plan of the Group;

(viii)	 review of proposed upgrade of systems for IM business;

(ix)	 review of the terms of reference of the RMC;

(x)	 review of the risk management framework and process 

of the Group and identi f icat ion of principal r isks by 

considering an array of aspects such as business strategy, 

financial position, the operating environment of the Group 

and external risk factors including economic conditions and 

major regulations and government policies; and

(xi)	 review of risks/business impact of social unrest and 

coronavirus outbreak.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the establishment 

and maintenance of sound and effective risk management and 

internal control systems to safeguard the Group’s corporate 

interests.

Since its establ ishment in 2007, the Group’s RMC has 

been delegated with the responsibility to assist the Board to 

review, assess and monitor the various risks which may be 

encountered by the Group and the effectiveness of the Group’s 

risk management system. The functions and compositions of 

the RMC are set out in the “Board Committees” section in the 

earlier part of this report and the risk management mechanism 

is set out in the “Risk Management and Principal Risks 

Identification” section in this Annual Report.

The Group’s r isk management culture is cr i t ical to the 

effectiveness of the risk management framework. The principal 

risks are determined through a consideration of the strategy, 

external risk factors, the operating environment of the Group 

including risks identified by our peers, and an analysis of 

individual processes and procedures.

The review of the Group’s principal risks focuses on identifying 

those risks that could threaten the business model, future 

performance, capital or liquidity of the business. In identifying 

these risks, consideration is given to external developments, 

regulatory expectations and market standards. Our focus 

also includes strategic and business risk, financial risk and 

operational risk.

Emerging risks are regularly considered to assess any potential 

impact on the Group and to determine whether any actions are 

required. Emerging risks include those related to regulatory/

legislative change and macroeconomic and political change, 

which in the current year have included social unrest in Hong 

Kong, US-China trade war and coronavirus outbreak.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are 

designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 

against material misstatement or loss; to manage prudently 

but not completely eliminate the risk of system failure. Systems 

and procedures are put in place to identify, manage and 

control the risks of different businesses and activities. Risk 

control limits are established according to the appropriate 

authorisation hierarchy. More detailed discussions of different 

types of risks are set out in the “Risk Management and Principal 

Risks Identification” section in this Annual Report and in Note 

47 to the consolidated financial statements – Financial Risk 

Management.
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In addition to safeguarding the Group’s corporate interests, 

the internal control framework is to maintain proper accounting 

records and to comply with relevant laws and regulations. It 

provides an independent and objective assurance to safeguard 

the Group’s operations. The Group has its control functions 

e.g. internal audit. Together with the RMC and the Audit 

Committee, they play an important role in assuring the Board 

and management that a sound internal control system is being 

implemented, maintained, and relevant regulatory requirements 

are complied with.

Internal audit is an independent control function reporting to the 

Group CFO. It applies a systematic and disciplined approach 

to analyse and independently appraise the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal 

control systems. The audit plans are risk-based to ensure that a 

methodical coverage of the Group’s operations and resources 

are focused on high risk areas. Ad hoc reviews are conducted 

on areas of concern where necessary. Internal audit reports are 

issued to the Audit Committee, relevant senior management 

and division/department heads.

Each year, a Group-wide self-assessment is conducted 

on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal 

control framework covering all major areas such as front-

office, compliance, finance and operations with the purposes 

of assessing and documenting key risks to enable control 

improvement. The assessment is performed by the divisions 

and co-ordinated by the Group CFO who reports directly to 

the Group Executive Chairman. The results and findings are 

reported to the RMC, Audit Committee and the Board which 

have been considered effective and adequate. Other monitoring 

and review on risk exposures to formulate risk management 

policies is also co-ordinated by the Group CFO.

Management reviews are conducted on new processes and 

systems to ensure that policies and procedures are updated in 

accordance with the ever changing risk-related environment. 

The Group also engages external consultants on an ad-hoc 

basis to perform independent reviews covering significant parts 

of the Group’s operations, when necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy 

of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications 

and experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial 

reporting staff in accordance with the requirements of the 

Listing Rules. The RMC, the Audit Committee and the Board 

review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal 

control systems of the Group and fulfill the requirements of 

the CG Code regarding risk management and internal control 

systems in general.

Accountability and Audit
Financial Reporting
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility, with the support 

of the Finance Department, for preparing the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, 

the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong 

have been adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards (which also include Hong 

Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by 

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance have been complied with. The Directors believe 

that they have selected suitable accounting policies and 

applied them consistently, and made judgments and estimates 

that are prudent and reasonable, and have ensured that the 

consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going 

concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, 

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), are set out in 

the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.
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External Auditor’s Remuneration
Dur ing the year and up to the date of th is report , the 

remuneration paid to Deloitte is set out as follows:

Services rendered for the Group

Fees paid

(HK$ Million)  

Audit services 3.7

Non-audit services (taxation and other 

professional services) 1.6  

Total 5.3  

Disclosure of Inside Information Policy
The Board has adopted the Disclosure of Inside Information 

Policy (the “Policy”) effective on 1 January 2013 with respect 

to the procedures and internal controls for the handling 

and dissemination of inside information. The Policy sets out 

guidelines and procedures to the directors and relevant officers 

of the Group to ensure inside information of the Group is to 

be disseminated to the public in an equal and timely manner. 

Directors and relevant officers in possession of potential inside 

information and/or inside information are required to take 

reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards are 

in place to preserve strict confidentiality of inside information 

and to ensure that its recipients recognise their obligations 

to maintain the information confidential. The Policy shall be 

updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes 

in circumstances and changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of 

the Securities and Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory and 

regulatory requirements from time to time.

Company Secretary
Ms. Hester Wong Lam Chun is an employee and the Company 

Secretary of the Company. All Directors have access to the 

advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company 

Secretary reports to the Group Executive Chairman on board 

governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board 

procedures are followed and for facilitating communications 

among D i r ec to r s as we l l a s w i t h Sha reho lde rs and 

management.

Ms. Wong is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of 

Chartered Secretaries. During 2019, Ms. Wong undertook over 

15 hours of relevant professional training to update her skills 

and knowledge.

Codes for Securities Transactions by 
Directors and Relevant Employees
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 

as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of 

conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. 

Having made specified enquiries of all the Directors, they have 

confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as 

set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the 

Code for Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees, to 

regulate dealings in the securities of the Company by relevant 

employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are 

considered to be likely to possess inside information in relation 

to the Company or its securities.
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Communication With Shareholders
The Board recognises the importance of good communication 

with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is 

disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a 

number of formal channels, which include interim and annual 

reports, announcements and circulars. Such published 

documents, together with the latest corporate information and 

news, are also made available on the Company’s website.

The Company’s general meetings are valuable forums for 

the Board to communicate directly with Shareholders. Code 

provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman 

of the board should attend the annual general meeting and 

also invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination 

and any other committees (as appropriate) to attend. In their 

absence, he should invite another member of the committee 

or failing this his/her duly appointed delegate, to attend. These 

persons should be available to answer questions at the annual 

general meeting.

Code prov is ion A.6.7 of the CG Code st ipu lates that 

independent non-executive directors and other non-executive 

directors should attend general meetings and develop a 

balanced understanding of the views of Shareholders. The 

chairman of any independent board committee formed as 

necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such 

chairman is appointed, at least a member of the independent 

board committee) should also be available to answer questions 

at any general meeting of the shareholders to approve a 

connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject 

to independent shareholders’ approval.

The 2019 AGM was held on 23 May 2019 and seven out 

of eight Directors attended the meeting. For details of the 

Directors’ attendance at the general meeting, please refer to 

the attendance record of the Directors set out in the section 

headed “Board Process” of this report. Separate resolutions are 

proposed at the AGM for each substantial issue, including the 

re-election of retiring Directors.

Notice of meetings to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of 

the AGM at least 20 clear business days before the meeting 

and to be sent at least 10 clear business days in case of 

all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed 

procedures of conducting a poll is provided to Shareholders 

at the commencement of the meeting. The chairman of the 

meeting answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting 

by way of a poll. The poll results of the resolutions are thereafter 

published in the manner prescribed under the requirements of 

the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights 

of all Shareholders having the right to vote at general meetings 

of the Company can request to convene an extraordinary 

general meeting according to Article 67 of the Articles and 

Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the 

laws of Hong Kong). The business proposed to be transacted 

at the meeting must be stated in the related requisition which 

must be signed and deposited at the registered office of the 

Company. Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal at a 

Shareholders’ meeting by submitting the proposed resolution 

in written form to the Board at the registered office of the 

Company, which shall clearly and concisely set out the proposal 

for discussion and be relevant to the Company’s business 

scope.

The Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy 

since March 2012 and subsequently updated in June 2014, 

November 2016 and November 2019. Shareholders may make 

reasonable enquiries to the Company for information regarding 

the Company which has been made publicly available. Such 

enquiries should be directed to the Company Secretary at the 

Company’s registered office. If a Shareholder wishes to make 

an enquiry to the Board, it must be served at the registered 

office for the attention of the Company Secretary. In addition, 

Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited, the 

share registrar of the Company, for any questions about their 

shareholdings.
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Dividend Policy
The Board has adopted the Company’s Dividend Policy at 

its meeting in November 2018. The Company’s Dividend 

Policy aims at providing reasonable and sustainable returns to 

Shareholders whilst maintaining a position of financial stability 

which allows the Company to take advantage of any investment 

and expansion opportunities that may arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual 

basis and/or may declare interim dividends or special dividends. 

The proposal or declaration of dividends by the Board is subject 

to consideration of the Company’s and the Group’s operating 

results, accumulated and future earnings, gearing, liquidity 

position, capital commitment requirement and future expansion 

plan as well as general economic conditions and external 

factors that may have impact on the financial performance and 

position of the Company and the Group. In addition, as the 

Company is a holding company, the Board will also consider 

the dividends received from its subsidiaries and associates as 

the ability to pay dividends by the Company is dependent on 

the dividends received from those subsidiaries and associates.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will 

amend and/or modify the dividend policy if necessary.

Corporate Governance Enhancement
Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter 

of applying and complying with the CG Code of the Stock 

Exchange, but about promoting and developing an ethical and 

healthy corporate culture. We will continue to review, and where 

appropriate, improve our current practices on the basis of our 

experience, regulatory changes and developments. Any views  

and suggestions from our Shareholders to promote and 

improve our transparency are also welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Huang

Group Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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Sustainability: Our Philosophy and 
Approach
At Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited, we believe that the responsibility 

of delivering long-term, sustainable value to our shareholders 

also comes with a responsibility to recognise that the choices 

we make will have an impact on the communities where we 

carry on our business. This mindset drives our increasing focus 

on Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues. Not 

merely a matter of regulatory compliance, but we are committed 

to do our part for the sustainable development of society and 

believe that our efforts on ESG issues magnify the Company’s 

value in the places we operate.

We have adopted a Sustainability Policy (the “Policy”) (enacted 

in 2016) that covers our principles in environmental and social 

issues. We strive to follow these principles and directives of 

the Policy in the areas of environmental impact, energy usage, 

talent retention, workplace and benefits enhancement, supply 

chain management, data privacy, business integrity and 

community engagement. Overall stewardship and direction of 

sustainability issues is provided by the board of directors of the 

Company (“the Board”), with the ESG initiatives implemented 

by management of various businesses. The investor relations 

function collaborates with other functional areas throughout the 

Group on reporting and disclosure of these initiatives.

The priorities are set based on the views of the Board and 

relevant stakeholders at each t ier of the businesses. In 

2019, the Board reviewed the results of the ESG initiatives 

implemented by the Group as well as the updates to the 

“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the 

“ESG Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Upon completing its review, the 

Board recommended updating the Policy with the aim to meet 

or exceed the evolving global standard. The Board also agreed 

to adopt practice guidelines and Key Performance Indicators 

(“KPIs”) for the Group to apply quantitative reporting approach 

in relation to environmental issues such as greenhouse gas 

emissions, ideally involving third party assessment in the 2020 

report.

This report outl ines the Group’s sustainabil ity init iatives 

and selected KPIs that are material to the Group and its 

stakeholders on ESG issues for the year ended 31 December 

2019. This report supplements information disclosed in the 

annual report 2019 and will also be published on websites of 

the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company 

(www.shkco.com).

This report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Guide. 

Unless otherwise stated, the information in this report covers 

the operations of the following units and their subsidiaries 

in Hong Kong and Mainland China for the year ended 31 

December 2019:

Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK&Co.”)

United Asia Finance Limited (“UAF”)

Sun Hung Kai Credit Limited (“Sun Hung Kai Credit”)

Confirmation and Approval
This report is compiled according to the data and information 

obtained within the Company and its subsidiaries. The Group’s 

internal control and formal review process are in place to ensure 

that any information presented in this report is as accurate 

and reliable as possible. The report has been reviewed and 

approved by the Board on 30 March 2020.

Opinion and Feedback
Stakeholder opinions are conducive to the cont inuous 

improvement of the Group’s ESG performance. The Group 

conducts stakeholder surveys within the Group and from 

suppliers outside the Group to collect stakeholder’s opinions on 

significance of ESG KPIs and its relevance to the business of 

the Group. If you have any questions or suggestions regarding 

the content or format of this report, please contact us at:

Address: Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited

42/F., Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3748 2823

Email: investor.relations@shkco.com
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Environmental Initiatives
The Group’s updated Pol icy encompasses our general 

approach towards environmental issues. We endeavour at a 

minimum to:

•	 Observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go 

beyond minimum requirements.

•	 Directly prevent or minimise pollutants and greenhouse 

gas emissions, discharges into water and onto land, and 

generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

•	 Make efficient use of resources, including energy, water 

and other raw materials.

•	 Minimise the impact of the Group’s activit ies on the 

environment and natural resources.

•	 Engage our staff, customers and partners to promote 

sustainable business practices and constantly re-assess 

our processes to improve our environmental sustainability 

performance.

At SHK & Co., our direct environmental impact is limited by the 

fact that our businesses operate from offices and branches, and 

we are not directly involved in the manufacturing or construction 

activities. Certain KPIs regarding environmental disclosure 

are not considered relevant or are immaterial to the Group’s 

operations. However, we are adopting a quantitative approach 

and have set up data collection on usage of public utilities as 

well as kilometers travelled by company vehicles. We have 

voluntarily broadened our disclosure fields to allow the Group’s 

environmental initiatives to have baseline data for comparison in 

future years.

Disclosure of environmental KPIs

Unit 2019   

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

from mobile combustion 

sources (scope 1B) (CO2 

equivalent emissions)

kilograms 1,621,950

Greenhouse Gas Emissions  

from energy indirect emissions 

(scope 2) (CO2 equivalent 

emissions)

kilograms 13,262,110

PM emissions from vehicles grams 3,035

SOx emission from vehicles grams 8,967

NOx emission from vehicles grams 488,370

Water consumption1 cubic metre 6,852

Water intensity per employee1 cubic metre/

employee

3

Electricity consumption KWh 3,767,731

Electricity intensity per employee KWh/employee 1,625

Paper consumption1 pages 17,719,121

Paper intensity per employee1 pages/employee 7,830

Paper intensity per customer1 pages/customer 83   

1.	 Data covers consumption within head offices and branches of UAF and 
Sun Hung Kai Credit

Energy-saving Efforts
A critical component to environmental stewardship is tracking 

and minimising energy and resource use, especially of those 

that can have climate-warming effects. Upon examination, we 

found that the vast majority of the energy usage and emissions 

attributable to the Group comes from the physical branch 

operations of the Group’s subsidiary, UAF. We see a positive 

trend in this area as this company’s business was increasingly 

moving online. In addition to expand their reach and efficiency, 

the number of physical branches in Mainland China continued 

to reduce, dropping from 46 to 30 in 2019. In addition to the 

positive impact of this evolution on the business’s profitability, it 

has also helped reduce the overall environmental impact of the 

Group’s business.
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The remainder of the Group’s businesses, including the head 

office of SHK & Co., have established a series of energy and 

resource conservation initiatives. The Group encourages 

employees to uti l ise teleconference solutions in place of 

business travel to reduce emissions. Our headquarters office 

is located in a Final Platinum certified building under Hong 

Kong’s BEAM Plus Existing Buildings Certification (Commercial 

Building) for the green management. The lighting and electrical 

appliances in the head office area are managed to minimise 

energy consumption. Several signs and labels have been 

placed next to electrical switches, sinks and electronic devices 

to remind users to save energy.

In Hong Kong, UAF has also joined the “Charter on External 

Lighting” (the “Charter”) launched by the Environment Bureau 

since 2016, and the external lighting of advertising and shop 

signage is switched off after midnight. The purpose of the 

Charter is to minimise light nuisance and energy wastage. In 

addition, practical guidance and measures for energy saving 

is communicated through the UAF Group’s internal circular to 

encourage minimising energy consumption in both head office 

and branches.

Effective Usage of Resources
The Group is well aware that there is always more that can 

be done to protect the environment. We are committed 

to continuing our efforts in improving our environmental 

performance through timely and regular review of our initiatives 

and watching trends in the industry. We also seek to work with 

third parties in green projects in the future.

The Group aims to careful ly manage our use of paper, 

plastic products and electronic devices to minimise waste, 

recycle when possible, and reduce our environmental impact. 

At SHK & Co. corporate offices, we continued to push toward 

a paper-free office by launching an employee self-service (ESS) 

system which enabled employee procedures like leave and 

expense reimbursement be completed online.

During 2019, SHK & Co. head office moved to increase the 

use of online banking and payment approaches to reduce the 

volume of paper and cheques. Electronic board papers have 

been implemented since 2013, improving Board efficiency while 

reducing waste. Our annual reports were printed on wood-

free paper and lower “gsm” (grams per square meter). New 

designs were adopted to enhance readability while reducing the 

overall number of pages. The Company continues to encourage 

investors to read soft copies of communication documents by 

distributing the same through a wide-range channels to make 

them readily accessible. The Group also actively participates 

in recycling schemes for old computers, printers, and toner 

cartridges, and joined one of the biggest green campaigns 

in Hong Kong (“Enough Plastic”) last year to encourage 

employees to reduce consumption of plastic products. 

Donations were also directed to the organisations in efforts of 

promoting the campaign and reducing plastic wastes in Hong 

Kong. Through these coordinated and consistent programs, we 

hope to minimise our impact on the environment while we grow 

our businesses.

In Hong Kong, UAF was the first market player to launch a 

“No Show” personal loan product which enables customers to 

conduct loan applications by telephone, removing the paper 

document approval process. Increasingly, paper usage is being 

reduced with more use of online or mobile loan application 

channels. For instance, at UAF (which accounts for the largest 

proportion of the Group’s transactions), 49% of new loans 

by the number of accounts were originated through these 

electronic channels in 2019. Since 2016, paper statements 

have been replaced by electronic statements through either 

email or mobile apps for all types of revolving loan accounts. 

Customers requesting monthly paper statements are charged a 

service fee.

Document Management System (“DMS”), a web-based 

application system which facilitates the storage, retrieval and 

management of documents, is used extensively by UAF and 

Sun Hung Kai Credit, especially for the management of the 

large amounts of loan documents. The DMS allows staff to 

retrieve documents efficiently through designated PC terminals 

and reduces paper usage as documents can be viewed on 

screen.
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In addition, an electronic platform is used by UAF and Sun 

Hung Kai Credit for internal administration and effective 

communication with all staff at head office and our extensive 

branch network. Staff can easily access company internal 

circulars, employee handbook, relevant company policies, 

lending guidelines, as well as e-learning materials. In addition, 

customised HR information system has been implemented by 

UAF and Sun Hung Kai Credit for leave application/monitoring, 

staff performance review and employee profile management. 

The onl ine e-platform enables staff to complete onl ine 

enrolment for training/staff activities and evaluation surveys to 

replace paper usage in connection with such activities.

Retaining Talent
Being in the financial services industries, our people are our 

most important asset and drive the long-term development and 

sustainability of the Group. The Group’s policy on employment is 

as follows:

•	 Observe relevant laws and regulations.

•	 Be an equal-opportunity employer, implementing fair 

pract ices re lat ing to compensat ion and dismissal , 

recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, 

equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other 

benefits and welfare for our staff.

•	 Provide a safe, healthy and qual i ty workplace and 

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

•	 Promote a good work-life balance for staff.

•	 Invest in training and professional development of our staff 

for the purpose of improving their knowledge and skills for 

discharging duties at work.

•	 Maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a 

transparent two-way communication.

•	 Prevent child labour and forced labour through inspection 

of identification documents. The relevant staff will be 

terminated immediately if there is any child labour and 

forced labour.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment of staff is governed by 

the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance, as 

well as the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance. In Mainland 

China, staff employment is subject to the Labour Contract Law 

of the People’s Republic of China (“中華人民共和國勞動合同
法”). The Group has no known material non-compliance with 

the above relevant law.

The Group puts a major focus on our employee’s compensation 

and working environment. The core belief of our human 

resources is that when our employees are trusted with 

more freedom and flexibility, they will respond with a deeper 

ownership of their jobs which will result in more creativity, care 

and productivity. Our staff are in demand, so our compensation 

and benefits (including working hours, rest periods and staff 

welfare) must be competitive with our peers in the financial 

services sector and hence far exceed the minimum required 

by the relevant laws. In 2019, several new and exist ing 

programmes made progress toward the Group’s goal of 

promoting flexibility at work and internal mobility. At the head 

office, we launched unlimited paid leave scheme in December 

2018, with the aim to help employees focus on producing 

exceptional results through better control over their work-life 

balance. These innovations address the trend we have seen in 

recent years, with growing demand for flexibility from employers 

on leave and working remotely when situations like public 

exigencies and family emergencies occurred. The Group has 

invested in the technology infrastructure and office systems to 

enable working remotely and on flexible schedules.

Owing to the nature of our businesses, work-related injuries, 

occupational health issues and the incurrence of child labour 

are not significant risk factors. Further information on the 

Group’s human resources is also detailed in the “Management 

Discussion and Analysis” section of this Annual Report. During 

the year under review, there were no work-related fatalities and 

minimal days lost due to work-related injury.

At UAF, various company teams are sponsored and organised 

for community service. Staff magazines are published by UAF 

to share company, industry and staff news and to promote 

internal communication. Newsletters are also circulated by SHK 

& Co. to employees of the Group and external stakeholders to 

share with them the Company’s achievements and milestones.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 

2,318 staff, compared to 2,719 at the end of 2018 as UAF 

consolidated its consumer finance branches in Mainland 

China and increased its online presence. Staff turnover ratio 

also increased as a result of the closure of UAF’s branches in 

Mainland China.



Annual Report 2019 /     49

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Staff Breakdown (2019)

56%

44%

Male
Female

By Gender

10%

59%

22%

8% 1%

<25
26-35
36-45
46-55
>56

By 
Age Group

99%

1%

Permanent Staff
Contract Staff

By 
Employment 

Type

31%

69%

Hong Kong
Mainland China

By 
Geographic 

Area

Staff Retention Analysis^ (2019):

Male
Female
Overall

27%

28%

55%

By Gender

26-35
36-45
46-55

<25

Overall

38%

5%
1%

11%

55%

By 
Age Group

Hong Kong
Mainland China
Overall

51%

4%

55%

By 
Geographic 

Area

^	 Calculated as follows: number of permanent staff who left during the 
year divided by the average total number of staff employed by the 
Group over the same timeframe. 

Note:	 In 2019, the majority of the staff departures were due to the closure 
of UAF branches in Mainland China.
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Human Resources and sustainability related awards:

•	 Caring Company Award 2016-2020 (SHK & Co.); 2005-

2020 (UAF)

•	 Good MPF Employer Award 2014-2019 (SHK&Co.)

•	 ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme 2012-2022 

(UAF)

•	 Social Capital Builder Award 2016-2022 (UAF)

•	 Partner Employer Award 2016-2020 (UAF)

•	 The Hong Kong Corporate Citizenship Logo – Enterprise 

Category 2016-2020 (UAF)

•	 The Hong Kong Corporate Citizenship Logo – Volunteer 

Category 2016-2020 (UAF)

•	 Environmental Bureau – The Charter on External Lighting 

Award Ceremony 2016-2020 (UAF)

•	 Hong Kong Green Organization Certification – Wastewise 

Certificate 2016-2020 (UAF)

•	 Happy Company 2016-2020 (UAF)

•	 Good Employer Charter 2018-2020 (UAF)

•	 Racial Diversity & Inclusion Charter 2019 –2020 (UAF)

•	 Family-Friendly Employers Award 2017–2019 (UAF)

•	 Volunteer Movement Participating Organization (UAF)

Employee Development and Training
The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous 

learning in our organisation. Our primary focus is on staff training 

which is meant to equip our workforce with the necessary 

knowledge and skills relevant to their work, as well as to expand 

skill sets in our talent pool. As most employees working at head 

office are experts from different specialties, the training policy 

at head office promotes lifelong self-development. Employees 

are encouraged to plan their own training schedules and have 

flexibility in choosing the sources. To further encourage ongoing 

learning and development, the Group included training in 

employee performance appraisal and goal setting procedures 

in 2019. Employees are also encouraged to engage in life-

long learning beyond their professional scope as well to better 

equip themselves for achieving outstanding performance and 

maintaining intellectual curiosity.

At UAF, management is involved, together with in-house 

experts and external professional trainers, in designing training 

programmes that meet the demands of the workplace. Training 

content and topics are set to cover the key aspects of its 

operations. These include:

Compliance and regulatory – general compliance, market and 

regulatory updates, prevention of bribery, bankruptcy laws, data 

privacy, the Money Lenders Ordinance as well as anti-money 

laundering policy and counter-terrorist financing.

Management skills and personal – leadership skills, supervisory 

skills, KPI setting, communication and interpersonal skills, 

creat ive th ink ing and problem-solv ing sk i l ls and se l f -

development skills.

Job skills – language skills, computer skills, debt collection skills 

and customer service skills.

UAF has a comprehensive graduate training programme to train 

talented university graduates for future advancement to the 

management team. The 25-month program provides training on 

their knowledge and skill sets for the consumer finance industry.

On top of internal training, UAF also provides a study subsidy 

for staff to advance their education outside of office hours. UAF 

Hong Kong has received the honour of “Manpower Developer” 

from the Employees Retraining Board every year since 2012.

The Group emphases not only employee training for current 

positions, but also skill development to enable internal mobility 

among business functions. As the business expands and 

evolves, opportunities arise within the Group and enabling the 

staff to train outside their current function enables the Group to 

retain key talent.

Staff training across the Group amounted to a total of 14,390 

hours in total during the year.
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Training Hours Breakdown (2019)

Male
Female

53%

47%

By Gender

Managerial Staff
General Staff

10%

90%

By Grade

Percentage of Staff Who Received Training
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By Gender

Managerial Staff
General Staff
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64%

54% 55%

By Grade

Hong Kong
Mainland China
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Supply Chain Management

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of 
information technology and communication, premises, legal and 
other business services as well as vendors for office supplies. 
These are not considered to pose significant social risks for 
our business and procurement decisions are based on pricing, 
suitability, delivery time as well as the general reputation and 
experience of suppliers.

For UAF and Sun Hung Kai Credit businesses specifically, 
external debt collection agents are engaged only after internal 
collection efforts have failed to collect overdue debts. As at 
31 December 2019, 67 of such agents were engaged by the 
businesses in Hong Kong and Mainland China. UAF and Sun 
Hung Kai Credit both have well-defined policies and procedures 
for the selection and monitoring of their debt collection agents. 
The agents are selected carefully based on track record of 
good practices and reputation. They are required to abide by 
a Code of Conduct and are subject to benchmarking, audits 
and rotation. As UAF and Sun Hung Kai Credit do not sell their 
receivables, they retain control over the collection process. 
Under the Code of Conduct, the agents shall not:

•	 sub-contract, delegate the whole or any part of their duties 
under the debt service agreement with UAF and Sun Hung 
Kai Credit;

•	 violate relevant laws and regulations; and
•	 engage in any action or conduct which is prejudicial to the 

business, integrity, reputation or goodwill of UAF and Sun 
Hung Kai Credit.

As part of monitoring these agents, regular surveys are 
conducted with customers and the general public for feedback. 
During 2019, the number of complaints received on debt 
collection was minimal, less than 0.01% of the UAF’s customer 
base. We understand that this is a very low ratio by industry 
standards. Over the years, UAF maintained its leading role in 
terms of market share in non-bank sector in Hong Kong as a 
result of its strong market position.

Product Responsibility
The Group provides loan products to individuals and businesses 
in Hong Kong, Mainland China and elsewhere. These include 
private credit extended to corporates under SHK & Co., 
consumer finance loans through UAF, as well as mortgage 
loans through Sun Hung Kai Credit.

In Hong Kong, all the relevant loan businesses operate under 
the Money Lenders Ordinance (“MLO”), being licensed money 

lenders. In Mainland China, UAF’s operations follow the regional 
guidelines announced by the provincial governments under the 
Guiding Opinions (“Guiding Opinions”) of the China Banking 
Regulatory Commission and the People’s Bank of China 
(“PBOC”) on the Pilot Operation of Small Loan Companies as 
well as the Special Rectification Documents of their special 
working group on cash loans, internet loans and P2P loans “關
於規範整頓現金貸業務的通知” , “關於印發小額貸款公司網
絡小額貸款業務風險專項整治實施方案的通知(網貸整治辦函
[2017]56號)” and “關於做好P2P網絡借貸風險專項整治整改驗
收工作的通知(網貸整治辦函[2017]57號”. During the year, there 
were no known cases of non-compliance with the above laws 
or regulations.

In Hong Kong, the MLO focuses on borrowers’ rights as well as 
lenders’ practices. UAF, as a founding member of the HKSAR 
Licensed Money Lenders Association Limited (“LMLA”), has led 
the drafting of the Code of Practice (“the Code”) for the money 
lending industry. The Code was promoted for application by all 
the members of the LMLA including subsidiaries of SHK & Co., 
UAF and Sun Hung Kai Credit. The Code is a comprehensive 
framework of market practices and standards, developed based 
on the Hong Kong Monetary Authority’s guidelines to banks, in 
the various aspects such as customer relationships, know-your-
customer, anti-money laundering, credit evaluation, collection 
and recovery and data privacy. UAF is on the executive 
committee of LMLA and leads the task force for regular 
review of the Code. UAF also holds regular dialogues with the 
Companies Registry (which reviews the licensing matters of 
money lenders) to discuss best practices and industry trends.

Across the Group, we had approximately 214,000 customers 
as at 31 December 2019 and the majority of which are from the 
UAF business in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As a market 
leader in Hong Kong, UAF runs an extensive advertising and 
promotion campaign. Customer relationship programs such 
as “member-get-members” and bonus point schemes are in 
place. Customers can access UAF’s loan services through our 
extensive branch network, phone application as well as on-
line means in Hong Kong such as E-cash Revolving Loans or 
the mobile app. The Group places a very high priority to uphold 
customers data privacy. Measures and clear guidelines are in 
place and observed to ensure customers’ data are protected 
against unauthorised or accidental access, processing 
or erasure. Appropriate levels of security protection were 
implemented by adequate physical, electronic and managerial 
measures to safeguard customers’ personal data. In addition, 
all Hong Kong staff of UAF are required to complete a Personal 
Data (Privacy) Ordinance e-learning course.



Annual Report 2019 /     53

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Owing to the nature of the consumer finance business where 

debt collection is involved, reputational risk monitoring and 

preventions are of utmost importance. At both UAF and Sun 

Hung Kai Credit, various measures are in place to minimise 

risks. Results and response to collection efforts are monitored 

on a timely basis. Dedicated telephone hotlines are set up for 

customer complaints and dispute resolution. External agents 

engaged for collection are tightly monitored.

Data Privacy
The Group has establ ished its Privacy Pol icy to ensure 

measures of data privacy protection are incorporated into 

its business practices. The Staff Handbook emphasises that 

employees are responsible for maintaining the confidentiality 

of sensitive information. In the course of the data collection 

process, the Group provides persons concerned with a 

Personal Data Collection Statement, informing them of the 

purposes of collection, classes of persons to whom the data 

may be transferred, their rights to access and correct the 

data, and other relevant information. The Group is dedicated 

to achieving an appropriate level of data security by restricting 

access and incorporating security measures for data storage. In 

addition, disclosure of personal data to any third parties without 

explicit permission, unless required by law, is not allowed.

Intellectual Property Protection
The Group respects intellectual property rights. Employees 

are not allowed to possess or use copyrighted materials, 

including computer software and published materials, without 

the permission of the copyright owners. The Information 

Technology Department carries out a regular inspection of 

employees’ computers to assure only legitimate and genuine 

software is installed. During the year, the Group was not aware 

of any material non-compliance of laws and regulations that 

have a significant impact on the Group relating to product 

responsibility, including the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, 

and Copyright Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Anti-Corruption Practice
A Whistle Blower Policy has been established to facilitate 

employees’ direct reporting of any unlawful conduct, any 

incident of corruption, avoidance of internal controls, incorrect 

or improper financial or other reporting to senior management. 

This policy is placed on the corporate electronic platform to 

facilitate employees’ easy access and reporting. As part of the 

financial control practice, the Finance Department would also 

review any irregular expenditure to detect any unlawful conduct.

An internal control framework was adopted with stringent 

policies to undertake vigorous enforcement against corruption. 

All staff are subject to the provisions of the Prevention of 

Bribery Ordinance, which require staff not to offer or pay, solicit 

or accept anything of material value in exchange for some 

improper advantage from other parties.

All relevant staff in Hong Kong are required to complete Anti-

Money Laundering & Counter-Terrorist Financing e-learning 

courses. Key staff from several business functions have 

attended AML/CTF risk awareness training in 2019. The Group 

received no complaints or legal cases in relation to corruption 

during the year.

Community Involvement
We strive to excel for our customers and be a good corporate 

citizen contributing to the communities in which we carry on our 

business by encouraging our staff to enrol in charity and social 

services.

The Group has a long history of participation in volunteering 

activities to serve our communities. UAF was named a “Caring 

Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for 14 

consecutive years and SHK & Co. was also named the same for 

5 consecutive years. SHK & Co. headoffice employees actively 

participated in and supported the Charity Walk organised by 

The Community Chest of Hong Kong. Since 2015, the UAF 

Volunteer Team has participated in community services projects 

serving the underprivileged, such as low – income senior 

citizens, senior citizens living alone, children with heart diseases 

etc. During 2019, UAF had a total of 86 volunteer members and 

served a total of 1,140 hours in various community activities.
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The key activities of UAF in 2019 included the following:

•	 Po Leung Kuk: Nostalgic Time with Elderly

•	 Po Leung Kuk: Jogging with Elderly

•	 St. James Sett lement: Happy Summer Holiday with 

Children

•	 St. James Settlement: Coffee Grounds Soap with Elderly

•	 St. James Settlement: Elderly Home Visit

•	 St. James Settlement: Go Run Together Charity Run 2019

•	 Hong Kong Family Service Centre: Cookery Challenge with 

Children

Apart from charitable activities, the Group is actively involved 

in the community via our participation, as well as our senior 

management’s roles, in industry organisations, schools, 

chambers and NGOs. By sharing our knowledge and best 

practices, we aim to contribute to the long-term development of 

the communities we operate in.

Industry Organisations and NGO 
Participation
Role of Company/
Senior Management Organisation  

SHK & Co.
Committee Member The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed 

Companies Committee Member
Corporate Member The Malaysian Chamber of 

Commerce (Hong Kong and 
Macau) Ltd.

Corporate Member The Hong Kong Investor Relations 
Association

Corporate Member 
and Board Member

The Australian Chamber of 
Commerce in Hong Kong

Committee Member The Listing Committee of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

UAF
Founding member, 

Chairman, Executive 
Committee Member 
and Secretary

The HKSAR Licensed Money 
Lenders Association

Trustee member New Asia College, The Chinese 
University of Hong Kong

Vice Chairman Yunnan Province Microcredit 
Association

Vice Chairman Heilongjiang Micro-credit Company 
Association

Executive Director Tianjin Association of Micro-credit
Director Hong Kong and Macau Taiwanese 

Charity Fund
Director Shenzhen Microfinance Industry 

Association
Director Shenzhen Credit Association
Director Liaoning Micro-credit Company 

Association
Director Dalian Microcredit Association
Director Nanning Mirco-credit Industry 

Association
Director Guangxi Mirco-credit Company 

Association
Member Chengdu Microfinance Association
Member Chongqing Microcredit Association
Member Chongqing Association of Enterprises 

with Foreign Investment
Member Sichuan Association of Microcredit
Member Beijing Microfinance Industry 

Association
Member Liaoning Micro-credit Company 

Association
Member Hubei Micro-credit Company 

Association
Member Shanghai Association of Micro-Credit
Member The Chamber of Commerce of Beicai 

Town, Pudong, Shanghai
Member Qingdao Micro-Credit Cooperation 

Development Association
Member Shandong Micro-Credit Association
Member Shenyang Micro-Credit Association
Member Wuhan Association of Microfinance
Member Shenzhen Internet Finance 

Association
Member Liaoning Area Financing Guarantee 

Association
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The Group’s total charitable donations during the year 

amounted to approximately HK$4.5 million, benefiting causes 

for education, environmental protection, health, charity services 

for the underprivileged, sailing training for underrepresented 

youths in Hong Kong and arts activities.

The Group has a vision to build a sailing legacy in Hong Kong 

and support youth development through sport, as we believe 

sailing helps nurture important qualities such as resilience, 

discipline, teamwork and leadership. With the mission of 

making sailing more accessible for the under-represented 

youth in Hong Kong, we launched the Sun Hung Kai Scallywag 

Foundation in May 2019 to offer free introductory courses and 

provide on-water training on sailing skills. Students keen to 

pursue sailing further will be considered for scholarships. Since 

its foundation, through collaboration of our programme partners 

and the Sun Hung Kai Scallywag sailing team, over 100 young 

sailors have been trained under the programme and we saw 

our initial groups of sailors obtain Hong Kong Sailing Federation 

level 2 certification by year end.

The Group also believes that competitive sailing reflects our 

core values and as such is the main sponsor of the Sun Hung 

Kai Scallywag race team, Hong Kong’s professional offshore 

sailing team. We believe the team’s spirit of excellence and 

endurance is a source of inspiration for all our employees, 

business partners and the community at large.

In add i t ion, the Sun Hung Ka i & Co. Foundat ion ( the 

“Foundation”), sponsored by the Company, also served as 

a platform for the Group and its business associates and 

partners to support our community, with a focus on improving 

the lives of the underprivileged. The Foundation’s principal 

interests are in the areas of improving living conditions and 

supporting personal development for the underprivileged 

people, sponsoring education and community activities. During 

the year, the Foundation contributed to Orbis who are focused 

on reducing blindness in developing countries. It also supported 

deserving students to pursue prestigious higher education 

through our sponsorship of the Scholarship Scheme of Harvard 

University and introduced world-class performances to the local 

community through our primary sponsorship of Alice Sara Ott’s 

piano recital in Hong Kong.

Looking forward, we wi l l cont inue to devote our t ime, 

resources and capital to fostering a stronger and sustainable 

society. Sponsored by the Company, the Foundation is an 

independently registered charity in Hong Kong.
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Appendix: HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Index

Indicators Section Title Page    

A. Environmental

Aspect A1: Emissions

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced Not Applicable

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A1.5 Measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved Energy-Saving Efforts 46

KPI A1.6 How hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 

reduction initiatives and results achieved

Energy-Saving Efforts 46

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in  

total and intensity

Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A2.3 Energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved Energy-Saving Efforts 46

KPI A2.4 Water efficiency initiatives and results achieved Energy-Saving Efforts 46

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products Not Applicable

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Environmental Initiatives 46

KPI A3.1 The significant impacts of activities on the environment 

and natural resources and the actions taken to  

manage them

Effective Usage of Resources 47

B. Social

Aspect B1: Employment and Labor Practices

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Retaining Talent 48

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type,  

age group and geographical region

Retaining Talent 48

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 

geographical region

Retaining Talent 48

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Retaining Talent 48

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Retaining Talent 48

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury Retaining Talent 48

KPI B2.3 Occupational health and safety measures Retaining Talent 48
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Indicators Section Title Page    

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Employee Development and 

Training

50

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 

employee category

Employee Development and 

Training

50

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by 

gender and employee category

Employee Development and 

Training

50

Aspect B4: Labor Standards

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Retaining Talent 48

KPI B4.1 Measures to review employment practices to  

avoid child and forced labor

Retaining Talent 48

KPI B4.2 Steps taken to eliminate such practices when 

discovered

Retaining Talent 48

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Supply Chain Management 52

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region Supply Chain Management 52

KPI B5.2 Practices relating to engaging suppliers and  

number of suppliers

Supply Chain Management 52

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Product Responsibility 52

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to 

recalls for safety and health reasons

Not Applicable

KPI B6.2 Number of product and service related complaints 

received and how they are dealt with

Product Responsibility 52

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 

protecting intellectual property rights

Intellectual Property Protection 53

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and  

recall procedures

Product Responsibility 52

KPI B6.5 Consumer data protection and privacy policies Product Responsibility 52

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Anti-Corruption Practice 53

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 

practices brought against the issuer or its employees 

during the reporting period and the outcomes of  

the cases

Anti-Corruption Practice 53

KPI B7.2 Preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures Anti-Corruption Practice 53

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General Disclosure Disclosure Statement Community Involvement 53

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution Community Involvement 53

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area Community Involvement 53
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) are 

pleased to present the 2019 annual report (“Annual Report”) 

and the audited consolidated financial statements of the 

Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 

31 December 2019.

Principal Activities and Business Review
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The 

principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and 

associates are set out in Notes 24 and 25 to the consolidated 

financial statements respectively. Details and analysis of the 

main business segments of the Group during the year are set 

out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The bus iness rev iew of the Group for the year ended  

31 December 2019 and further discussion and analysis 

as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance can be found in the section of “Financial Highlights”, 

the relevant sect ions of “Management Discussion and 

Analysis”, the section of “Risk Management and Principal Risks 

Identification” and “Environmental, Social and Governance 

Report” of this Annual Report.

Results and Dividends
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 

are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

An interim dividend of HK12 cents per share was paid to the 

shareholders of the Company on 12 September 2019. The 

Directors has declared a second interim dividend of HK14 cents 

 per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 to the 

shareholders whose names appear on the register of members 

of the Company on 29 April 2020, making a total dividend for 

the year 2019 of HK26 cents per share. Dividend warrants of 

the second interim dividend are expected to be despatched on  

13 May 2020.

Investment Properties
Movements in investment properties during the year are 

detailed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Property and Equipment
Movements in property and equipment during the year are 

detailed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Charitable Donations
The total donations made by the Group for charitable purposes 

during the year amounted to approximately HK$4.5 million.

Share Capital and Shares Issued
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company 

during the year are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Debentures
The Group had the fol lowing debentures in issue as at  

31 December 2019:

–	 US$249,768,000 4.75% Guaranteed Notes due May 

2021 (the “2021 Notes”) under the US$3,000,000,000 

Guaranteed Medium Term Note Programme (the “MTN 

Programme”). The 2021 Notes were listed on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 

in June 2016 (stock code: 5654). The issuer of this 

programme is Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited (“SHK 

BVI”, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands 

and a direct wholly–owned subsidiary of the Company).

–	 US$445,186,000 4.65% Guaranteed Notes due September 

2022 (the “2022 Notes”) issued by SHK BVI under the MTN 

Programme. The 2022 Notes were listed on the Stock 

Exchange in September 2017 (stock code: 5267).

–	 During the year, US$111,871,000 in the principal amount 

of 2021 Notes and US$104,814,000 in the principal 

amount of 2022 Notes were purchased and redeemed by 

the Company by a tender offer (the “Notes Repurchase”) 

and were cancelled on 15 November 2019.

–	 US$350,000,000 5.75% Guaranteed Notes due November 

2024 (the “2024 Notes”) were issued by SHK BVI on  

15 November 2019 under the MTN Programme for partial 

settlement of the Notes Repurchase. The 2024 Notes were 

listed on the Stock Exchange in November 2019 (stock 

code: 40065).
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–	 In June 2018, Sun Hung Kai (ECP) Limited (“SHK ECP”), 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, established 

a US$1,000,000,000 commercial paper programme (“CP 

Programme”) and a total of HK$427,000,000 principal 

amount of commercial paper (the “Commercial Paper”) 

were issued by SHK ECP under the CP Programme during 

the year. The Commercial Paper was issued for general 

corporate purposes of the Group.

For further details of the abovementioned issued Guaranteed 

Notes and Commercial Paper, please refer to Note 41 to the 

consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed above, the 

Group has not issued any debentures during the year.

Distributable Reserves
Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2019 

pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and details 

of the movements in reserves during the year are set out in the 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Note 51 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

Directors
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) during the year 

and up to the date of this report comprises:

Executive Directors
Lee Seng Huang (Group Executive Chairman)

Simon Chow Wing Charn

Non-Executive Directors
Peter Anthony Curry

Jonathan Andrew Cimino

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”)
Evan Au Yang Chi Chun

David Craig Bartlett

Alan Stephen Jones

Jacqueline Alee Leung

Peter Wong Man Kong (deceased on 11 March 2019)

In accordance with Article 103 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association (the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors for the 

time being shall be subject to retirement by rotation, and eligible 

for re-election, at each Annual General Meeting of the Company 

(“AGM”). Accordingly, pursuant to Article 103 of the Articles, 

Messrs. Lee Seng Huang, David Craig Bartlett and Jonathan 

Andrew Cimino, the Directors being the longest in office since 

their last election, will retire at the forthcoming AGM, and being 

eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

A list of names of all the Directors who have served on the 

boards of directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the 

year is available on the website of the Company under the 

“Governance” section.

Profiles of Directors and Senior 
Management
Executive Directors
Lee Seng Huang, aged 45, was appointed as an Executive 

Director and has been the Group Executive Chairman of the 

Company since 1 January 2007. Mr. Lee was educated at the 

University of Sydney in Australia and has wide ranging financial 

services and real estate investment experience in the Asian 

region. He is the executive chairman of Mulpha International 

Berhad (a Malaysian listed conglomerate with operations in 

Malaysia, Australia and the United Kingdom) as well as Mulpha 

Australia Limited. Mr. Lee was previously the non-executive 

chairman of Aveo Group Limited (resigned on 29 November 

2019), a company which was listed on the Australian Securities 

Exchange until it was privatized and delisted in December 

2019. Mr. Lee is a trustee of Lee and Lee Trust, a discretionary 

trust owning a controlling interest in Allied Group Limited 

(“AGL”), a holding company of the Company through its interest 

in Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”). Both AGL and APL 

are companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lee is also 

a director of United Asia Finance Limited (“UAF”), a subsidiary 

of the Company and also the Deputy Chairman of Everbright 

Sun Hung Kai Company Limited (“EBSHK”), an associate of the 

Company.
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Simon Chow Wing Charn, aged 65, was appointed as an 

Executive Director on 3 June 2015. He joined the Company as 

the Group Deputy Chief Executive Officer in December 2014.  

Mr. Chow has more than 25 years’ experience in the banking 

and financial services industry. Prior to joining the Group, 

he has been with Citibank for 18 years and his last position 

was the country manager for China consumer bank of 

Citibank. Before that, he held senior roles with UBS, Lehman 

Brothers, British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers. He is a member of the Institute of the 

Chartered Accountants of Canada. Mr. Chow holds a Bachelor 

of Science Degree and a Licentiate in Accounting Degree from 

the University of British Columbia. He also holds directorships in 

various subsidiaries of the Company and EBSHK, an associate 

of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors
Peter Anthony Curry , aged 67, was appointed as an 

Executive Director on 1 January 2011 and was re-designated 

as a Non-executive Director on 1 September 2018. He joined 

the Company as the Group Chief Financial Officer in November 

2010 until his retirement on 31 August 2018. Mr. Curry has 

over 45 years of business experience. He joined Peat Marwick 

Mitchell (now known as KPMG) in Australia in 1974 upon 

graduation and worked as Tax Partner in 1983. Since that time 

he has worked in different listed and unlisted companies in 

Australia as executive director/managing director specialising in 

natural resources, corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions 

etc. He has been involved in a range of public and private 

capital raisings, initial public offering related services and 

providing corporate and financial advisory services in relation 

to a range of business transactions including a wide range 

of mining projects. Mr. Curry holds a Bachelor of Commerce 

Degree and a Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University 

of New South Wales. He became a Chartered Accountant 

and a barrister (non-practising) in Australia in 1978, and was 

elected as a fellow of The Institute of Directors in Australia in 

1989. Mr. Curry was appointed as a non-executive director 

of Tian An Australia Limited on 15 March 2019, a company 

listed on the Australian Securities Exchange and as a non-

executive director of Air Change International Limited on  

3 October 2019, a company listed on The National Stock 

Exchange of Australia Limited.

Jonathan Andrew Cimino, aged 67, was appointed as a 

Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2016. He is the chief 

executive officer of Dubai Group LLC (the “Dubai Group”) and 

was formerly the chief operating officer and the managing 

director of Finance of Dubai Group since 2008. As at the date 

of this report, the Dubai Group, through its subsidiary Dubai 

Ventures LLC, holds 166,000,000 shares of the Company. 

Mr. Cimino is experienced in financial management, debt 

restructur ing and asset management and has been an 

investment banker and stockbroker having spent a large part 

of his career as head of investment banking, chief executive 

officer and country head of SBC Warburg and UBS in New 

Zealand. He worked extensively on privatization mandates for 

the New Zealand Government. Upon leaving UBS in 2001, 

Mr. Cimino formed his own boutique investment bank Cimino 

Partners which undertook various M&A and capital market 

transactions including acting as the lead manager for the IPO 

of the New Zealand Stock Exchange. He has been a public 

company director in New Zealand for listed companies in 

the transportation, environmental, biotechnology and private 

equity sectors. Mr. Cimino holds a Bachelor of Commerce and 

Administration Degree from Victoria University of Wellington, 

New Zealand and completed the Advanced Management 

Program at Harvard Business School.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Evan Au Yang Chi Chun, aged 48, was appointed as an 

Independent Non-Executive Director on 22 March 2018. 

Mr. Au Yang is the managing director and head of GLG 

International (“GLG”). Prior to GLG, Mr. Au Yang was the 

deputy managing d i rector of The Kowloon Motor Bus 

Company (1933) Limited (“KMB”) and an executive director 

of Transport International Holdings Limited (“Transport 

International”), KMB’s parent company which is listed on 

the Stock Exchange. He is the chairman of the board of 

Civ ic Exchange, a member of the Advisory Committee 

on Corruption of the Independent Commission Against 

Corruption and an advisor of Our Hong Kong Foundation. 

He also serves on the board of the Urban Renewal Authority 

as a non-executive director, the executive committees of 

Green Monday and the Young Presidents’ Organization 

(Hong Kong Chapter) where he is a member. In addition,  

Mr. Au Yang serves on the Transport Policy Committee of the 
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Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport, the Environment 

Bureau’s Working Group on review of Air Quality Objectives, 

the Development Fund Committee of the Hong Kong Council 

of Social Service, the Development Committee of the World 

Wide Fund as well as the board of advisors of Kellogg School 

of Management Alumni Club. Prior to joining Transport 

International and KMB, Mr. Au Yang was an associate partner 

at McKinsey & Company. Before management consultancy, 

Mr. Au Yang was at Citigroup’s derivatives structuring and 

marketing unit. He obtained his undergraduate degree in 

Economics and Political Science from Brown University and 

his MBA degree from the Kellogg School of Management at 

Northwestern University.

David Craig Bartlett , aged 54, was appointed as an 

Independent Non-Executive Director on 26 November 1999. Mr. 

Bartlett graduated with honours in law from Exeter University 

in the United Kingdom in 1988 and subsequently qualified as 

a solicitor in England & Wales, the Republic of Ireland and the 

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. A former partner 

of the international law firm Clyde & Co., he regularly acted for 

and advised the Company and its subsidiaries before leaving 

private practice for a career in industry. Now based primarily 

in England, Mr. Bartlett is also an independent non-executive 

director of each of AGL and APL, the holding companies of the 

Company.

Alan Stephen Jones , aged 77, was appointed as an 

Independent Non-Executive Director on 3 January 2006. Mr. 

Jones, a Chartered Accountant, has extensive experience 

in management, administrat ion, account ing, property 

development, carpark management, finance and trading, and 

has been involved in successful mergers and acquisitions of a 

number of public companies in Australia and internationally. He 

is an independent non-executive director of each of AGL and 

APL, the holding companies of the Company. Mr. Jones is also 

an independent non-executive director of Mount Gibson Iron 

Limited, a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange 

and the non-executive chairman of Air Change International 

Limited, a company listed on the National Stock Exchange of 

Australia Limited, as well as a non-executive director of Mulpha 

Australia Limited.

Jacqueline Alee Leung, aged 59, was appointed as an 

Independent Non-Executive Director on 1 November 2014. 

Ms. Leung is the president and managing director of Leighton 

Investments Limited and Leighton Textiles Company Limited. 

She was with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from February 2001 

to August 2014. Prior to that, she worked at the mergers 

and acquisitions department of Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. in 

New York City. Ms. Leung is an active community leader 

and volunteer and has served as a member of the Vetting 

Committee for the Allocation of Sites and Start-up Loans for 

Post–secondary Education Providers under the Education 

Bureau of the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative 

Region since 2010. Over the years, she held various positions in 

charitable organisations in Hong Kong, such as the fundraising 

chairman for the Hong Kong Cancer Fund and a director at 

Po Leung Kuk. Ms. Leung is also a member of the Exchange 

Fund Advisory Committee (EFAC) Financial Infrastructure 

Sub-Committee of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority and 

a member of the Hospital Governing Committee of Prince of 

Wales Hospital. Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in 

Economics and a Bachelor of Science Degree with honors in 

Engineering from Brown University in the United States.

Senior Management
Akihiro Nagahara

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, UAF

Mr. Nagahara, aged 79, joined UAF in September 1993 and 

is its Managing Director and CEO. He is an acknowledged 

expert in the consumer finance business in Hong Kong and is 

credited with the successful establishment of Public Finance 

Limited (formerly known as JCG Finance Company, Limited). 

He is also the chairman of The Hong Kong S.A.R. Licensed 

Money Lenders Association Limited, a position he has held 

since its establishment in 1999, which is the only industry 

representative association of licensed money lenders in Hong 

Kong. Mr. Nagahara holds a Law Degree from the National 

Taiwan University and a Master’s Degree from the Graduate 

School in Law of the National Hitotsubashi University of Japan 

where he also completed his doctorate courses. Mr. Nagahara 

was awarded an Honorary Fellowship of the Chinese University 

of Hong Kong in May 2016. He is also a director of various 

subsidiaries of UAF and Sun Hung Kai Credit Limited (“SHK 

Credit”), the subsidiaries of the Company.
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Robert James Quinlivan

Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Quinlivan, aged 50, joined the Company as Group Chief 

Financial Officer in September 2018. He has 30 years of 

experience in the fields of financial markets, public accounting 

and audit. Prior to joining the Company, he was Chief Financial 

Officer, Asia for Macquarie Group Limited and has worked in 

senior finance and assurance roles with Barclays and Merrill 

Lynch. Prior to Hong Kong, Mr. Quinlivan worked in Seoul, 

Tokyo, London and New York. He commenced his career with 

KPMG in Australia. Mr. Quinlivan is a CFA Charterholder and 

a member of the CFA Institute, and is a Fellow of the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He obtained a Bachelor 

of Commerce Degree majoring in accounting and finance from 

The University of Western Australia. He is also a director of 

various subsidiaries of the Company.

Elsy Li Chun

Group Treasurer and Head of Corporate Development

Ms. Li, aged 47, joined the Company in May 2017 and is the 

Group Treasurer and Head of Corporate Development of the 

Company. She is an investment banking professional with 

over 20 years of experience. Prior to joining the Group, she 

was a consultant with an international executive search firm 

and before that she held various senior investment banking 

positions including Managing Director, Institutional Client 

Group and Managing Director, Financial Institutions Group with 

Deutsche Bank in Hong Kong. Ms. Li has been appointed as 

a member of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange 

since 5 July 2019. She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business 

Administration from the University of Michigan. She is also a 

director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Benjamin John Falloon

Managing Director, Investment Management

Mr. Falloon, aged 49, joined the Company as the Managing 

Director, Principal Investments (now known as Investment  

Management) in June 2018. Mr. Falloon has over 20 years of 

experience in Investment Banking in Asia, primarily in Fixed 

Income. Prior to joining the Company, he was the Managing 

Director, Head of Fixed Income Asia Pacific at Morgan Stanley 

from March 2014 to March 2017. Before that, Mr. Falloon 

was the Managing Director, Head of Fixed Income Sales & 

Structuring at Morgan Stanley from September 2008. During 

his time at Morgan Stanley, Mr. Falloon was a member of the 

Global Fixed Income Operating Committee, the Asia Pacific 

Executive Committee, a Director of Morgan Stanley Asia Limited 

and the Chairman of Morgan Stanley Bank International (China) 

Limited. Prior to his role at Morgan Stanley, Mr. Falloon ran 

emerging market sales at Credit Suisse across Asia. Mr. Falloon 

holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of 

Otago.

Directors’ Service Contracts
No Director proposed for re-election or election (as the case 

may be) at the forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service 

contract with the Company which is not determinable by the 

Company within one year without payment of compensation 

(other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ Interests
As at 31 December 2019, the interests of Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its 

associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), as recorded in the 

register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO were as follows:

(a)	 Interests in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), the underlying Shares and debentures

Name of Directors Capacity

Number of Shares,
underlying Shares

and unit of debentures

Approximate % of the
total number of
issued Shares    

Lee Seng Huang Interests of controlled corporation (Note 1) 1,244,782,575 
(Note 2)

62.26%

    
Simon Chow Wing Charn  

(“Mr. Chow”)
Beneficial owner 2,031,000 

(Note 3a)

0.1%

Beneficial owner 2 
(Note 3b)

N/A

    
Peter Anthony Curry Beneficial owner 1,241,141 0.06%    

Notes:

1.	 Mr. Lee Seng Huang, a Director, together with Mr. Lee Seng Hui and Ms. Lee Su Hwei are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary 
trust. The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal 
interests) and was therefore deemed to have interests in the Shares in which AGL was interested.

2.	 This referred to the deemed interests in 1,244,782,575 Shares held by APL.
3.	 (a)	 These included 1,498,000 Shares granted to Mr. Chow under the SHK Employee Ownership Scheme (“EOS”) that were vested, became 

unrestricted and the title of which was transferred to him during the year.
(b)	 This represented the interests held by Mr. Chow in the 4.65% Guaranteed Notes due September 2022 issued by SHK BVI in the amount of 

US$400,000.

(b)	 Interests in the shares and underlying shares of associated corporations

Name of Directors
Associated
corporations Capacity

Number of shares
and underlying

shares

Approximate % of
the total number

of the
relevant shares     

Lee Seng Huang 
(Note 1)

AGL Trustee (Note 2) 131,706,380 74.93%

APL Interests of controlled 
corporation (Note 3)

5,108,911,521
(Note 4)

74.99%

SHK Hong Kong Industries 
Limited (“SHK HK Ind”)

Interests of controlled 
corporation (Note 5)

3,082,889,606
(Note 6)

74.97%

     

Notes:

1.	 Mr. Lee Seng Huang, by virtue of his interests in AGL and APL, was deemed to be interested in the shares of the subsidiaries of AGL (including SHK 
HK Ind, a listed subsidiary of AGL) and APL, which are associated corporations of the Company as defined under the SFO.
A waiver application was submitted to the Stock Exchange for exemption from disclosure of Mr. Lee’s deemed interests in the shares of such 
associated corporations of the Company in this report, and the waiver was granted by the Stock Exchange on 13 February 2020.

2.	 Mr. Lee Seng Huang is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which indirectly controlled 131,706,380 shares of AGL.
3.	 This referred to the same interests held directly or indirectly by AGL in APL.
4.	 This referred to the interests in 5,108,911,521 shares of APL which were held 968,354,880 directly and 4,140,556,641 indirectly by AGL.
5.	 This referred to the same interests held indirectly by AGL in SHK HK Ind.
6.	 This referred to the interests in 3,082,889,606 shares of SHK HK Ind.
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All interests stated above represent long positions. As at 

31 December 2019, none of the Directors held any short 

positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the 

Company or any of its associated corporations.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, neither 

the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had 

any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying 

Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as 

recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 

of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in 

Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 

the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

SHK Employee Ownership Scheme
On 18 December 2007 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company 

adopted the EOS to recognise the contributions by any 

employee or director of the Group (the “Selected Grantees”) 

and to provide them with long-term incentives in order to retain 

them for the continual operation and development of the Group 

and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the 

Group.

A committee comprising senior management of the Company 

has been formed, with the power and authority delegated by 

the Board, to administer the EOS. An independent trustee (the 

“Trustee”) has been appointed for the administration of the EOS. 

Under the EOS, Selected Grantees are to be awarded Shares 

which have been purchased by the Trustee at the cost of the 

Company and which are held in trust for the Selected Grantees 

until the end of each vesting period. Upon management’s 

recommendation, the number of Shares awarded to the 

Selected Grantees (other than a Director) shall be determined, 

with the vesting dates for various tranches, by the committee. 

Any Shares awarded under the EOS to a Selected Grantee who 

is a Director shall be subject to the Board’s approval following 

a recommendation from the Remuneration Committee of the 

Board.

Subject to the terms thereof, the EOS shall be valid and 

effective for an init ial term of f ive years commencing on 

18 December 2007 and automatically extended for another 

three subsequent terms of five years each unless otherwise 

terminated. The maximum number of Shares which can be 

awarded under the EOS and to a Selected Grantee throughout 

its duration are limited to 5 per cent (i.e. 83,989,452 Shares) 

and 1 per cent (i.e. 16,797,890 Shares) respectively of the total 

number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date.

During the year, a total of 1,788,000 Shares (2018: 3,189,000 

Shares) were awarded to the Selected Grantees subject to 

various terms including, amongst other things, vesting scales 

whereby awarded Shares will vest and become unrestricted 

in various vesting periods. A total of 2,526,000 Shares (2018: 

533,000 Shares) were vested during the year.

Since its adoption, a total of 21,376,000 Shares have been 

awarded up to the date of this report, representing about 1.27% 

of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date. As 

at 31 December 2019, the outstanding awarded but unvested 

Shares under the EOS amounted to 3,195,000 Shares.

Equity-Linked Agreements
Other than the EOS as disclosed above, no equity-linked 

agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing 

Shares or that requi re the Company to enter into any 

agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing 

Shares were entered into by the Company during the year or 

subsisted at the end of the year.

Arrangement for the Acquisition of 
Shares or Debentures
Other than the EOS, at no t ime during the year was the 

Company, its holding company or any of their subsidiaries, a 

party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire 

benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures 

of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons
As at 31 December 2019, the following shareholders had interests in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register 

required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO (the “SFO Register”):

Name of Shareholders Capacity

Number of Shares and

underlying Shares

Approximate % of the

total number of

issued Shares    

APL Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 1)

1,244,782,575 
(Note 2)

62.26%

    

AGL Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 3)

1,244,782,575
(Note 4)

62.26%

    

Lee and Lee Trust Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 5)

1,244,782,575
(Note 4)

62.26%

    

Dubai Ventures LLC (“Dubai Ventures”) Beneficial owner 166,000,000 
(Note 6)

8.30%
    

Dubai Ventures Group LLC (“DVG”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 7)

166,000,000
(Note 8)

8.30%

    

Dubai Group LLC (“Dubai Group”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 9)

166,000,000
(Note 8)

8.30%

    

Dubai Holding Investments Group LLC (“DHIG”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 10)

166,000,000
(Note 8)

8.30%

    

Dubai Holding LLC (“Dubai Holding”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 11)

166,000,000
(Note 8)

8.30%

    

Dubai Group 2024 Limited (“DG 2024”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 12)

166,000,000 
(Note 8)

8.30%

    

Dubai Group Limited (“DGL”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 13)

166,000,000
(Note 8)

8.30%

    

HSBC Trustee (C.I.) Limited (“HSBC Trustee”) Trustee (Note 14) 166,000,000
(Note 8)

8.30%
    

HH Mohammed Bin Rashid Al Maktoum Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 15)

166,000,000
(Note 8)

8.30%

    

Asia Financial Services Company Limited (“AFSC”) Beneficial owner 196,600,000 
(Note 16)

9.79%
    

Asia Financial Services Holdings Limited (“AFSH”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 17)

196,600,000
(Note 18)

9.79%

    

Asia Financial Services Group Limited (“AFSG”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 19)

196,600,000
(Note 18)

9.79%

    

Asia Financial Services Group Holdings Limited 

(“AFSGH”)

Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 20)

196,600,000
(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC Capital Partners Asia Pacific III L.P. (“CVC LP”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 21)

196,600,000
(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC Capital Partners Asia III Limited  

(“CVC Capital III”)

Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 22)

196,600,000
(Note 18)

9.79%
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Name of Shareholders Capacity

Number of Shares and

underlying Shares

Approximate % of the

total number of

issued Shares    

CVC Capital Partners Finance Limited  

(“CVC Capital Partners Finance”)

Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 23)

196,600,000 

(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC Group Holdings L.P. (“CVC Group Holdings”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 24) 

196,600,000 

(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC Portfolio Holdings Limited (“CVC Portfolio”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 25)

196,600,000 

(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC Management Holdings Limited  

(“CVC Management”)

Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 26)

196,600,000 

(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC MMXII Limited (“CVC MMXII”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 27)

196,600,000 

(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC Capital Partners 2013 PCC  

(acting in respect of its protected cell,  

CVC Capital Partners Cell H PC)  

(“CVC Capital Partners 2013”)

Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 28)

196,600,000 

(Note 18)

9.79%

    

CVC Capital Partners SICAV-FIS S.A.  

(“CVC Capital Partners SA”)

Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 29)

196,600,000 

(Note 18)

9.79%

    

Everbright Sun Hung Kai Structured  

Solutions Limited (“EBSHK Structured Solutions”)

Entity having a security 

interest in shares  

(Note 30)

196,600,000 

(Note 31)

9.79%

    

Sun Hung Kai Financial Group Limited (“SHKFG”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 32)

196,600,000 

(Note 33)

9.79%

    

Everbright Securities Financial Holdings Limited 

(“ESFH”)

Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 34)

196,600,000 

(Note 33)

9.79%

    

Everbright Securities Company Limited (“ESCL”) Interests of controlled 

corporation (Note 35)

196,600,000 

(Note 33)

9.79%
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Notes:

1.	 The interests were held by AP Emerald Limited (“AP Emerald”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of AP Jade Limited which in turn was a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of APL. APL was therefore deemed to have interests in the Shares in which AP Emerald was interested.

2.	 This represented an interest in 1,244,782,575 Shares held by APL through AP Emerald.
3.	 AGL owned approximately 74.99% of the total number of shares of APL and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which APL was 

interested.
4.	 This referred to the same deemed interests in 1,244,782,575 Shares held by APL.
5.	 Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang (a Director) are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and 

Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests) and was therefore 
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which AGL was interested.

6.	 This represented an interest in 166,000,000 Shares.
7.	 DVG owned 99% interest in Dubai Ventures and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares which Dubai Ventures was interested.
8.	 This referred to the same interests in 166,000,000 Shares held by Dubai Ventures.
9.	 Dubai Group owned 99% interest in DVG and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which DVG was interested.
10.	 DHIG owned 51% interest in Dubai Group and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which Dubai Group was interested.
11.	 Dubai Holding owned 99% interest in DHIG and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which DHIG was interested.
12.	 DG 2024 owned 49% interest in Dubai Group and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Share in which Dubai Group was interested.
13.	 DGL owned 100% interest in DG 2024 and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which DG 2024 was interested.
14.	 HSBC Trustee owned 100% interest in DGL and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which DGL was interested.
15.	 HH Mohammed Bin Rashid Al Maktoum owned 99% interest in Dubai Holding and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which 

Dubai Holding was interested.
16.	 This represented an interest in 196,600,000 Shares.
17.	 AFSH held 100% interest in AFSC and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which AFSC was interested.
18.	 This referred to the same interests in 196,600,000 Shares held by AFSC.
19.	 AFSG owned 99.06% interest in AFSH and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which AFSH was interested.
20.	 AFSGH held 100% interest in AFSG and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which AFSG was interested.
21.	 CVC LP owned 88% interest in AFSGH and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which AFSGH was interested.
22.	 CVC Capital III, as the general partner of CVC LP, exclusively managed and controlled CVC LP and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the 

Shares in which CVC LP was interested.
23.	 CVC Capital Partners Finance held 100% interest in CVC Capital III and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC Capital III 

was interested.
24.	 CVC Group Holdings held 100% interest in CVC Capital Partners Finance and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC 

Capital Partners Finance was interested.
25.	 CVC Portfolio (i) held approximately 81.8% interest in CVC Management (which was the sole limited partner of CVC Group Holdings) and was therefore 

deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC Group Holdings was interested, and (ii) as the general partner of CVC Group Holdings, exclusively 
managed and controlled CVC Group Holdings, and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC Group Holdings was 
interested.

26.	 CVC Management, as the limited partner of CVC Group Holdings, was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC Group Holdings 
was interested.

27.	 CVC MMXII held 100% interest in CVC Portfolio and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC Portfolio was interested.
28.	 CVC Capital Partners 2013 held 100% interest in CVC MMXII and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC MMXII was 

interested.
29.	 CVC Capital Partners SA held 100% interest in CVC Capital Partners 2013 and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which CVC 

Capital Partners 2013 was interested.
30.	 This represented 196,600,000 Shares held by AFSC which were pledged in favour of EBSHK Structured Solutions for a term loan facility.
31.	 This represented an interest in 196,600,000 Shares.
32.	 SHKFG, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Everbright Sun Hung Kai Company Limited, owned 100% interest in EBSHK Structured Solutions and was 

therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which EBSHK Structured Solutions was interested.
33.	 This referred to the same interest in 196,600,000 Shares held by EBSHK Structured Solutions.
34.	 ESFH owned 70% interest in SHKFG and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which SHKFG was interested.
35.	 ESCL owned 100% interest in ESFH and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which ESFH was interested.
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All interests stated above represent long positions. As at  

31 December 2019, no short positions were recorded in the 

SFO Register of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the 

Directors were not aware of any other persons who have 

interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares 

which would require to be disclosed to the Company pursuant 

to Part XV of the SFO.

Indemnity of Directors
Pursuant to Article 181 of the Articles and subject to the 

provisions permitted by the Companies Ordinance, every 

Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to 

be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all 

losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about 

the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation 

thereto. A Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy for 

the benefit of the Directors and other officers of the Company 

was in force during the year and up to the date of this report.

Continuing Connected Transactions
The following transactions between certain connected persons 

(as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company have been 

entered into and are ongoing for which relevant announcements 

have been made by the Company in accordance with Chapter 

14A of the Listing Rules.

(1)	 Sharing of Management Services Agreement
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated  

7 February 2017 and in the annual reports for 2016, 2017 

and 2018, a renewed sharing of management services 

agreement (the “2017 Sharing of Management Services 

Agreement”) was entered into between the Company and 

AGL on 7 February 2017, pursuant to which the Company 

agreed to reimburse AGL the actual costs incurred in respect 

of the provision of management, consultancy, business 

development, business introduction, strategic, internal audit, 

management information system consultancy and all other 

general business advice services provided by the senior 

management and selected staff of AGL to the Group for a 

term of three years commencing from 1 January 2017 to  

31 December 2019 and the relevant annual caps for each 

of the three financial years ending 31 December 2017, 2018 

and 2019 were set at HK$24.0 million, HK$26.5 million and 

HK$29.0 million respectively.

The total amount paid to AGL under the 2017 Shar ing 

of Management Services Agreement for the year ended 

31 December 2019 was HK$16.94 million, which was within 

the annual cap of HK$29.0 million as set for such financial year.

Subsequently, as disclosed in the announcement of the 

Company dated 2 January 2020, the 2017 Shar ing of 

Management Services Agreement was further renewed 

on the same date for a term of three years commencing 

f rom 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 and the 

relevant annual cap for each of the three financial years 

ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 were set at  

HK$28 mi l l ion, HK$30.8 mi l l ion and HK$33.9 mi l l ion 

respectively (the “2020 Sharing of Management Services 

Agreement”). Pursuant to the Listing Rules, details of the 

continuing connected transactions under the 2020 Sharing of 

Management Services Agreement shall be disclosed in the next 

published annual report of the Company.

(2)	 Leasing arrangement in respect of Allied Kajima 
Building

2.1	Master Lease Agreement
As disclosed in the announcement dated 29 November 2017 

and the annual reports for 2017 and 2018 of the Company, the 

Company as the lessee entered into a master lease agreement 

(the “2018 Master Lease Agreement”) with Art View Properties 

Limited (“Art View”), a joint venture of APL, as the lessor 

whereby any member of the Group may continue, amend or 

renew the existing leases or enter into new leases, sub-leases 

and licenses in relation to Allied Kajima Building with Art View 

from time to time as are necessary for the future business 

needs of the Group during the period from 1 January 2018 to 

31 December 2020 in accordance with the terms of the 2018 

Master Lease Agreement.

The maximum agreement amount set for the transaction 

contemplated under the 2018 Master Lease Agreement for each 

of the three financial years ending 31 December 2018, 2019 

and 2020 were set at HK$27.03 million, HK$29.62 million and  

HK$29.62 million respectively.

The total amount paid to Art View under the 2018 Master 

Lease Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2019 was  

HK$25.50 mi l l ion which was wi th in the annual cap of  

HK$29.62 million as set for such financial year.
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2.2	Sub-tenancy Agreement
As disclosed in the announcements dated 31 March 2017 and 

29 November 2017 and the annual reports for 2017 and 2018 

of the Company, UAF (an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the Company) entered into a renewed sub-tenancy 

agreement (the “2017 Sub-tenancy Agreement”) with AGL on 

31 March 2017 to renew a sub-tenancy agreement relating to 

the sub-lease of a portion of 24th floor of Allied Kajima Building 

by AGL to UAF for a term of two years from 1 April 2017 to 

31 March 2019 at a monthly rental and management fees of 

HK$24,100 per month and the aggregate maximum amount 

set under the 2017 Sub-tenancy Agreement for each of the 

two years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 and for the 

three months period ended 31 March 2019 were HK$281,000, 

HK$290,000 and HK$73,000 respectively.

The total aggregate amount paid to AGL under the 2017 Sub–

tenancy Agreement for the three months ended 31 March 2019 

were HK$72,300 which was within the aggregate maximum 

amount of HK$73,000 as set.

Given that APL is a substantial shareholder of the Company; 

and AGL and Art View are all associates of APL under the 

definition of the Listing Rules, each of AGL and Art View is 

regarded as a connected person of the Company under the 

Listing Rules. As such, the entering into of the 2017 Sharing 

of Management Services Agreement, the 2018 Master Lease 

Agreement and the 2017 Sub-tenancy Agreement constituted 

continuing connected transactions for the Company (the 

“Continuing Connected Transactions”) under Chapter 14A of 

the Listing Rules. In accordance with the requirements of Rules 

14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules, details of the said 

Continuing Connected Transactions are included in this report.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s 

Continuing Connected Transactions for the year ended 31 

December 2019 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard 

on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 

Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 

Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 

740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions 

under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued 

an unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions 

in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions in 

accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the 

auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock 

Exchange.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs as 

at the date of this report, being Messrs. Evan Au Yang Chi 

Chun, David Craig Bartlett and Alan Stephen Jones, and 

Ms. Jacquel ine Alee Leung, have rev iewed the above 

Continuing Connected Transactions and confirmed that they were 

entered into:

(i)	 in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii)	 on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)	 according to the respective agreements governing them on 

terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of 

the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the Continuing 

Connected Transactions were entered into in the manners 

stated above.

Details of the particulars of the related party transactions or 

continuing related party transactions (as the case may be), 

including specification of any connected transactions or 

continuing connected transactions and the compliance with 

the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of 

the Listing Rules are disclosed in Note 38 to the consolidated 

financial statements under the heading of “Related Party 

Transactions”.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group are 

set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries are set out in 

Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Corporate Governance
The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard 

of corporate governance practices. The information on the 

corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set 

out in the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual Report.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions, 
Arrangements or Contracts
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to 

which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and 

in which the Directors or an entity connected with the Directors 

had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted 

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Management Contracts
No contracts relating to the management and/or administration 

of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 

Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.

Terms of Office for the Non-Executive 
Directors
All Non-Executive Directors ( including the INEDs) were 

appointed for a specific term of two years which shall continue 

until 31 December 2020 but subject to the relevant provisions 

of the Articles or any applicable laws whereby the Directors 

shall vacate or retire from their office.

Directors’ Interests in Competing 
Businesses
During the year and up to the date of this report, save as 

disclosed below, none of the Directors (not being the INEDs) 

are considered to have interests in the businesses listed below 

which compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of 

the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules:

Mr. Lee Seng Huang is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust 

which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, 

APL, SHK HK Ind, APAC Resources Limited (“APAC”), Tian 

An China Investments Company Limited (“TACI”) and Asiasec 

Properties Limited (“Asiasec”) which, through their subsidiaries, 

are partly engaged in the businesses as follows:

–	 AGL, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in 

the businesses of money lending, trading and investment in 

securities and financial instruments;

–	 APL, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged 

in the businesses of money lending, property investment, 

trading and investment in securities in the resources and 

related industries and financial instruments;

–	 SHK HK Ind, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly 

engaged in investments in listed and unlisted financial 

instruments;

–	 APAC, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged 

in the business of money lending, investment and/or trading 

in listed securities in the resources and related industries;

–	 TACI, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in 

the businesses of money lending and property investment; 

and

–	 Asiasec, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly 

engaged in the business of property investment.

Although the abovementioned Director has competing interests 

in other companies by virtue of his shareholding, he will fulfill 

his fiduciary duties in order to ensure that he will act in the best 

interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole at all 

times. Hence the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses 

independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of 

such companies.

Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information that is publicly available to the 

Company and within the knowledge of its Directors as at the 

date of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient 

public float as required under the Listing Rules.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest 

customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total 

turnover for the year. Also, the aggregate purchases attributable 

to the Group’s five largest suppliers taken together were less 

than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None o f the D i rectors , the i r c lose assoc ia tes or any 

shareholders, which to the knowledge of the Directors own 

more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares, 

had a beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest 

suppliers and customers.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities
(1)	 Repurchase of Shares
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company repurchased a total of 9,177,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange at 

an aggregate consideration (before expenses) of HK$32,930,180. All the repurchased Shares were subsequently cancelled. The 

Directors believe that the repurchases of shares would lead to an enhancement of the net assets value per Share and/or earnings 

per Share of the Company.

Particulars of the repurchases are as follows:

Month

Number of 

Shares

repurchased

Purchase price

Aggregate 

consideration

(before expenses) Highest Lowest 

(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)     

January – – – –

February – – – –

March 2,100,000 3.85 3.81 8,045,480

April – – – –

May 1,028,000 3.70 3.67 3,798,760

June 2,288,000 3.65 3.50 8,213,220

July – – – –

August 730,000 3.35 3.30 2,433,070

September 1,270,000 3.39 3.28 4,282,010

October 145,000 3.37 3.33 485,480

November 855,000 3.45 3.40 2,943,360

December 761,000 3.72 3.39 2,728,800     

9,177,000 32,930,180     

(2)	 Repurchase and redemption of Guaranteed Notes of a subsidiary, SHK BVI
During the year, US$111,871,000 in the principal amount of 4.75% Guaranteed Notes due May 2021 under the US$3,000,000,000 

MTN Programme and US$104,814,000 in the principal amount of 4.65% Guaranteed Notes due September 2022 issued by SHK 

BVI under the MTN Programme were purchased and redeemed by the Company (the “Notes Repurchase”) by a tender offer and 

were cancelled on 15 November 2019. Details of the Notes Repurchase were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 

5 November 2019, 14 November 2019 and 17 November 2019 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 

or its subsidiaries’ listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Auditor
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by 

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire and, being 

eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Huang

Group Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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TO THE MEMBERS OF SUN HUNG KAI & CO. LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sun 
Hung Kai & Co. Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 79 to 
156, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have 
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial instruments classified as level 3 under fair value hierarchy

We identified the valuation of financial instruments classified as level 

3 under the fair value hierarchy (“Level 3 financial instruments”) as a 

key audit matter due to the degree of complexity involved in valuing 

the instruments and the significance of the judgements and estimates 

made by management. In particular, the determination of unobservable 

inputs is considerably more subjective given the lack of availability of 

market-based data.

At 31 December 2019, HK$8,805.8 million of the Group’s total 

financial assets (including financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income of HK$8.5 million and financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss of HK$8,797.3 million) and HK$18.2 

million of the Group’s total financial liabilities carried at fair value were 

classified as level 3 under fair value hierarchy.

These mainly include an unlisted put right for shares in an associate, 

unlisted overseas equity securities with a put right for shares and 

unlisted overseas investment funds and other investments with carrying 

amount at 31 December 2019 of HK$1,387.0 million, HK$778.7 

million, HK$6,292.7 million and HK$338.9 million, respectively.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of Level 3 financial 

instruments included:

–	 Obtaining an understanding of the valuation methodologies and 

the processes performed by management with respect to the 

valuation of Level 3 financial instruments;

–	 For a sample of financial instruments, performing the following 

procedures, with the assistance of our internal valuation 

specialists, as appropriate:

•	 Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodologies and 

valuation techniques used by management for Level 3 

financial instruments; and

•	 Assessing the reasonableness and relevance of key 

assumptions and inputs based on our industry knowledge;

–	 In respect of the unlisted put right for shares in an associate and 

unlisted overseas equity securities with a put right for shares, 

in addition to the above procedures, testing the mathematical 

accuracy of the valuation model with the assistance of our internal 

valuation specialists;

–	 In respect of the unlisted overseas investment funds, checking 

the net asset value against financial information provided by the 

fund managers or fund administrators on a sample basis, as 

appropriate; and

–	 Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s fair value disclosures 

including the valuation techniques, fair value hierarchy and 

other related disclosures in note 27 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Key Audit Matters (Continued)
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

We have identified the estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible 

assets with indefinite useful lives as a key audit matter due to the 

inherent subjectivity arising from the significant management judgement 

involved as stated in note 4.

As shown in notes 22 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements, 

the Group has goodwill and trade mark of HK$2,384.0 million and 

HK$868.0 million respectively arising from the acquisition of United Asia 

Finance Limited (“UAF”).

The recoverable amount of UAF, a cash-generating unit (consumer 

finance segment), represents the value in use based on discounted 

estimated future cash flows over a five-year period. The recoverable 

amount of UAF was determined to be in excess of its net carrying 

amount. Further details are shown in note 23 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of goodwill and 

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives included:

–	 Obtaining an understanding of the valuation methodology and the 

processes with respect to the valuation of the recoverable amount 

(which represents the value in use) of UAF;

–	 Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methodology 

and the models used by management, with the assistance of our 

internal valuation specialists;

–	 Comparing the current year actual cash flows with the prior year 

cash flow projections and assessing the reasonableness for the 

changes of those assumptions (e.g. average growth rate on the 

profit before tax) used in the current year and future years;

–	 Assessing the reasonableness of other key inputs used by 

management (e.g. sustainable growth rate and discount rate) 

based on our knowledge of the business and industry, with the 

assistance of our internal valuation specialists; and

–	 Testing the mathematical accuracy of the value in use calculation.

Estimated impairment of interest in an associate

We identified the estimated impairment of interest in an associate 

as a key audit matter due to the significant management judgement 

involved.

An interest in associate is required to be tested for impairment 

whenever there is an impairment indicator.

As shown in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, the 

Group has a 30% equity interest in Sun Hung Kai Financial Group 

Limited (“SHKFGL”), which is an interest in an associate. At 31 

December 2019, the net carrying amount of the interest in SHKFGL is 

HK$976.0 million, after impairment of HK$641.8 million.

The recoverable amount of the 30% equity interest in SHKFGL is 

measured at fair value less cost of disposal. Further details are shown 

in note 11b to the consolidated financial statements.

The determination of the recoverable amount of 30% equity interest 

in SHKFGL involves significant management judgement. The key 

judgement is considered to be in relation to the determination of the 

fair value less cost of disposal which is based on the discounted 

expected future cash flows of SHKFGL.

Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of interest in an 

associate included:

–	 Obtaining an understanding of the valuation methodology and the 

processes applied by management with respect to the valuation 

of the recoverable amount of the 30% equity interest in SHKFGL;

–	 Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methodology 

and the models used by management with the assistance of our 

internal valuation specialists;

–	 Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions and inputs (e.g. 

cash flows, discount rate) used by management based on our 

knowledge of the business and industry, with the assistance of 

our internal valuation specialists; and

–	 Testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash flow 

calculations.

Key Audit Matters (Continued)
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of loans and advances to consumer finance customers, mortgage loans and term loans (loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”))

We identified the impairment of loans and advances to consumer 

finance customers, mortgage loans and term loans as a key audit 

matter due to significant management judgement involved in 

identification and measurement of loss allowance for ECL.

As disclosed in notes 30, 31 and 32 to the consolidated financial 

statements, the Group has loans and advances to consumer finance 

customers of HK$10,413.5 million, after recognising an impairment 

allowance of HK$707.8 million, mortgage loans of HK$3,626.9 million, 

after recognising an impairment allowance of HK$21.7 million and term 

loans of HK$1,906.2 million, after recognising an impairment allowance 

of HK$311.4 million, as at 31 December 2019.

The assessment of impairment for loans and advances to consumer 

finance customers, mortgage loans and term loans involves significant 

management judgements and estimates on the amount of expected 

credit loss at the reporting date.

At each reporting date, management assesses whether there has been 

a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition 

by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected life 

between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. 

Management considers reasonably supportable information that is 

relevant and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. 

This includes quantitative and qualitative information and also, forward-

looking analysis.

In assessing the lifetime ECL on credit-impaired financial assets 

classified as stage 3, the Group performs an assessment based on the 

Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors specific 

to the borrowers, general economic conditions, the current conditions 

at the reporting date and forward-looking analysis. The Group also 

reviews the amount and timing of future cash flows, guarantees, value 

of the collateral received from the customers in measuring impairment. 

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating the impairment 

amount are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss 

estimates and actual loss experience.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of loans and advances to 

consumer finance customers, mortgage loans and term loans included:

–	 Understanding the approach applied in the determination of 

ECL for loans and advances to consumer finance customers, 

mortgage loans and term loans;

–	 Understanding key controls over the way in which management 

estimates impairment for loans and advances to consumer 

finance customers, mortgage loans and term loans;

–	 Testing the integrity of information used by management to 

develop the provision matrix on a sample basis, by comparing 

individual items in the analysis with the relevant loan agreements 

and other supporting documents;

–	 Challenging management’s basis and judgement used in 

determining the appropriateness of management’s grouping of 

the loans and advances to consumer finance customers and 

mortgage loans into different categories in the provision matrix, 

the inputs and assumptions applied on the ECL model, including 

probability of default, loss given default, the Group’s historical loss 

experience and forward-looking information, with the assistance 

of our internal specialists;

–	 Assessing the appropriateness of the inputs and assumptions 

applied in the determination of ECL for term loans, including 

probability of default, loss given default and forward-looking 

information, with the assistance of our internal specialists;

–	 Reviewing the Group’s historical loss experience;

Key Audit Matters (Continued)



Annual Report 2019 /     77

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

–	 Assessing the reasonableness and appropr iateness of 

management’s judgement on staging criteria for determining if a 

significant increase in credit risk has occurred and the basis for 

classification of exposures into one of the three stages required 

by HKFRS 9 by examining loan exposures on a sample basis 

to evaluate if there has been timely identification of significant 

increase in credit risk and appropriate classification of loan 

exposures into one of the three stages required by HKFRS 9;

–	 Testing the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of ECL;

–	 For loans and advances to consumer finance customers, 

mortgage loans and term loans classified at stage 3, we examined 

underlying documentation supporting the value of collateral, if 

any, and management’s key estimations used in the individual 

impairment assessment for loans and advances to consumer 

finance customers, mortgage loans and term loans on a sample 

basis; and

–	 Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment of loans and 

advances to consumer finance customers, mortgage loans and 

term loans in notes 30, 31, 32 and 47 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. Other Information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover Other Information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Responsibilities of Directors and Those 
Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely 
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit result ing in the 
independent auditor’s report is Chong Kwok Shing.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2020
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(HK$ Million) Notes 2019 2018

Interest income 4,125.1 4,070.0

Other revenue 5 91.7 105.7

Other gains 7 14.5 408.9  
Total income 4,231.3 4,584.6

Brokerage and commission expenses (43.9) (50.5)

Advertising and promotion expenses (147.3) (159.2)

Direct cost and operating expenses (104.2) (89.5)

Administrative expenses 11 (1,152.1) (1,167.2)

Net gain on financial assets and  

liabilities at fair value through  

profit or loss 12 1,807.7 234.4

Net exchange gain 82.5 14.2

Net impairment losses  

on financial instruments 13 (1,024.4) (901.7)

Finance costs 14 (777.7) (666.8)

Other losses 11 (179.0) (1.6)  
2,692.9 1,796.7

Share of results of associates 48.6 30.8

Share of results of joint ventures 1.9 3.8  
Profit before taxation 11 2,743.4 1,831.3

Taxation 15 (228.8) (220.7)  
Profit for the year 2,514.6 1,610.6  
Profit attributable to:

— Owners of the Company 2,085.2 1,183.8

— Non-controlling interests 24 429.4 426.8  
2,514.6 1,610.6  

Earnings per share 17

— Basic (HK cents) 104.4 56.2  
— Diluted (HK cents) 104.2 56.1  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR 
LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR 
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Profit for the year 2,514.6 1,610.6

Other comprehensive (expenses) 

income:

Items that will not be reclassified to  

profit or loss

Fair value loss on investments in equity 

instrument of fair value through other 

comprehensive income (13.9) (110.3)  
(13.9) (110.3)

Items that may be reclassified  

subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences arising  

on translating foreign operations (113.7) (335.8)

Reclassification adjustment to profit or loss  

on disposal of joint ventures – 2.8

Share of other comprehensive income  

(expenses) of associates 4.2 (0.8)

Share of other comprehensive expenses of  

joint ventures (3.5) (3.2)  
(113.0) (337.0)  

Other comprehensive expenses for the year (126.9) (447.3)  
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,387.7 1,163.3  
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

— Owners of the Company 1,997.3 876.7

— Non-controlling interests 390.4 286.6  
2,387.7 1,163.3  
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(HK$ Million) Notes 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Non-current Assets

Investment properties 18 1,312.5 1,360.9

Leasehold interests in land – 4.0

Property and equipment 19 377.2 412.1

Right-of-use assets 20 125.5 –

Intangible assets 21 893.2 890.2

Goodwill 22 2,384.0 2,384.0

Interest in associates 25 1,196.1 1,380.4

Interest in joint ventures 26 445.5 240.2

Financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 27 129.5 174.4

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 27 7,687.2 6,360.9

Deferred tax assets 28 780.0 729.9

Amounts due from associates 29 261.3 266.7

Loans and advances to consumer 

finance customers 30 2,770.5 2,618.9

Mortgage loans 31 1,270.7 1,956.8

Term loans 32 49.6 33.1

Trade receivables, prepayments and 

other receivables 33 20.4 22.9  
19,703.2 18,835.4  

Current Assets

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 27 4,285.6 4,378.6

Taxation recoverable 3.7 5.0

Amounts due from associates 29 68.6 97.1

Loans and advances to consumer 

finance customers 30 7,643.0 7,150.8

Mortgage loans 31 2,356.2 1,897.4

Term loans 32 1,856.6 2,452.1

Trade receivables, prepayments and 

other receivables 33 466.8 364.8

Amounts due from brokers 451.7 507.0

Short-term pledged bank deposits 

and bank balances 34 33.2 20.0

Bank deposits 34 68.1 353.5

Cash and cash equivalents 34 5,624.9 4,622.4  
22,858.4 21,848.7  

(HK$ Million) Notes 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Current Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss 27 715.8 425.3

Bank and other borrowings 35 5,659.9 5,221.3

Trade payables, other payables and 

accruals 36 338.4 236.9

Financial assets sold under  

repurchase agreements 37 386.2 1,216.5

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 

and a holding company 38 35.3 519.0

Amounts due to associates 38 – 1.9

Provisions 39 152.9 103.5

Taxation payable 339.6 175.7

Lease liabilities 40 89.9 –

Notes/paper payable 41 569.5 752.7  
8,287.5 8,652.8  

Net Current Assets 14,570.9 13,195.9  
Total Assets less Current 

Liabilities 34,274.1 32,031.3  
Capital and Reserves

Share capital 42 8,752.3 8,752.3

Reserves 11,629.4 10,286.9  
Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company 20,381.7 19,039.2

Non-controlling interests 24 3,194.9 3,805.9  
Total Equity 23,576.6 22,845.1  
Non-current Liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 28 143.0 176.9

Bank and other borrowings 35 2,497.2 1,961.8

Provisions 39 0.3 0.2

Lease liabilities 40 27.8 –

Notes/paper payable 41 8,029.2 7,047.3  
10,697.5 9,186.2  
34,274.1 32,031.3  

  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 156 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
30 March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Seng Huang Simon Chow Wing Charn

Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

(HK$ Million)

Share 

capital

Shares held 

for Employee 

Ownership 

Scheme

Employee 

share-based 

compensation 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Revaluation 

reserve

Capital 

reserves

Retained 

earnings Total

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total 

equity

At 1 January 2019 8,752.3 (29.7) 10.5 (287.6) 195.9 77.5 10,320.3 19,039.2 3,805.9 22,845.1          
Profit for the year – – – – – – 2,085.2 2,085.2 429.4 2,514.6

Other comprehensive expenses for the year (Note 43) – – – (72.5) (15.4) – – (87.9) (39.0) (126.9)          
Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year – – – (72.5) (15.4) – 2,085.2 1,997.3 390.4 2,387.7          
Transfer of revaluation reserve to retained earnings – – – – (19.1) – 19.1 – – –

Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments – – 9.7 – – – – 9.7 – 9.7

Purchase of shares for the SHK Employee Ownership Scheme – (4.7) – – – – – (4.7) – (4.7)

Vesting of shares of the SHK Employee Ownership Scheme – 11.9 (11.9) – – – – – – –

Interim dividends paid – – – – – – (521.0) (521.0) – (521.0)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – (375.9) (375.9)

Capital redemption of non-controlling interests – – – – – – (106.0) (106.0) (625.5) (731.5)

Shares repurchased and cancelled – – – – – – (33.0) (33.0) – (33.0)

Unclaimed dividends forfeited – – – – – – 0.2 0.2 – 0.2

Transfer retained earnings to capital reserves – – – – – 7.3 (7.3) – – –          
At 31 December 2019 8,752.3 (22.5) 8.3 (360.1) 161.4 84.8 11,757.5 20,381.7 3,194.9 23,576.6          
       

Attributable to owners of the Company 

(HK$ Million)

Share 

capital

Shares held 

for Employee 

Ownership 

Scheme

Employee 

share-based 

compensation 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Revaluation 

reserve

Capital 

reserves

Retained

 earnings Total

Non-

controlling

 interests

Total 

equity

At 31 December 2017 8,752.3 (7.6) 4.9 (89.8) 546.1 75.1 10,145.7 19,426.7 3,971.8 23,398.5

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 – – – – (240.9) – 204.1 (36.8) (34.6) (71.4)          
At 1 January 2018 8,752.3 (7.6) 4.9 (89.8) 305.2 75.1 10,349.8 19,389.9 3,937.2 23,327.1          
Profit for the year – – – – – – 1,183.8 1,183.8 426.8 1,610.6

Other comprehensive expenses for the year (Note 43) – – – (197.8) (109.3) – – (307.1) (140.2) (447.3)            
Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year – – – (197.8) (109.3) – 1,183.8 876.7 286.6 1,163.3          
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments – – 8.3 – – – – 8.3 – 8.3

Purchase of shares for the SHK Employee Ownership Scheme – (24.8) – – – – – (24.8) – (24.8)

Vesting of shares of the SHK Employee Ownership Scheme – 2.7 (2.7) – – – – – – –

Interim dividends paid – – – – – – (560.0) (560.0) – (560.0)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – (417.9) (417.9)

Shares repurchased and cancelled – – – – – – (650.9) (650.9) – (650.9)

Transfer retained earnings to capital reserves – – – – – 2.4 (2.4) – – –          
At 31 December 2018 8,752.3 (29.7) 10.5 (287.6) 195.9 77.5 10,320.3 19,039.2 3,805.9 22,845.1          
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(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Operating activities
Profit for the year 2,514.6 1,610.6
Adjustments for:
– Share of results of associates (48.6) (30.8)
– Share of results of joint ventures (1.9) (3.8)
– Taxation 228.8 220.7
– Dividend income (10.8) (11.3)
– Interest income (4,125.1) (4,070.0)
– Profit on disposal of subsidiaries – (132.4)
– Loss on disposal of joint ventures – 0.5
– Decrease (increase) in fair value of  

investment properties 42.2 (185.1)
– Expenses recognised for the SHK 

Employee Ownership Scheme 9.7 8.3
– Amortisation of leasehold interests  

in land – 0.2
– Amortisation of intangible assets 1.9 1.9
– Depreciation of property and equipment 45.9 53.5
– Depreciation of right-of-use assets 84.5 –
– Net loss on disposal/write-off  

of equipment 0.9 1.1
– Charge (written back) of impairment  

in an associate 135.9 (66.7)
– Net impairment on financial instruments 1,219.8 1,098.9
– Interest expenses 741.0 637.8
– Interest on lease liabilities 5.5 –
– Net fair value gain on financial assets  

and liabilities (1,807.7) (179.0)
– Exchange differences 1.4 8.3  
Operating cash flows before  

movements in working capital (962.0) (1,037.3)
Change in financial assets at fair  

value through profit or loss 529.4 1,232.6
Change in amounts due from associates 28.3 47.1
Change in loans and advances to  

consumer finance customers (1,691.7) (1,806.4)
Change in mortgage loans 212.3 (1,722.1)
Change in term loans 465.5 605.5
Change in trade receivables,  

prepayments and other receivables (149.0) (61.1)
Change in amounts due from brokers 55.3 218.9
Change in financial liabilities at fair  

value through profit or loss 290.4 264.1
Change in trade payables,  

other payables and accruals 103.4 1.6
Change in financial assets sold  

under repurchase agreements (830.3) 145.5
Change in amounts due to  

a holding company (10.9) (5.1)
Change in provisions 44.9 13.4  
Cash used in operations (1,914.4) (2,103.3)
Dividends received from equity 

investments 10.8 6.3
Interest received 4,088.4 4,008.6
Interest paid (667.3) (525.0)
Taxation paid (157.6) (270.4)  
Net cash from operating activities 1,359.9 1,116.2  

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (13.5) (27.8)
Proceeds on disposal of equipment 0.3 0.3
Payment of deposits of right-of-use assets (3.2) –
Prepaid rental for right-of-use assets (13.4) –
Purchase of intangible assets (5.0) (10.1)
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries – 70.0
Proceeds on disposal of joint ventures – 3.2
Capital injection to a joint venture (207.0) (72.1)
Dividends received from associates 99.2 84.6
Purchase of long-term financial assets as  

at fair value through profit or loss (717.9) (1,326.0)
Proceeds on disposal of long-term  

financial assets as at fair value  
through profit or loss 787.9 621.9

Proceeds from disposal of financial 
assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive incomes 6.1 –

Net fixed deposits with banks withdrawal 270.7 390.7  
Net cash from (used in)  

investing activities 204.2 (265.3)  
Financing activities
Short-term loans due to fellow  

subsidiaries (repaid) raised (481.6) 388.7
Net short-term bank and other  

borrowings repaid (19,034.0) (12,590.2)
New long-term bank and other  

borrowings raised 19,967.6 16,018.8
Proceeds from issue of notes/paper 3,989.8 795.1
Redemption of notes/paper (1,718.9) (576.4)
Repayment of notes/paper (1,498.7) (616.5)
Purchase of shares for the SHK  

Employee Ownership Scheme (4.7) (24.8)
Lease payments (77.6) –
Shares repurchased and cancelled (33.0) (650.9)
Capital redemption of non-controlling 

interests (731.5) –
Dividends paid (521.0) (560.0)
Dividends to non-controlling interests (375.9) (417.9)  
Net cash (used in) from financing 

activities (519.5) 1,765.9  
Net change in cash and cash  

equivalents 1,044.6 2,616.8
Cash and cash equivalents at  

1 January 4,622.4 2,123.7
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (42.1) (118.1)  
Cash and cash equivalents at  

the end of the year (Note 34) 5,624.9 4,622.4  
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1.	 General
The Company is a public limited company incorporated in 
Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited. Its parent is AP Emerald Limited. Its 
ultimate holding company is Allied Group Limited, a public 
limited company which is listed and incorporated in Hong 
Kong. The ultimate controlling party of the Company are the 
trustees of the Lee and Lee Trust. The address of the principal 
place of business of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust is 24/F, 
Allied Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong. The address of the registered office of the Company is 
disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the Annual 
Report. The principal place of business of the Company is in 
Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong 
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional 
currency of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment 
holding company and the principal activities of its major 
subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 24.

2.	 Application of New and Amendments 
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are 
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to 
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to  

HKAS 19

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to  

HKAS 28

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint 

Ventures

Amendments to  

HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 

Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and 
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material 
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for 
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in 
these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the 
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 
17”), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected to apply a practical expedient as set 
out in HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as 
leases according to HKAS 17 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. As a result, the 
Group will not apply these standards to contracts that were not 
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group 
has not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the 
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance 
with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing 
whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the 
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 
1 January 2019. As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised 
additional lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts 
equal to the related lease liabilities adjusted by any prepaid 
or accrued lease payments by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) 
transition. Any difference at the date of initial application is 
recognised in the opening retained earnings and comparative 
information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under 
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following 
practical expedients to leases previously classified as operating 
leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent 
relevant to the respective lease contracts:

•	 relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous 
by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment review;

•	 elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for leases where the lease term ends within 12 
months of the date of initial application;

•	 excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use 
assets at the date of initial application;

•	 applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with 
similar remaining terms for a similar class of underlying 
assets in a similar economic environment.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously 
classif ied as operating leases, the Group has applied 
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the 
date of initial application. The weighted average incremental 
borrowing rate applied is 4.6%.
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Notes:

(a)	 Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC were classified as prepaid 

lease payments as at 31 December 2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16, 

the current and non-current portion of prepaid lease payments amounting to 

HK$0.1 million and HK$4.0 million respectively were reclassified to right-of-

use assets.

(b)	 Rental prepayments previously included in prepayments, deposits and other 

receivables amounting to HK$7.7 million were reclassified to right-of-use 

assets as at 1 January 2019.

(c)	 In relation to the leases of office properties where the Group acts as 

lessee, the carrying amount of the estimated costs of reinstating the rented 

premises previously included in property and equipment amounting to 

HK$1.4 million as at 1 January 2019 were included as right-of-use assets.

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but 
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to  

HKFRS 3

Definition of a Business2

Amendments to  

HKFRS 10 and  

HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to  

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Definition of Material4

Amendments to  

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39  

and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform4

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
2	 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which 

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, 
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the 
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in 
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the 
application of any of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will 
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements 
in the foreseeable future.

2.	 Application of New and Amendments 
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are 
mandatorily effective for the current year 
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

(HK$ Million)
At 1 January 

2019

Operating lease commitments  
disclosed as at 31 December 2018 182.8 

Less:
Recognition exemption – short-term leases (42.2)
Discounting effects using relevant incremental  

borrowing rates (5.5) 
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 135.1 
Analysed as
– Current 72.1
– Non-current 63.0 

135.1 
  

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January 
2019 comprises the following:

(HK$ Million) Notes
Right-of-

use assets

Right-of-use assets relating to  
operating leases recognised  
upon application of HKFRS 16 135.1

Reclassified from leasehold interests  
in land (a) 4.1

Reclassified from rental prepayments (b) 7.7
Amounts included in property and 

equipment under HKAS 17
– Restoration and reinstatement costs (c) 1.4 

148.3 
By class:
– Leasehold lands 4.1
– Retail shops 144.2 

148.3 
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies
(a)	 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cert i f ied Public 
Accountants. In addition, the consolidated financial statements 
include the applicable disclosures required by the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance (Cap. 622).

(b)	Basis of preparation and consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end 
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value 
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing 
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of 
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are 
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 
2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are 
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories 
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 
in its highest and best use.

In addition, for f inancial reporting purposes, fair value 
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

–	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;

–	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

–	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or 
liability.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and the 
Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures. The income 
and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 
the year are included in profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the 
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a debit balance.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries are presented separately 
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present 
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate 
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

(c)	 Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated 
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to 
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the 
acquisition date, except that:

–	 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets 
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised 
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income 
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

–	 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based 
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement 
of an acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with 
share-based payment transactions of the Group are 
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based 
Payment” at the acquisition date; and

–	 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for 
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured 
in accordance with that Standard.

–	 lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present 
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in 
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at 
the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the 
lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; 
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use 
assets are recognised and measured at the same amount 
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable 
or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with 
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the 
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the 
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase 
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests 
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s 
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the 
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised 
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the 
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date 
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, 
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the 
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and measured 
under HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 would be accounted for on the same 
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly 
of the previously held equity interest.

(d)	Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially recognised as an 
asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which 
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes 
and not larger than an operating segment.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

(d)	Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to 
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the 
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition 
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of 
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is 
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. 
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or 
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of 
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating 
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When 
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating 
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating 
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on 
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

(e)	 Interest in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over 
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group has power over an entity, is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect these returns through its power over 
the entity.

Control is generally accompanied by a shareholding of more 
than one half of the voting rights. When the Group has less than 
a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over 
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the 
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in subsidiaries that 
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts 
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of 
relevant reserves between the Group and the non – controlling 
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate interests. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and 
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or 
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the 
fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying 
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Where certain 
assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts 
or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity, the accumulated amounts in equity are accounted for 
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category 
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The 
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary 
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on 
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, 
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment 
in an associate or a joint venture.

(f)	 Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant 
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is 
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that 
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net 
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only 
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.
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(f)	 Interests in associates and joint ventures 
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint 
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial 
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity 
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting 
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in 
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment 
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate 
or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint 
venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted 
in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When 
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture 
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture 
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, 
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint 
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further 
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that 
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted 
for using the equity method from the date in which the investee 
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the 
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the 
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is 
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying 
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over 
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that 
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. 
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount 
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single 
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value 
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying 
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to 
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying 
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the 
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an 
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted 
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a 
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When 
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint 
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the 
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest 
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair 
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of 
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the 
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in 
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate 
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation 
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be 
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that 
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss 
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group 
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a 
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the 
relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an 
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a 
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an 
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair 
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate 
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity 
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion 
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership 
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss 
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint 
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised 
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the 
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not 
related to the Group.
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(g)	 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or 
for capital appreciation.

Effective 1 January 2019, investment properties also include 
leased properties which are being recognised as right-of-use 
assets upon application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by the 
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including 
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, 
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease 
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period 
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when 
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and 
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the 
period in which the property is derecognised.

(h)	 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible assets that are held 
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or 
for administrative purposes. All property and equipment are 
stated at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. Costs 
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. Depreciation 
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write 
off the cost of each asset less its residual value over its estimated 
useful life as follows:

Property – shorter of the estimated useful life and the 

remaining lease term of land

Furniture and  

equipment

– 10% to 33% per annum

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

If an item of property included in “property and equipment” 
becomes an investment property because its use has changed 
as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference 
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item 
at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the revaluation reserve. On the 
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant 
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained 
earnings.

For a transfer from an investment property carried at fair value 
to owner-occupied property, the property’s deemed cost for 
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in 
use.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses 
on disposals or retirement are determined by comparing the 
disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in 
profit or loss.

(i)	 Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in 
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of 
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is 
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 
at inception or modification date. Such contract will not be 
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are 
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 
in accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or 
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease 
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the 
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the 
non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component 
on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.



90     / Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

3.	 Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

(i)	 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 
in accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract 
(Continued)

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are 
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably 
expects that the effects on the financial statements would not 
differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption 
to leases of its office properties, outlets and signboards 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. 
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value 
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, the 
Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement 
date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available 
for use) and are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement 

date, less any lease incentives received;
•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and
•	 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in 

dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring 
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying 
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions 
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item 
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at 
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are 
considered as additional lease payments and included in the 
cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises 
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease 
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present 
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest 
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

•	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable; and

•	 payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease 
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by 
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate 
lease if:

•	 the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding 
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

•	 the consideration for the leases increases by an amount 
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase 
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular 
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate 
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the 
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised 
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective 
date of the modification.
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(i)	 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of 
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, 
unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in 
which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 
general policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy 
below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land 
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals 
arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered 
as integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a 
straight-line basis.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance 
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a 
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment 
properties measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s 
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 
in accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease 
components, the Group appl ies HKFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate 
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components. 
Non-lease components are separated from lease component 
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under 
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to 
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease 
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease 
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification, 
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating 
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new 
lease.

(j)	 Intangible assets

(i)	 Club memberships

Represents the right to use the facilities of various clubs, with 
management considering that the club membership does not 
have a finite useful life.

(ii)	 Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software. These costs are amortised using the straight-
line method.
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(j)	 Intangible assets (Continued)

(iii)	 Intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they 
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair value 
can be measured reliably. Such intangible assets are measured 
at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite 
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for 
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are 
also examined on an annual basis and adjustments where 
applicable are made on a prospective basis. Intangible assets 
with indefinite lives are carried at cost less any subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses and are tested for impairment 
annually by comparing their recoverable amount with their 
carrying amount.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, 
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or 
loss when the asset is derecognised.

(k)	 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time 
frame established by regulation or convention in the market 
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at 
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts 
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and 
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group’s 
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequent ly  measured at  fa i r  va lue through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting 
contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at 
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a 
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither 
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an 
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business 
Combinations applies.
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(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in 
the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that the Group manages together and 
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost 
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)	 Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method for f inancial assets measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. For financial instruments other than purchased 
or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income 
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see 
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset 
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset 
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period 
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit 
impaired.

(ii)	 Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently 
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the revaluation reserve; and are not 
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss 
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity 
investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are 
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the 
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent 
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are 
included in the “other revenue” line item in profit or loss.

(iii)	 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured 
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset and is included in the “net gain on financial assets 
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected 
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade 
and other receivables, bank deposits, short-term pledged bank 
deposits and bank balances, cash and cash equivalents, loans 
and advances to consumer finance customers, mortgage loans, 
term loans, amounts due from brokers and amounts due from 
associates) and other items (loan commitments and financial 
guarantee contracts)which are subject to impairment under 
HKFRS 9.

The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. 
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion 
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 
Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast 
of future conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, 
unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. 
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised 
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a 
default occurring since initial recognition.
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(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date 
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as 
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the 
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonably supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without undue 
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account 
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the 
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit 
rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of 
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, 
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in (1) regulatory, 
economic or technological environments; (2) business or 
financial conditions that are expected to cause a significant 
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the 
operating results of the debtor; or

•	 financial re-organisation/restructuring entered by the 
debtors.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the 
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more 
than 30 days past due (except for term loans where a longer 
period of “past due” has been applied by the directors of the 
Company in view of the nature of the operation of the business 
and practice in managing the credit risk), unless the Group has 
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, 
the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable 
commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition 
for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for 
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant 
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan 
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a 
default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment 
relates; for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers 
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on 
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria 
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the 
criteria are capable of identifying a significant increase in credit 
risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii)	 Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an 
event of default occurs when information developed internally 
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without 
taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has 
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past 
due (except for term loans where a longer period of “past due” 
has been applied by the directors of the Company in view of 
the nature of the operation of the business and practice in 
managing the credit risk) unless the Group has reasonably 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate. In particular, the following 
qualitative indicators are taken into account in determining the 
risk of a default occurring:

•	 probable bankruptcy entered by the borrowers; and
•	 death of the debtor.

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of 
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that 
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data 
about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
(c)	 the lenders of the borrower, for economic or contractual 

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having 
granted to the borrower concessions that the lenders 
would not otherwise consider;

(d)	 probable bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 
entered by the debtor;

(e)	 probable shortfall that expected cash inflows from the 
realisation of collateral is below the carrying amount of 
financial assets; or

(f)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial 
asset because of financial difficulties.
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(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)	 Write-off policy

The Group writes off the gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty 
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has entered 
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may 
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where 
appropriate.

A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent 
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of 
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there 
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the 
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical 
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL 
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is 
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the 
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial 
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to 
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in 
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. 
Accordingly, the expected losses is the present value of the 
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss 
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to 
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the present value of 
the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due 
to the Group if the holder of the loan commitments draws down 
the loan, and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive 
if the loan is drawn down.

For ECL on f inancial  guarantee contracts or on loan 
commitments for which the effective interest rate cannot be 
determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects 
the current market assessment of the time value of money and 
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to 

the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting 
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being 
discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or caters for 
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may not 
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the 
following basis:

•	 Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade 
receivables and other receivables, loans and advances 
to consumer finance customers and mortgage loans are 
each assessed by using provision matrix for the balances 
which are not individually significant, grouped by internal 
credit rating which is determined with reference the past-
due status. Term loans, amounts due from associates and 
brokers are assessed for expected credit losses on an 
individual basis); and

•	 Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure 
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit 
risk characteristics in accordance with the internal credit risk 
categories as disclosed in Note 47.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit 
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on 
amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are 
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance 
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount 
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount 
of income recognised over the guarantee period.

For undrawn loan commitments, the loss allowances are the 
present value of the difference between:

(a)	 the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the 
holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan: and

(b)	 the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is 
drawn down.

Except for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, 
the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or 
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying 
amount, with the exception of term loans, trade receivables and 
other receivables, loans and advances to consumer finance 
customers and mortgage loans where the corresponding 
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account. For 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss 
allowances are recognised as provisions.
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(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi)	 Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset. If the Group neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, 
the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which 
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at 
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in 
the revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is 
transferred to retained earnings.

(vii)	Fair value measurement principles

Fair values of quoted investments are based on quoted 
prices. For unlisted securities or financial assets without an 
active market, the Group establishes the fair value by using 
appropriate valuation techniques including the use of recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to other investments that 
are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and 
option pricing models.

(l)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank 
balances and short-term time deposits. Bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s 
cash management are included as a component of cash and 
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement 
of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for 
expected credit losses in accordance with Note 3(k)(v).

(m)	Financial liabilities

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial 
liability and an equity instrument.

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

(i)	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial 
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business 
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) 
it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 
repurchasing it in the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that the Group manages together and 
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial 
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging 
instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading 
or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business 
combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if:

•	 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

•	 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial 
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, 
in accordance with the Group’s documented r isk 
management or investment strategy, and information about 
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•	 it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire 
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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(m)	Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification as debt or equity (Continued)

(i)	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
(Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the 
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability 
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability 
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the 
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk 
in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an 
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value 
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to 
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

(ii)	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings, 
trade payables, other payables, financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements, amounts due to related companies 
and notes/paper payable are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

(iii)	 Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the 
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment 
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 
Financial guarantee are measured initially at their fair value. It is 
subsequently measured at the higher of:

•	 the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance 
with HKFRS 9; and

•	 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, 
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee 
period.

(iv)	 Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements continue 
to be recognised, (i.e. the repurchase agreements do not result 
in a derecognition of the financial assets), and are recorded 
as “financial assets at FVTPL”. Financial assets sold subject 
to agreements with a commitment to repurchase at a specific 
future date are not derecognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. The proceeds from selling such assets are 
presented as “financial liabilities for repurchase agreements” 

in the consolidated statement of financial position. Financial 
liabilities for repurchase agreements are initially measured at fair 
value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

(v)	 Derecognition/non-substantial modification of financial 
liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a financial 
liability with substantially different terms as an extinguishment 
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
financial liability. A substantial modification of the terms of 
an existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not 
attributable to the financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted 
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the 
recognition of a new financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially different 
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the 
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received 
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at 
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value 
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. 
Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or modification 
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or 
fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the 
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as 
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 
10 per cent.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do 
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant 
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the 
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial 
liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs 
or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the 
modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining 
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial 
liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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(n)	 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is 
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue 
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. 
Repurchased shares that are not subsequently cancelled are 
classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from 
total equity.

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners is recognised as 
a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by 
the Directors or shareholders as appropriate.

Where the shares of the Company (“Awarded Shares”) are 
purchased under the SHK Employee Ownership Scheme, 
the consideration paid, including any directly attributable 
incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held for Employee 
Ownership Scheme” and deducted from equity. When the 
Awarded Shares are transferred to the awardees upon vesting, 
the related costs of the Awarded Shares are eliminated against 
the employee share-based compensation reserve and the 
remaining balances will be transferred to retained earnings.

(o)	Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when 
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting 
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective 
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the 
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial 
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. 
The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently 
measured in its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as 
appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are 
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated 
as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a 
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related 
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not 
measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument 
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a 
single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives 
relate to different risk exposures and are readily separable and 
independent of each other.

(p)	Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, if it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 
material).

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from 
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can 
also be a present obligation arising from past events that is 
not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of 
economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation 
cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change 
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is 
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(q)	 Impairment on property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other 
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-use 
assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine 
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for 
use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever 
there is an indication that they may be impaired.
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(q)	 Impairment on property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other 
than goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication 
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication 
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of 
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated 
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) 
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of 
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable 
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group 
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating 
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets 
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of 
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on 
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset 
in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying 
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair 
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if 
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that 
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated 
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount under another standard, in which case the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of 
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(r)	 Taxation

Income tax expenses represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because 
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, 
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising 
from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and 
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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(r)	 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the assets realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred 
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using 
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties 
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing 
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use 
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines 
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use 
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are 
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a 
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of 
depreciation on right-of-use-assets over the lease payments for 
the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible 
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied 
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, 
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, 
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where 
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting 
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, 
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant 
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or 

proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income 
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are 
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income 
tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority 
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each 
uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or 
the expected value.

(s)	 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group 
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the 
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations 
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. 
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the 
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless 
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in 
which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are 
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under 
the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling 
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of 
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a 
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint 
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation 
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of 
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of 
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are 
reclassified to profit or loss.
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(t)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for 
its intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that remain 
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use 
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation 
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings 
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from 
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred.

(u)	 Employee benefits

The Group operates defined contribution retirement schemes, 
the assets of which are held in independently administrated 
funds. The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution 
retirement schemes are expensed as the employees have 
rendered their services entitling them to the contributions and 
are reduced by contributions forfeited, if applicable, by those 
employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the 
contributions.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when 
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated 
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses 
and profit-sharing, where appropriate, based on approved 
formulas that take into consideration the profit attributable to 
the Group after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a 
provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

For the Awarded Shares granted under the SHK Employee 
Ownership Scheme, the fair value of the employee services 
received is determined by reference to the fair value of Awarded 
Shares granted at the grant date and is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period based on the Group’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with 
a corresponding increase in equity (employee share-based 
compensation reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the 
Group revises its estimates of the number of Awarded Shares 
that are expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant 
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of 
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such 
that the cumulative expenses reflects the revised estimate, 
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based 
compensation reserve.

(v)	 Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance 
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or 
services underlying the particular performance obligation is 
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or 
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of 
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over 
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction 
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following 
criteria is met:

•	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the 
Group performs;

•	 the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset 
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

•	 the Group’s performance does not create an asset with 
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to 
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the 
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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(v)	 Revenue from contracts with customers 
(Continued)

The group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are 
as follows:

(i)	 Interest income from financial assets is recognised on a 
time apportionment basis, taking into account the principal 
amounts outstanding and the effective interest applicable, 
which is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash 
flows through the expected life of the financial asset to that 
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

(ii)	 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the 
owners’ right to receive payment has been established.

(iii)	 Rental income arising on investment properties is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
regardless of when the cash rental payment is received.

(iv)	 Other service income is recognised over the time or at a 
point in time when the services are rendered in accordance 
with contract terms.

4.	 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are set out as follows.

(a)	 Impairment allowances on term loans

The ECL for term loans is based on the Group’s historical 
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking 
information that is reasonably supportable and available without 
undue cost or effort. At every reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the 
forward-looking information are considered. Term loans with 
significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL 
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. 
The estimates would include the amount and timing of future 
cash flows, guarantees and collateral values when determining 
impairment allowances. These estimates are driven by a 
number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels 
of allowances. The Group considers reasonably supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or 
effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative 
information and also, forward-looking analysis. Details of 
expected credit loss are set out in Note 47(b). The information 
about the ECL and the Group’s term loans are disclosed in 
Note 32.

(b)	 Impairment allowances on loans and 
advances to consumer finance customers 
and mortgage loans

The Group uses provision matrices to calculate ECL for the 
loans and advances to consumer finance customers and 
mortgage loans. The provision rates are based on ageing 
of different consumer finance loan products and based on 
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The 
provision matrices are based on the Group’s historical default 
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that 
is reasonably supportable and available without undue cost or 
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default 
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking 
information are considered. Loans and advances to consumer 
finance customers and mortgage loans with significant balances 
and which are credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. 
The estimates would include the amount and timing of future 
cash flows, guarantees and collateral values when determining 
impairment allowances. These estimates are driven by a 
number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels 
of allowances. The Group considers reasonably supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or 
effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative 
information and also, forward-looking analysis. Details of 
expected credit loss are set out in Note 47(b). The information 
about the ECL and the Group’s loans and advances to 
consumer finance customers and mortgage loans are disclosed 
in Note 30 and Note 31 respectively.

(c)	 Estimated impairment of goodwill and 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

The Group conducts tests for impairment of goodwil l 
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives annually 
in accordance with the relevant accounting standards. 
Determining whether the goodwill and the intangible assets are 
impaired requires an estimation of the fair value less cost to 
sell or value in use on the basis of data available to the Group. 
Where future cash flows are less than expected, an impairment 
loss may arise. The information about the impairment testing 
on goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
disclosed in Note 23.
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4.	 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
(Continued)

(d)	Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for recognition of deferred tax assets 
arising from tax losses and other deductible temporary 
differences requires a process that involves forecasting future 
years’ taxable income and assessing the Group’s ability to utilise 
tax benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future 
profits generated are more or less than expected, a recognition 
or reversal of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would 
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a 
recognition or reversal takes place. While the current financial 
models indicate that the recognised tax losses and deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised in the future, any changes 
in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can affect the 
recoverability of this deferred tax asset.

(e)	 Fair value of derivatives and financial 
instruments

As at 31 December 2019, a significant amount of the Group’s 
financial assets, including an unlisted put right for shares 
in an associate, unlisted overseas equity securities with a 
put right for shares and unlisted overseas investment funds 
with carrying amounts at 31 December 2019 of HK$1,387.0 
million, HK$778.7 million and HK$6,292.7 million, respectively 
(2018: HK$1,120.0 million, HK$856.6 million and HK$5,157.3 
mill ion) are measured at fair value with fair value being 
determined based on significant unobservable inputs using 
valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in 
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant 
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these 
factors could result in material adjustments to the fair value of 
these instruments. See Note 27 to the consolidated financial 
statements for further disclosures.

(f)	 Estimated impairment of interest in an 
associate

The Group disposed of a 70% equity interest in a wholly-
owned subsidiary Sun Hung Kai Financial Group Limited in 
June 2015 and classified the remaining 30% equity interest as 
an associate. The Group’s interest in Sun Hung Kai Financial 
Group Limited is tested for impairment whenever there is an 
impairment indicator. Determining whether the interest in the 
associate is impaired requires an estimation of the fair value 
less cost to sell or value in use on the basis of data available to 
the Group. The value in use calculation requires the Group to 
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less 
than expected, or there is a change in facts and circumstances 
which results in downward revision of future cash flows, an 
impairment loss may arise.

5.	 Other Revenue
(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Service income 55.5 70.8

Dividends from listed investments 8.7 8.9

Dividends from unlisted investments 2.1 2.4

Gross rental income from  

investment properties 25.4 23.6  
91.7 105.7  
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6.	 Segment Information
The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, 
with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. Inter-segment 
sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

The main reportable and operating segments presented in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:

(a)	 Consumer Finance: provision of consumer SME and other financing.
(b)	 Mortgage Loans: provision of mortgage loans financing.
(c)	 Specialty Finance: provision of structured and specialty financing.
(d)	 Investment Management: portfolio investments.
(e)	 Strategic Investments: investments in financial services.
(f)	 Group Management and Support: provision of liquidity, supervisory and administrative functions to all business segments.

“Specialty Finance” was previously presented as “Private Credit” within the “Principal Investments” segment. In addition, “Principal 
Investments” other than “Private Credit” is renamed as “Investment Management” and “Financial Services” is renamed as “Strategic 
Investments”. The directors consider that these changes to segment reporting are in line with the changes of internal reporting 
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in 2019. The comparative figures for the business segments were re-presented.

Segment assets and liabilities are not presented as they are not regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.

2019 
Financing Business Investing Business  

(HK$ Million)

Consumer

Finance

Specialty

Finance

Mortgage

Loans

Investment

Management

Strategic

Investments

Group

Management

and Support Total

Segment revenue 3,504.7 340.6 295.6 31.6 – 273.6 4,446.1

Less: inter-segment revenue – – – – – (229.3) (229.3)       
Segment revenue from external customers 3,504.7 340.6 295.6 31.6 – 44.3 4,216.8       
Segment profit or loss 1,276.0 64.8 121.4 1,111.5 130.7 (11.5) 2,692.9

Share of results of associates – – – (28.3) 76.9 – 48.6

Share of results of joint ventures – – – – 1.9 – 1.9       
Profit (loss) before taxation 1,276.0 64.8 121.4 1,083.2 209.5 (11.5) 2,743.4       
Included in segment profit or loss:

Interest income 3,480.7 305.2 295.2 – – 44.0 4,125.1

Other gains (losses) 20.1 – 0.3 2.6 0.5 (9.0) 14.5

Net (loss) gain on financial assets and  

liabilities – (0.7) – 1,533.0 266.8 8.6 1,807.7

Net exchange gain 0.9 – – 48.4 – 33.2 82.5

Net impairment losses on financial  

instruments (803.9) (159.9) (12.0) (48.2) (0.4) – (1,024.4)

Other losses (1.1) – – (42.0) (135.9) – (179.0)

Amortisation and depreciation (116.9) – (3.5) – – (11.9) (132.3)       
Finance costs (321.1) (111.5) (119.1) – – (439.7) (991.4)

Less: inter-segment finance costs – 111.5 102.2 – – – 213.7       
Finance costs to external suppliers (321.1) – (16.9) – – (439.7) (777.7)

Cost of capital (charges) income* – – – (319.6) – 319.6 –       
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7.	 Other Gains
(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Net realised gain on disposal of  

subsidiaries – 132.4

Increase in fair value of investment 

properties – 185.1

Miscellaneous income 14.5 24.7

Reversal of impairment in an associate  

(Note 11) – 66.7  
14.5 408.9  

   

The geographical information of revenue and non-current assets 
are disclosed as follows:

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Revenue from external customers by  

location of operations

– Hong Kong 3,338.5 3,012.6

– Mainland China 878.3 1,163.1  
4,216.8 4,175.7  

   

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Non-current assets other than interests  

in associates and joint ventures,  

financial assets and deferred tax  

assets by location of assets

– Hong Kong 4,619.8 4,664.9

– Mainland China 472.6 386.3  
5,092.4 5,051.2  

   

6.	 Segment Information (Continued)

2018 (re-presented) 
Financing Business Investing Business  

(HK$ Million)

Consumer

Finance

Specialty

Finance

Mortgage

Loans

Investment

Management

Strategic

Investments

Group

Management

and Support Total

Segment revenue 3,422.1 452.3 249.5 32.0 2.4 250.6 4,408.9

Less: inter-segment revenue – – – – – (233.2) (233.2)       
Segment revenue from external customers 3,422.1 452.3 249.5 32.0 2.4 17.4 4,175.7       
Segment profit or loss 1,207.9 241.7 114.1 115.6 136.0 (18.6) 1,796.7

Share of results of associates – – – (32.4) 63.2 – 30.8

Share of results of joint ventures – – – – 3.8 – 3.8       
Profit (loss) before taxation 1,207.9 241.7 114.1 83.2 203.0 (18.6) 1,831.3       
Included in segment profit or loss:

Interest income 3,388.5 409.9 248.8 4.5 – 18.3 4,070.0

Other gains (losses) 25.4 – 0.5 318.6 66.7 (2.3) 408.9

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities – – – 130.9 67.5 36.0 234.4

Net exchange (loss) gain (21.5) 0.7 – 45.5 – (10.5) 14.2

Net impairment losses on financial 

instruments (833.6) (64.3) (3.8) – – – (901.7)

Amortisation and depreciation (40.4) – (1.9) – – (13.3) (55.6)       
Finance costs (237.4) (142.1) (86.2) – – (429.4) (895.1)

Less: inter-segment finance costs – 142.1 86.2 – – – 228.3       
Finance costs to external suppliers (237.4) – – – – (429.4) (666.8)       
Cost of capital (charges) income* – – – (325.2) – 325.2 –       

*	 Cost of capital (charges) income are intersegment transactions charged by Group Management and Support segment to other segments. The charges are 

determined by the internal capital consumed by the segments.
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8.	 Emoluments of Directors and Senior Employees
(a)	 Directors

2019 

(HK$ Million)

Director’s

fees

Consultancy

fees

Salaries,

housing

and other

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Discretionary

bonuses

Contributions

to retirement

benefit

scheme Total

Executive Directors

Lee Seng Huang (Group Executive Chairman) 0.02 – 9.48 49.002 0.39 58.89

Simon Chow Wing Charn1 0.02 – 3.02 5.503 0.15 8.69

Non-Executive Directors

Jonathan Andrew Cimino 0.02 – – – – 0.02

Peter Anthony Curry 0.02 0.23 – – – 0.25

Independent Non-Executive Directors

David Craig Bartlett 0.02 0.23 – – – 0.25

Alan Stephen Jones 0.02 0.29 – – – 0.31

Jacqueline Alee Leung 0.02 0.23 – – – 0.25

Evan Au Yang Chi Chun 0.02 0.23 – – – 0.25

Peter Wong Man Kong4 0.02 0.06 – – – 0.08      
0.18 1.27 12.50 54.50 0.54 68.99      

1	 1,498,000 shares vested during 2019.

2	 The amount represents an actual cash bonus of HK$49.00 million for the year 2019 (2018: HK$37.00 million).

3	 The amount represents an actual cash bonus of HK$5.50 million for the year 2019 (2018: HK$3.00 million).

4	 In 2019, the director’s fee and consultancy fee in the amount of HK$20,000 and HK$57,500 respectively were paid to the late Mr. Peter Wong Man Kong, an 

Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. He was deceased on 11 March 2019.

The executive director’s emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 
Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’s emoluments shown above were for their services as a director of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Bonuses, which are recommended by the remuneration committee and subsequently approved by the Board of Directors, are 
discretionary and are determined by reference to the Group’s and the individuals’ performance.
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The above emoluments of the highest paid individual were 
within the following bands:

Number of employees

Emoluments band (HK$) 2019 2018

$4,500,001 – $5,000,000 1 1

$6,000,001 – $6,500,000 1 1

$20,500,001 – $21,000,000 – 1

$25,000,001 – $25,500,000 1 –  
   

(b)	Highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group include 
two Directors (2018: two Directors) of the Company. The 
emoluments of the remaining three (2018: three) highest paid 
individuals are analysed below:

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Salaries, housing and other allowances,  

and benefits in kind 15.4 14.5

Bonuses 19.3 15.3

Contributions to retirement  

benefit scheme 1.5 1.4  
36.2 31.2  

   

8	 Emoluments of Directors and Senior Employees (Continued)

(a)	 Directors (Continued)

2018 

(HK$ Million)

Director’s

fees

Consultancy

fees

Salaries,

housing

and other

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Discretionary

bonuses

Contributions

to retirement

benefit

scheme Total

Executive Directors

Lee Seng Huang (Group Executive Chairman) 0.02 – 9.16 37.004 0.38 46.56

Simon Chow Wing Charn1 0.02 – 2.96 3.005 0.15 6.13

Non-Executive Director

Jonathan Andrew Cimino 0.02 – – – – 0.02

Peter Anthony Curry2 0.02 0.08 2.02 – – 2.12

      

Independent Non-Executive Directors       

David Craig Bartlett 0.02 0.23 – – – 0.25

Alan Stephen Jones 0.02 0.29 – – – 0.31

Jacqueline Alee Leung 0.02 0.23 – – – 0.25

Peter Wong Man Kong 0.02 0.23 – – – 0.25

Evan Au Yang Chi Chun3 0.02 0.18 – – – 0.20      
0.18 1.24 14.14 40.00 0.53 56.09      

1	 In March 2019, Awarded Shares with fair value at grant date of HK$2.00 million under the SHK Employee Ownership Scheme was granted to the director in relation 

to his performance in 2018. In addition, 349,000 shares vested during 2018.

2	 Mr. Peter Anthony Curry retired as an executive director and has been re-designated as a non-executive director with effect from 1 September 2018.

3	 Mr. Evan Au Yang Chi Chun was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 22 March 2018.

4	 The amount represents an actual cash bonus of HK$37.00 million for the year 2018.

5	 The amount represents an actual cash bonus of HK$3.00 million for the year 2018.
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8	 Emoluments of Directors and Senior 
Employees (Continued)

(c)	 Senior Management

The emoluments of senior management (as described in Profiles 
of Directors and Senior Management section) were within the 
following bands:

Number of employees

Emoluments band (HK$) 2019 2018

$500,001 – $1,000,000 – 2

$3,000,001 – $3,500,000 1 1

$3,500,001 – $4,000,000 1 –

$4,000,001 – $4,500,000 1 –

$20,500,001 – $21,000,000 – 1

$25,000,001 – $25,500,000 1 –  
   

No shares were vested and 471,000 shares were granted 
for our senior management during year 2019. No dividend 
payments were paid to senior management during the year 
(2018: nil).

9.	 Information About Material Interests 
of Directors in Transactions, 
Arrangements or Contracts

Except loan to independent non-executive director as disclosed 
in the relevant section of the Directors’ Report, no transactions, 
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which 
the Directors or an entity connected with the Directors had a 
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the 
end of the year or at any time during the year.

10.	Employee Benefits
(a)	 Retirement Benefit Scheme

The principal retirement benefit schemes operated by the Group 
related to defined contribution schemes for the Hong Kong and 
overseas offices’ qualifying employees.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in 
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC 
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute 
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit 
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group 
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the 
specified contributions.

Expenses recognised in profit or loss for the contributions to 
retirement benefit schemes for the current year amounted 
to HK$64.0 million (2018: HK$77.8 million). The amount of 
forfeited contributions utilised in the course of the year ended 
31 December 2019 was HK$0.25 million (2018: HK$0.25 
million).

(b)	SHK Employee Ownership Scheme (“EOS”)

Under the EOS, which was formally adopted on 18 December 
2007, selected employees or directors of the Group (the 
“Selected Grantees”) were awarded shares in the Company. 
Following management’s recommendation, shares were 
granted to the Selected Grantees subject to various terms 
including, amongst other things, the vesting scale whereby 
awarded shares will vest and become unrestricted in various 
vesting periods.

During the year, 1.8 million shares (2018: 3.2 million shares) of 
the Company were awarded to Selected Grantees under the 
EOS. The fair value of the services rendered (by reference to the 
market value of awarded shares at grant dates) as consideration 
of the shares awarded during the year was HK$7.1 million (2018: 
HK$15.5 million) which will be amortised to profit or loss during 
the vesting period. The amount expensed during the year in 
respect of shares awarded under the EOS was HK$9.7 million 
(2018: HK$8.3 million).
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11.	Profit Before Taxation
(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Profit before taxation for the year has  
been arrived at after charging:

Administrative expenses (Note a) (1,152.1) (1,167.2)
Amortisation of leasehold interests in land – (0.2)
Outgoings in respect of rental-generating  

investment properties (0.3) (0.2)
Other losses (Note b) (179.0) (1.6)
Share of taxation of associates and joint  

ventures included in share of results  
of associates and joint ventures (4.6) (6.8)  

(a) Analysis of administrative expenses:
Staff costs (including Directors’  

emoluments) (701.9) (696.5)
Contributions to retirement benefit 

schemes (64.0) (77.8)
Expenses recognised for the SHK 

Employee Ownership Scheme (9.7) (8.3)  
Total staff costs (775.6) (782.6)
Auditors’ remuneration (4.8) (5.8)
Depreciation of property and 

equipment (45.9) (53.5)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (84.5) –
Amortisation of intangible assets – 

computer software (1.9) (1.9)
Payments for short-term leases and 

leases of low-value assets (28.1) –
Operating lease rentals – (154.7)
Other administrative expenses (211.3) (168.7)  

(1,152.1) (1,167.2)  
(b) Analysis of other losses:

Net loss on disposal/write-off of 
equipment (0.9) (1.1)

Impairment loss on interest in an 
associate* (135.9) –

Decrease in fair value of investment 
properties (42.2) –

Loss on disposal of joint ventures – (0.5)  
(179.0) (1.6)  

*	 The Group disposed of 70% interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary Sun 
Hung Kai Financial Group Limited (“SHKFGL”) in June 2015 and classified 
the remaining 30% equity interest as an associate. The recoverable amount 
was measured at fair value less cost of disposal of SHKFGL. The fair value 
was measured by discounted cash flow approach at the reporting date using 
a discount rate of 17.5% (2018: 17.0%). As part of the disposal, the Group 
was awarded a put right on the 30% equity interest of SHKFGL. This put 
right recorded a valuation gain during the period of HK$267.0 million (2018: 
HK$67.0 million) classified under net gain on financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss.

A reversal of impairment in the investment in SHKFGL of HK$66.7 million 
was recognised in 2018. In 2019, an impairment loss of HK$135.9 million on 
the interest in SHKFGL was recognised.

The put option period will end within 6 months commencing on 2 June 2020 
and the Group shall have the right (but not the obligation) to reinvest into the 
sold shares within 18 months upon the exercise of put right.

12.	Net Gain on Financial Assets and 
Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss

The following is an analysis of the net gain on financial assets 
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Net realised and unrealised gain (loss)  

on financial assets and liabilities   

– Held for trading 627.0 (225.2)

– Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 1,180.7 459.6  
1,807.7 234.4  

   

13.	Net Impairment Losses on Financial 
Instruments

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Loans and advances to consumer  

finance customers   

– Net impairment losses (999.2) (1,025.0)

– Recoveries of amounts previously  

written off 195.1 195.1  
(804.1) (829.9)

Mortgage loans

– Net impairment losses (12.0) (4.5)

– Recoveries of amounts previously  

written off – 0.7  
(12.0) (3.8)

Term loans

– Net impairment losses (160.6) (64.3)  
(160.6) (64.3)

Amounts due from associates

– Net impairment losses (0.4) –  
(0.4) –

Trade and other receivables

– Net impairment losses (47.6) (5.1)

– Recoveries of amounts previously  

written off 0.3 1.4  
(47.3) (3.7)  

(1,024.4) (901.7)  
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16.	Dividends
(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

The aggregate amount of dividends 

declared and proposed:   

– 2019 interim dividend paid of  

HK12 cents (2018: HK12 cents)  

per share 240.3 258.6

– 2019 second interim dividend of  

HK14 cents per share declared  

after the reporting date  

(2018: 2018 second interim  

dividend of HK14 cents per share) 279.4 281.1  
519.7 539.7  

Dividends recognised as distribution  

during the year:

– 2018 second interim dividend paid of  

HK14 cents (2018: 2017 second  

interim dividend paid of HK14 cents)  

per share 280.7 301.4

– 2019 interim dividend paid of  

HK12 cents (2018: HK12 cents)  

per share 240.3 258.6  
521.0 560.0  

17.	Earnings Per Share
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share 
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following 
information:

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Earnings for the purposes of basic 

and  

diluted earnings per share   

Profit for the year attributable to owners  

of the Company 2,085.2 1,183.8  
Number of shares (in million)

Weighted average number of ordinary  

shares for the purpose of basic  

earnings per share 1,997.2 2,107.8

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

– Impact of contingently issuable shares  

under the SHK Employee Ownership  

Scheme 3.2 2.0  
Weighted average number of ordinary  

shares for the purpose of diluted  

earnings per share 2,000.4 2,109.8  

14.	Finance Costs
(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Interest on the following liabilities   
– Bank loans (355.6) (249.2)
– Notes/paper payable (385.4) (388.6)  

(741.0) (637.8)
Other borrowing costs (31.2) (29.0)
Interest on lease liabilities (5.5) –  

(777.7) (666.8)  

All finance costs were derived from financial liabilities not at fair 
value through profit or loss for both years.

15.	Taxation
(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Current tax   
– Hong Kong (250.0) (205.2)
– PRC (73.9) (117.7)  

(323.9) (322.9)
Over provision in prior years 0.1 13.4  

(323.8) (309.5)
Deferred tax 95.0 88.8  

(228.8) (220.7)  

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2018: 
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year. PRC 
subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% 
(2018: 25%). Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated 
on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates of 
taxation prevailing in the countries in the relevant jurisdictions.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before 
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
follows:

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Profit before taxation 2,743.4 1,831.3
Less: Share of results of associates (48.6) (30.8)

Share of results of joint ventures (1.9) (3.8)  
2,692.9 1,796.7  

Tax at the Hong Kong profits tax rate  
of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) (444.3) (296.4)

Over provision in prior years 0.1 13.4
Tax effect of non-taxable income 374.6 127.0
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (117.3) (26.9)
Tax effect of unrecognised deductible  

temporary difference and tax losses (28.9) (25.9)
Countries subject to different tax rates (13.0) (11.9)  

(228.8) (220.7)  

Deferred tax recognised in other comprehensive income during 
the year was immaterial (2018: immaterial).
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Input values 
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Hong Kong Investment method Term yield 2% 2%

Reversionary yield 2.1% 2.1%

Monthly market unit rent per gross floor area (sq. ft.) HK$51 to HK$66 HK$51 to HK$69

PRC Investment method Term yield 4.25% 4.25 to 6.00%

Reversionary yield 4.75% 4.75 to 6.75%

Monthly market unit rent per gross floor area (sq. m.) RMB28 to RMB34 RMB27 to RMB102

An increase in market unit rent would result in an increase in fair value of the investment properties while an increase in term yield 
and reversionary yield would result in a decrease in fair value of the investment properties. The Group believes that reasonably 
possible changes in the input values would not cause significant change in fair value of the investment properties. There was no 
change in the valuation technique during the year.

Particulars of the investment properties at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Location Classification Term of lease

20-1, 20-2, 20-3, 20-4, 19-1, 19-2 & 19-3 in Block 2 of No. 101 building, Cuibai Road, Chunhuilu 

Street,  

Dadukou District, Chongqing, the PRC Industrial 2061

19-4 in Block 2 of No. 101 building, Cuibai Road, Chunhuilu Street, Dadukou District, Chongqing, the 

PRC Industrial 2061

Units 1001-1010 in Block 2-2 of Phase II of Tianjin Tian An Cyberpark, Zhangjiawo, Xiqing District,  

Tianjin, the PRC Industrial 2060

2201, 2201A and 2202, 22/F, Tower I, Admiralty Centre, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong Commercial 2053

4/F, Tower II, Admiralty Centre, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong Commercial 2053

8/F, Tower II, Admiralty Centre, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong Commercial 2053

11/F, Tower II, Admiralty Centre, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong Commercial 2053

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties with a total carrying value of HK$1,087 million (31/12/2018: HK$1,128.0 
million) were pledged as security for the Group’s banking facilities.

18.	Investment Properties
(HK$ Million) Hong Kong PRC Total

At 1 January 2018 1,124.0 54.6 1,178.6

Exchange adjustments – (2.8) (2.8)

Change in fair value  

recognised in profit  

or loss 186.0 (0.9) 185.1   
At 31 December 2018 1,310.0 50.9 1,360.9

Exchange adjustments – (0.8) (0.8)

Transfer to property and  

equipment – (5.4) (5.4)

Change in fair value  

recognised in profit  

or loss (42.0) (0.2) (42.2)   
At 31 December 2019 1,268.0 44.5 1,312.5   
Unrealised gains or losses  

for the year included in  

profit or loss

– For 2019 (42.0) (0.2) (42.2)

– For 2018 186.0 (0.9) 185.1   

In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the 
management of the Group has formed a valuation working 
group to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and 
inputs for fair value measurements with the assistance of an 
independent qualified professional valuer.

The valuation working group works closely with the independent 
qualified professional valuer to establish the appropriate 
valuation techniques and inputs to the valuation model, and 
analyses changes in fair value measurements from period to 
period.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the 
reporting date have been arrived on the basis of a valuation 
carried out by Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited, an 
independent qualified professional valuer, not connected with 
the Group. The fair value was grouped under Level 3. The 
Group considers that the current use of the properties is to be 
the highest and best use. The following table provides further 
information regarding the valuation.
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19.	Property and Equipment

(HK$ Million) Property

Furniture and 

equipment Total

Cost

At 1 January 2018 335.5 421.4 756.9

Exchange adjustments (17.3) (11.8) (29.1)

Additions – 27.8 27.8

Disposals/write-off – (9.7) (9.7)   
At 31 December 2018 318.2 427.7 745.9

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 – (3.0) (3.0)

Exchange adjustments (5.7) (3.6) (9.3)

Transfer from investment properties 5.4 – 5.4

Transfer to right-of-use-assets – (2.0) (2.0)

Additions – 13.5 13.5

Disposals/write-off – (12.3) (12.3)   
At 31 December 2019 317.9 420.3 738.2   
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2018 39.6 261.1 300.7

Exchange adjustments (2.4) (9.7) (12.1)

Depreciation provided for the year 9.4 44.1 53.5

Eliminated on disposals/write-off – (8.3) (8.3)   
At 31 December 2018 46.6 287.2 333.8

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 – (1.6) (1.6)

Exchange adjustments (1.0) (3.0) (4.0)

Transfer to right-of-use assets – (2.0) (2.0)

Depreciation provided for the year 9.3 36.6 45.9

Eliminated on disposals/write-off – (11.1) (11.1)   
At 31 December 2019 54.9 306.1 361.0   
Carrying amount 

At 31 December 2019 263.0 114.2 377.2   
At 31 December 2018 271.6 140.5 412.1   

The useful lives of the properties are same as the remaining term of the leases that are ranging from 24 to 33 years.
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The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in 
profit or loss is as follows:

(HK$ Million) 2019

Amount recognised in profit or loss

– Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets 84.5

– Interest expense on lease liabilities 5.5

– Expense relating to short-term leases and  

leases of low-value assets 28.1
  

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were HK$62.4 
million.

The total cash outflow for leases amount to HK$111.2 million.

Restrictions or covenants on lease

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$117.7 million are recognised 
with related right-of-use assets of HK$125.5 million as at 31 
December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any 
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets 
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as 
security for borrowing purposes.

20.	Right-of-Use Assets
(HK$ Million) Total

At 31 December 2018 –

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 148.3 
At 1 January 2019 148.3

Additions 62.4

Depreciation provided for the year (84.5) 
Exchange adjustments (0.7) 
At 31 December 2019 125.5 
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 125.5 

The Group leases several assets including leasehold land and 
retail shops. The average lease term of right-of-use assets at 31 
December 2019 is below:

Leasehold land 44.5 years

Retail shops 2.3 years

The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by 
class of underlying asset is as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 1/1/2019

Carrying amount

– Leasehold lands 4.0 4.1

– Retail shops 121.5 144.2

21.	Intangible Assets

(HK$ Million)
Club

membership
Computer

software
Trade
mark

Customer
relationship

Web
domain Total

Cost
At 1 January 2018 2.2 18.6 875.0 1,154.0 78.0 2,127.8
Exchange adjustments – (0.9) – – – (0.9)
Additions 10.0 0.1 – – – 10.1      
At 31 December 2018 12.2 17.8 875.0 1,154.0 78.0 2,137.0
Exchange adjustments – (0.3) – – – (0.3)
Additions 5.0 – – – – 5.0      
At 31 December 2019 17.2 17.5 875.0 1,154.0 78.0 2,141.7      
Accumulated amortisation and  

impairment
At 1 January 2018 1.0 5.2 7.0 1,154.0 78.0 1,245.2
Exchange adjustments – (0.3) – – – (0.3)
Amortisation charged for the year – 1.9 – – – 1.9      
At 31 December 2018 1.0 6.8 7.0 1,154.0 78.0 1,246.8
Exchange adjustments – (0.2) – – – (0.2)
Amortisation charged for the year – 1.9 – – – 1.9      
At 31 December 2019 1.0 8.5 7.0 1,154.0 78.0 1,248.5      
Carrying amount 
At 31 December 2019 16.2 9.0 868.0 – – 893.2      
At 31 December 2018 11.2 11.0 868.0 – – 890.2      
 



114     / Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

24.	Interest in Subsidiaries
The consolidated profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interests during the year and the accumulated non-controlling interests in 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Profit or loss allocated to 

non-controlling interests

Accumulated 

non-controlling interests

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

United Asia Finance Limited and its subsidiaries 421.6 419.4 3,172.8 3,797.9

Other subsidiaries having non-controlling interests 7.8 7.4 22.1 8.0    
429.4 426.8 3,194.9 3,805.9    

The following tables provide summarised financial information of material subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests. The 
information is before inter-company eliminations.

United Asia Finance Limited 

and its subsidiaries

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Current assets 10,635.7* 10,210.3*

Non-current assets 4,030.5# 3,764.7#

Current liabilities (4,588.4) (3,790.8)

Non-current liabilities (2,476.1) (1,915.2)  

21.	Intangible Assets (Continued)

Other than the club membership and the trade mark, which 
have indefinite useful lives, the intangible assets are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Acquired computer software 3–5 years

Customer relationship 5.4 years

Web domain 10 years

22.	Goodwill
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Cost

At 1 January and 31 December 2,384.0 2,384.0  

The recoverable amount of UAF, a cash-generating unit, 
represents the value in use at 31 December 2019 based on 
a business valuation report on the UAF group prepared by an 
independent qualified professional valuer, Norton Appraisals 
Holdings Limited. The valuation used the discounted cash flow 
approach and is based on a five-year performance projection 
and certain key assumptions (updated with latest market data) 
including an average growth rate of 10.9% on the profit before 
tax from 2020 to 2024 (2018: 12.6% from 2019 to 2023), a 

sustainable growth rate of 2.3% beyond 2024 (2018: 2.4% 
beyond 2023), and a discount rate of 15.8% (2018: 14.9%). 
The recoverable amount of UAF was determined to be in 
excess of its net carrying amount.

The management believes that any reasonably possible 
changes in any of the above assumptions would not cause the 
carrying amount of UAF to exceed its recoverable amount.

23.	Impairment Testing on Goodwill and Intangible Assets with Indefinite Useful Lives
For impairment testing, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives at 31 December 2019 were allocated as follows:

Goodwill Trade Mark

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

United Asia Finance Limited (“UAF”) in “Consumer Finance” segment 2,384.0 2,384.0 868.0 868.0    
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24.	Interest in Subsidiaries (Continued)

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 375.9 417.9

Revenue 3,480.9 3,392.5

Profit for the year 1,061.1 1,001.4

Total comprehensive income for the year 963.1 680.2

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the year 152.1 1,040.8  

*	 Including loans and advances to consumer finance customers of HK$7,643.0 million (31/12/2018: HK$7,150.8 million)

#	 Including loans and advances to consumer finance customers of HK$2,770.5 million (31/12/2018: HK$2,618.9 million)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Principal subsidiaries

Place of incorporation 

and operation

Issued and paid 

up share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

ownership interest

Principal activities

 
2019 2018

Shares held directly:

Boneast Assets Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Shipshape Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Sun Hung Kai (ECP) Limited British Virgin Islands (place of 

operation: Hong Kong)

US$1 100% 100% Financing

Sun Hung Kai & Co. (CP) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands (place of 

operation: Hong Kong)

US$1 100% 100% Financing

Sun Hung Kai Capital Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Swan Islands Limited British Virgin Islands US$503,000,001 100% 100% Investment holding

Wah Cheong Development Company, Limited Hong Kong HK$25,100,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Razorway Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Shares held indirectly:

Abbey Dale Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Admiralty Eight Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

Admiralty Eleven Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Property investment

Bronwood Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Dagenham Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

First Asian Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$2 63% 58% Investment holding

Itso Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Investment holding,  

financial services and  

securities trading

Sun Hung Kai Global  

Opportunities Fund

Cayman Islands Investment fund

– Management shares 1,000 US$1 shares 100% 100%

– Participating shares 7,392.805 US$0.001 

shares

100% 100%

– Class B6 participating shares 231,207.6044 

(2018: 184,612.1644)

US$0.001 shares

100% 100%

– Class B3 participating shares Nil

(2018: 7,581.95 

US$0.001 shares)

Nil 100%

Oakfame Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Investment holding

Onspeed Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
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Principal subsidiaries

Place of incorporation 

and operation

Issued and paid 

up share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

ownership interest

Principal activities

 
2019 2018

Paignton Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Plentiwind Limited Hong Kong HK$15,000,002 100% 100% Investment holding

Rossworth Global Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Rodril Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Scienter Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$20 100% 100% Investment holding and  

provision of loan finance

SHK Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

SHK Asian Opportunities Holdings Limited Cayman Islands US$10,000 95% 95% Investment holding

SHK Asset Management Holding Limited British Virgin Islands US$3,400,001 100% 100% Investment holding

SHK Investments (HK) Limited (formerly  

known as SHK Commodities Limited)

Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment portfolio

SHK Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

SHK Investment Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Asset holding

SHK Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$20 100% 100% Asset holding

Sun Hung Kai (China) Investment  

Management Company Limited

People’s Republic of China RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Corporate marketing and  

investment consultancy

Sun Hung Kai Capital Pte. Ltd. Singapore S$1 100% – Fund management

Sun Hung Kai Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$800,000,000 92% 92% Mortgage financing

Sun Hung Kai Fintech Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding

SHK International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Sun Hung Kai Securities (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong HK$60,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Sun Hung Kai Strategic Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Investment holding,  

securities trading and 

financial services

Sun Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$137,500,000 100% 100% Securities trading and  

provision of loan finance

Sun Hung Kai Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Investment holding

Champstar Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding,  

securities trading and  

financial services

SHK Pearl River Delta Investment  

Company Limited

Hong Kong Issued share capital: 

HK$100,000,000

Paid up share capital: 

HK$75,000,000.5

100% 100% Provision of loan finance

Swanwick Global Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Texgulf Limited Hong Kong HK$20 100% 100% Property investment

Treasure Rider Limited Cayman Islands US$19,800 92% 92% Investment holding

Tung Wo Investment Company, Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

United Asia Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,502,218,417.8 63% 58% Consumer financing

UAF Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Wineur Secretaries Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Secretarial services

Yee Li Ko Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$58,330,000 100% 100% Property investment

Zeal Goal International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

上海浦東新區亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (ShanghaiPudong)  

Limited #(a)

People’s Republic of China RMB200,000,000 44% 41% Money lending

大連保稅區亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (DaLian F.T.Z)  

Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China US$36,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

24.	Interest in Subsidiaries (Continued)
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Principal subsidiaries

Place of incorporation 

and operation

Issued and paid 

up share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

ownership interest

Principal activities

 
2019 2018

大連亞聯財信息諮詢有限公司 

United Asia Consultancy (Dalian)  

Limited (d)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 – 58% Financial consultancy

天津亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (Tianjin) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China HK$130,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

北京亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (Beijing) Limited#(a)

People’s Republic of China RMB200,000,000 50% 47% Money lending

成都亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (Chengdu) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China HK$230,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

成都亞聯財經濟信息諮詢有限公司 

United Asia Financial Consultancy  

(Chengdu) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

亞洲第一信息諮詢(深圳)有限公司 

First Asian Financial Consultancy  

(Shenzhen) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB50,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

亞聯財信息諮詢(上海)有限公司 

United Asia Consultancy (Shanghai)  

Limited#(c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 44% 41% Financial consultancy

亞聯財信息諮詢(深圳)有限公司 

UA Financial Consultancy (Shenzhen)  

Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB25,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

武漢亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (Wuhan) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB300,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

武漢亞聯財信息諮詢有限公司 

United Asia Financial Consultancy  

(Wuhan) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

青島亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

(formerly青島市城陽區亞聯財小額貸款 

有限公司United Asia Finance (Qingdao)  

Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB300,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

青島亞聯財信息諮詢有限公司United Asia 

Financial Consultancy (Qingdao) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

南寧市亞聯財小額貸款有限公司United Asia 

Finance (Nanning) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB200,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

南寧市亞聯財投資管理有限公司 

United Asia Finance Investment  

Management (Nanning) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

哈爾濱市亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (Harbin) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB150,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

哈爾濱亞聯財信息諮詢有限公司 

United Asia Financial Consultancy  

(Harbin) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

重慶亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 

United Asia Finance (Chongqing) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China US$20,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

重慶亞聯財信息諮詢有限公司 

United Asia Financial Consultancy  

(Chongqing) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

24.	Interest in Subsidiaries (Continued)
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Principal subsidiaries

Place of incorporation 

and operation

Issued and paid 

up share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

ownership interest

Principal activities

 
2019 2018

深圳亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 
United Asia Finance (Shenzhen) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB600,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

雲南省亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 
United Asia Finance (Yunnan) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China HK$350,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

雲南亞聯財經濟信息諮詢有限公司 
UA Financial Consultancy (Yunnan)  
Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

新聯財信息諮詢(深圳)有限公司 
Xinliancai Consultancy (Shenzhen)  
Limited (d)

People’s Republic of China RMB5,000,000 – 58% Financial consultancy

新鴻基(天津)股權投資基金管理有限公司 
Sun Hung Kai (Tianjin) Equity Fund  
Management Company Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Asset management

新鴻基融資擔保(瀋陽)有限公司 
Sun Hung Kai Financing Guarantee  
(Shenyang) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB300,000,000 63% 58% Loan guarantee

福州亞聯財信息諮詢有限公司 
United Asia Financial Consultancy  
(Fuzhou) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

福州市晉安區亞聯財小額貸款有限公司 
United Asia Finance (Fuzhou) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB200,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

濟南亞聯財小額貸款有限公司  
United Asia Finance (JiNan) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB300,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

瀋陽亞聯財卓越信息諮詢有限公司 
Shenyang UAF Excellent Information  
Consulting Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB1,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

瀋陽金融商貿開發區亞聯財小額貸款 
有限公司United Asia Finance  
(Shenhe District Shenyang) Limited (b)

People’s Republic of China RMB320,000,000 63% 58% Money lending

壹融站信息技術(深圳)有限公司  
Yirongzhan Fintech (Shenzhen) Limited (c)

People’s Republic of China RMB20,000,000 63% 58% Financial consultancy

天津亞聯財商務信息諮詢有限公司 
United Asia Financial Consultancy  
(Tianjin) Limited (d)

People’s Republic of China – – 58% Financial consultancy

#	 The companies are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of a non-wholly owned subsidiary.

(a)	 These companies are sino-foreign equity joint ventures.

(b)	 These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises.

(c)	 These companies are wholly-domestic owned enterprises.

(d)	 Theses companies are deregistered during the year.

The names of People’s Republic of China incorporated companies above are English translations.

The above tables list the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the 
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Save as disclosed in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the other subsidiaries had issued any debt securities 
at the end of the year.

24.	Interest in Subsidiaries (Continued)
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25.	Interest in Associates
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Carrying amount of unlisted associates 1,838.7 1,887.1

Less: impairment (642.6) (506.7)  
1,196.1 1,380.4  

Particulars of the Group’s material associate at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Proportion of 

ownership interest

Name Place of incorporation/operation 2019 2018 Principal activities

Sun Hung Kai Financial Group Limited  

(“SHKFGL”)

British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong

30% 30%

Wealth management and  

brokerage business

All associates are accounted for using the equity method. The 
summarised consolidated financial information of the Group’s 
material associate, SHKFGL, is set out below. The summarised 
consolidated information of the financial performance for the 
year and financial position at the reporting date represents the 
amounts included in the consolidated financial statements of 
SHKFGL adjusted by fair value adjustments made at the time of 
reclassifying SHKFGL from a subsidiary to an associate.

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Current assets 10,655.6 12,572.9

Non-current assets 903.6 1,095.6

Current liabilities (6,520.0) (4,152.8)

Non-current liabilities (1,672.1) (6,085.3)  

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Revenue 1,727.4 1,602.6

Profit 248.4 210.7

Other comprehensive expenses – (2.8)

Total comprehensive income 248.4 207.9  

The reconciliation of the above summarised financial information 
to the carrying amount of the interest in SHKFGL is as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Adjusted net assets of SHKFGL 3,367.1 3,430.4

Group’s effective interest 30% 30%

Group’s share of adjusted net assets 1,010.1 1,029.2

Goodwill 607.7 607.7

Impairment (Note 11) (641.8) (505.9)  
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest  

in SHKFGL 976.0 1,131.0  

The following table provides aggregate information for the 
share of the total comprehensive income (expenses) and 
unrecognised share of losses of associates that are not 
individually material.

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Share of loss (30.9) (32.4)

Share of other comprehensive income 4.2 –  
Share of total comprehensive expenses (26.7) (32.4)  
Share of unrecognised losses for the year (0.1) (0.7)

Share of cumulative losses (26.8) (26.7)  

26.	Interest in Joint Ventures
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Carrying amount of unlisted joint ventures 445.5 240.2

Less: impairment – –  
445.5 240.2  

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method 
in these consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 
2019 and 2018, the Group had interests in the following 
principal joint ventures.



120     / Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

26.	Interest in Joint Ventures (Continued)

Proportion of 

ownership interest

Name Place of incorporation/operation 2019 2018 Principal activities

LSS Financial Leasing (Shanghai) Limited (“LSS”) People’s Republic of China 40.0% 40.0% Auto leasing

Isabella Properties Holdings Limited (“Isabella”) England 47.5% – Investment holding

On 10 December 2019, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered into the shareholders agreement for the formation 
of the joint venture Company with 47.5% interest for a consideration of HK$207.0 million.

All joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

The summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised 
financial information below represents the amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements prepared in accordance with 
HKFRSs.

LSS Isabella

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Current assets 929.7 938.0 88.2 –

Non-current assets 525.4 820.1 1,151.8 –

Current liabilities (602.2) (232.3) (56.7) –

Non-current liabilities (256.5) (925.2) (761.3) –    
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

Investment properties – – 1,129.9 –    

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018 2019 2018

Revenue 143.1 134.1 1.9* –

Profit 4.9 9.7 4.5* –

Total comprehensive income 4.9 9.7 4.5* –    

*	 Included the result of the joint venture from the date it became joint venture of the Group up to 31 December 2019.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amounts of the interests in the joint ventures recognised 
in these consolidated financial statements:

LSS Isabella

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Net assets of the joint venture 596.4 600.6 422.0 –

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture 238.6 240.2 206.9 –
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27.	Financial Assets and Liabilities
The following table provides analyses of financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are at fair value.

At 31 December 2019 
Fair value 

(HK$ Million) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 41.6 – – 41.6

Listed equity securities outside Hong Kong 79.4 – – 79.4

Unlisted overseas equity securities – – 8.5 8.5    
121.0 – 8.5 129.5    

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 287.7 – – 287.7

– Listed equity and debt securities outside Hong Kong 1,553.8 10.1 – 1,563.9

– Over the counter equity currency derivatives – 0.3 – 0.3

– Forward currency contract – 79.1 – 79.1

– Quoted options and futures 3.2 30.4 – 33.6

– Unlisted put right for shares in an associate – – 1,387.0 1,387.0

– Unlisted call option for club memberships – – 13.1 13.1

– Unlisted call option for shares listed outside Hong Kong – – 0.1 0.1

– Contracts for difference – 8.0 – 8.0

– Bonds – 984.8 – 984.8

– Unlisted convertible preferred and ordinary shares issued by  

an unlisted company – 110.3 – 110.3

– Unlisted preferred shares issued by unlisted companies – – 60.7 60.7

– Unlisted convertible preferred shares issued by an unlisted company – – 19.2 19.2

– Unlisted shares issued by unlisted companies – 82.8 36.4 119.2

– Unlisted convertible bonds issued by unlisted companies – 25.0 3.9 28.9

– Unlisted overseas equity securities with a put right for shares – – 778.7 778.7

– Unlisted overseas debt securities with redeemable preferred shares 

and ordinary shares issued by an unlisted company – – 177.5 177.5

– Unlisted overseas investment funds – – 6,292.7 6,292.7

– Unlisted trust fund – – 28.0 28.0    
1,844.7 1,330.8 8,797.3 11,972.8    

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Non-current assets 7,687.2

– Current assets 4,285.6 
11,972.8 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Held for trading

– Quoted futures and options – 17.6 – 17.6

– Foreign currency contracts 3.4 0.1 – 3.5

– Over the counter equity derivatives – – 18.2 18.2

– Short position in listed equity securities under stock borrowing arrangement 667.9 – – 667.9

– Contracts for difference – 8.6 – 8.6    
Analysed for reporting purposes as current liabilities 671.3 26.3 18.2 715.8    
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27.	Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

At 31 December 2018 
Fair value 

(HK$ Million) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 43.9 – – 43.9

Listed equity securities outside Hong Kong 108.9 – – 108.9

Unlisted overseas equity securities – – 21.6 21.6    
152.8 – 21.6 174.4    

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 360.8 – – 360.8

– Listed equity and debt securities outside Hong Kong 903.7 – – 903.7

– Forward currency contract – 44.2 – 44.2

– Quoted options and futures – 42.2 – 42.2

– Unlisted put right for shares in an associate – – 1,120.0 1,120.0

– Unlisted call option for club memberships – – 13.3 13.3

– Unlisted call option for shares listed outside Hong Kong – – 0.4 0.4

– Contracts for difference – 9.9 – 9.9

– Bonds – 1,775.5 – 1,775.5

– Unlisted convertible preferred and ordinary shares issued by an unlisted 

company – 56.3 – 56.3

– Unlisted preferred shares issued by an unlisted company – – 57.2 57.2

– Unlisted convertible preferred shares issued by an unlisted company – 93.0 – 93.0

– Unlisted redeemable preferred shares issued by an unlisted company – 64.6 – 64.6

– Unlisted shares issued by unlisted companies – 16.6 42.0 58.6

– Unlisted convertible bonds issued by unlisted companies – – 21.0 21.0

– Unlisted overseas equity securities with a put right for shares – – 856.6 856.6

– Unlisted overseas debt security – 76.4 – 76.4

– Unlisted overseas investment funds – – 5,157.3 5,157.3

– Unlisted trust fund – – 28.5 28.5    
1,264.5 2,178.7 7,296.3 10,739.5    

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Non-current assets 6,360.9

– Current assets 4,378.6 
10,739.5 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Held for trading

– Quoted futures and options – 61.1 – 61.1

– Foreign currency contracts – 10.4 – 10.4

– Over the counter equity derivatives – – 22.9 22.9

– Short position in equity securities under stock borrowing arrangement 288.2 – – 288.2

– Contracts for difference – 42.7 – 42.7    
Analysed for reporting purposes as current liabilities 288.2 114.2 22.9 425.3    
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The following tables provide further information regarding the valuation of material financial assets under Level 3.

At 31 December 2019 
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Input values Fair value Sensitivity analysis

HK$ Million

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss

Unlisted put right for shares in  
an associate

Option model Expected volatility
Equity growth rate

12.3%
0.1%

1,387.0 An increase in volatility would result in 
an increase in the fair value.

Estimated equity value HK$976 million An increase in equity growth rate 
would result in a decrease in the fair 
value.

Discount rate (for estimated  
equity value)

17.5% An increase in estimated equity value 
would result in a decrease in fair 
value.

An increase in discount rate would 
result in a decrease in the fair value.

Unlisted preferred shares issued  
by an unlisted company

Equity allocation  
method

Expected volatility 21.4% 54.5 An increase in volatility would result in 
a decrease in the fair value.

Unlisted overseas equity securities  
with a put right for shares

Market approach  
and option model

Expected volatility
Risk-free rate

5.3%
1.6%

778.7 An increase in volatility would result  
in an increase in the fair value of  
the put right.

Equity growth rate 0.1% An increase in equity growth rate  
would result in a decrease  
in the fair value of the put right.

Estimated equity value HK$445 million An increase in estimated equity  
value would result in a decrease  
in fair value of the put right.

An increase in risk-free rate would  
result in a decrease in the  
fair value of the put right.

Unlisted overseas debt securities  
with redeemable preferred shares  
and ordinary shares issued by an 
unlisted company

Market approach Enterprise value to earnings  
before interest, taxes,  
depreciation and  
amortisation ratio

8.3 177.5 An increase in enterprise value to 
earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation ratio 
would result in an increase in the fair 
value of ordinary shares.

Unlisted overseas investment funds Net asset value Note 1 Note 1 4,566.3 Note 1

Unlisted overseas investment funds Net asset value Discount for lack of  
marketability

13.1% – 24.4% 1,726.4 An increase in discount rate of the 
underlying investment would result 
in a decrease in the fair value.

27.	Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

On the basis of its analysis of the nature, characteristics and 
risks of the equity securities, the Group has determined that 
presenting them by nature and type of issuers is appropriate.

Fair values are grouped from Level 1 to 3 based on the degree 
to which the fair values are observable.

–	 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

–	 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from 
input other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

–	 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from 
valuation techniques that include input for the assets or 
liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

The fair values of bonds under Level 2 at the reporting date 
were derived from quoted prices from pricing services. Where 
Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group engages 
external valuers to perform the valuation for certain complex or 
material financial assets and liabilities.

The fair values of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities are 
mainly derived from valuation technique using an unobservable 
range of data. In estimating the fair value of a financial asset or 
a financial liability under Level 3, the Group engages external 
valuers or establishes appropriate valuation techniques internally 
to perform the valuations which are reviewed by management.
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27.	Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

At 31 December 2018 
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Input values Fair value Sensitivity analysis

HK$ Million

Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss

Unlisted put right for shares in an 

associate

Option model Expected volatility

Equity growth rate

10.4%

1.4%

1,120.0 An increase in volatility would result in 

an increase in the fair value.

Estimated equity value HK$1,131.0 million An increase in equity growth rate 

would result in a decrease in the fair 

value.

Discount rate (for estimated  

equity value)

17% An increase in estimated equity value 

would result in a decrease in the fair 

value.

Unlisted overseas equity securities  

with a put right for shares

Market approach and  

option model

Expected volatility

Risk-free rate

4.7%

2.5%

856.6 An increase in volatility would result  

in an increase in the fair value  

of the put right.

Equity growth rate –0.9% An increase in risk-free rate would 

result in a decrease in the fair value  

of the put right.

An increase in equity growth rate  

would result in a decrease  

in the fair value of the put right.

Unlisted overseas investment funds Net asset value Note 1 Note 1 3,940.8 Note 1

Unlisted overseas investment funds Net asset value Discount for lack of  

marketability

18.0% – 22.9% 1,216.5 An increase in discount rate of  

the underlying investment would 

result in a decrease in the fair value.

Note 1:	The significant unobservable input of the Group’s investments in unlisted overseas investment funds is the net assets value of the underlying investments made 

by the funds. The higher the net assets value of the underlying investments, the higher the fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL will be. The Group has 

determined that the reported net asset values represent the fair values of the unlisted overseas investment funds.
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27.	Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

The reconciliation of financial assets and liabilities under Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:

2019 
Recognised gains or losses 

(HK$ Million)

Balance at 

1/1/2019 Transfer* Profit or loss

Other 

comprehensive 

income Purchase Disposal

Balance at 

31/12/2019

Unrealised 

gain or loss 

for the year

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income

Unlisted overseas equity securities 21.6 – – 11.9 – (25.0) 8.5 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Unlisted put right for shares in an associate 1,120.0 – 267.0 – – – 1,387.0 267.0

Unlisted call option for club memberships 13.3 – (0.2) – – – 13.1 (0.2)

Unlisted call option for shares listed outside Hong Kong 0.4 – (0.3) – – – 0.1 (0.3)

Unlisted preferred shares issued by unlisted companies 57.2 – 3.5 – – – 60.7 3.5

Unlisted convertible preferred shares issued by an unlisted company – 12.4 6.8 – – – 19.2 6.8

Unlisted shares issued by an unlisted company 42.0 – (5.6) – – – 36.4 (3.0)

Unlisted convertible bonds issued by unlisted companies 21.0 – (17.1) – – – 3.9 (17.1)

Unlisted overseas equity securities with a put right for shares 856.6 – (77.9) – – – 778.7 (77.9)

Unlisted overseas debt securities with redeemable preferred shares 

and ordinary shares issued by an unlisted company – 181.4 (3.9) – – – 177.5 (3.9)

Unlisted overseas investment funds 5,157.3 – 1,228.9 – 663.8 (757.3) 6,292.7 950.4

Unlisted trust fund 28.5 – 1.1 – 29.1 (30.7) 28.0 1.1

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Over the counter equity derivatives (22.9) – 4.7 – – – (18.2) 4.7

2018 
Recognised gains or losses 

(HK$ Million)

Balance at 

1/1/2018 Transfer Profit or loss

Other 

comprehensive 

income Purchase Disposal

Balance at 

31/12/2018

Unrealised 

gain or loss 

for the year

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income

Unlisted overseas equity securities 21.6 – – – – – 21.6 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Over the counter equity derivatives 0.7 – (0.7) – – – – (0.7)

Unlisted put right for shares in an associate 1,053.0 – 67.0 – – – 1,120.0 67.0

Unlisted call option for club memberships 10.9 – 2.4 – – – 13.3 2.4

Unlisted call option for shares listed outside Hong Kong 10.9 – (10.5) – – – 0.4 (10.5)

Unlisted preferred shares issued by unlisted companies 17.1 3.9 3.8 – 53.4 (21.0) 57.2 (0.1)

Unlisted shares issued by an unlisted company 41.4 – (1.9) – 2.5 – 42.0 (1.9)

Unlisted convertible bonds issued by unlisted companies 21.0 – – – – – 21.0 –

Unlisted overseas equity securities with a put right for shares 811.5 – 45.1 – – – 856.6 45.1

Unlisted overseas investment funds 4,302.2 (3.9) 443.4 – 1,047.8 (632.2) 5,157.3 302.8

Unlisted trust fund – – (1.0) – 29.5 – 28.5 (1.0)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Over the counter equity derivatives (8.8) – (14.1) – – – (22.9) (14.1)

*	 The Group has transferred the financial assets from Level 2 to Level 3 as no observable inputs are available.
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27.	Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at the end 
of the reporting period were as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Financial assets at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 129.5 174.4  
129.5 174.4  

Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss

– Investments at fair value through  

profit or loss 11,972.8 10,739.5  
11,972.8 10,739.5  

Financial assets measured at  

amortised cost

– Amounts due from associates (Note 29) 329.9 363.8

– Loans and advances to consumer  

finance customers (Note 30) 10,413.5 9,769.7

– Mortgage loans (Note 31) 3,626.9 3,854.2

– Term loans (Note 32) 1,906.2 2,485.2

– Trade and other receivables (Note 33) 381.8 368.6

– Amounts due from brokers 451.7 507.0

– Short-term pledged bank deposit and  

bank balance (Note 34) 33.2 20.0

– Bank deposits (Note 34) 68.1 353.5

– Cash and cash equivalents (Note 34) 5,624.9 4,622.4  
22,836.2 22,344.4  
34,938.5 33,258.3  

The carrying amounts of Group’s financial liabilities at the end of 
the reporting period were as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Financial liabilities at fair value through  

profit or loss   

– Held for trading 715.8 425.3  
Financial liabilities measured at  

amortised cost

– Bank and other borrowings (Note 35) 8,157.1 7,183.1

– Trade and other payables (Note 36) 137.3 65.7

– Financial assets sold under repurchase  

agreements (Note 37) 386.2 1,216.5

– Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and  

a holding company (Note 38) 35.3 519.0

– Amounts due to associates (Note 38) – 1.9

– Lease liabilities (Note 40) 117.7 –

– Notes/paper payable (Note 41) 8,598.7 7,800.0  
17,432.3 16,786.2  
18,148.1 17,211.5  

Transferred financial assets

The Group enters into transactions in the normal course of 
business by which it transfers recognised financial assets to 
third parties. In some cases where these transfers may give rise 
to full derecognition of the financial assets concerned. In other 
cases where the Group has retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of these assets, the Group continues to recognise 
the transferred assets.

The Group transfers financial assets that are not derecognised 
in their entirety primarily through the sale of debt securities with 
repurchase agreements.

Sale and repurchase agreements are transactions in which 
the Group sells a debt security and simultaneously agrees to 
repurchase it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at 
the agreed date and price. The repurchase prices are fixed 
and the Group is still exposed to substantially to all the credit 
risks, market risks and rewards of those debt securities sold. 
These debt securities are not derecognised from the financial 
statements but regarded as “collateral” for the liabilities because 
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
these debt securities. The proceeds received on the transfer 
are recognised as liabilities under “Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements”.
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27.	Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of all financial assets transferred that are not derecognised in their entirety and 
associated liabilities.

At 31 December 2019 

Analysed by liabilities type

Carrying amount of 

transferred assets

Carrying amount of 

associated liabilities Net Position

(HK$ Million)

Financial assets 

at fair value 

through profit or loss

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements (Note 37) 524.9 386.2 138.7   

At 31 December 2018 

Analysed by liabilities type

Carrying amount of 

transferred assets

Carrying amount of 

associated liabilities Net Position

(HK$ Million)

Financial assets 

at fair value 

through profit or loss

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements (Note 37) 1,483.7 1,216.5 267.2   

Financial asset and financial liabilities offsetting

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an enforceable master 
netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments, irrespective of whether they are offset in the 
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has entered certain derivative transactions that are covered by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association 
Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) signed with various banks. These derivative instruments are not offset in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as the ISDA Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in the event of default, insolvency or 
bankruptcy so that the Group currently has no legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts.
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27.	Financial Assets And Liabilities (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

At 31 December 2019 

(HK$ Million)

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

assets and

liabilities

Gross

amounts set

off in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Net amounts

presented in

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Related amounts

not set off in the

consolidated statement of 

financial position

Net

amount

 

Financial

instruments

Cash

collateral

received/

pledged

Type of financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,883.0 – 1,883.0 (715.8) – 1,167.2

Debt securities pledged as collateral for financial assets 

sold under repurchase agreements (Note 37) 524.9 – 524.9 (386.2) – 138.7      
Type of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 715.8 – 715.8 (715.8) – –

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements 386.2 – 386.2 (386.2) – –      

At 31 December 2018 

(HK$ Million)

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

assets and

liabilities

Gross

amounts

set off in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Net amounts

presented in

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Related amounts

not set off in the

consolidated statement of 

financial position

Net

amount

 

Financial

instruments

Cash

collateral

received/

pledged

Type of financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,438.9 (11.4) 1,427.5 (425.3) – 1,002.2

Debt securities pledged as collateral for financial assets 

sold under repurchase agreements (Note 37) 1,483.7 – 1,483.7 (1,216.5) – 267.2      
Type of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 436.7 (11.4) 425.3 (425.3) – –

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements 1,216.5 – 1,216.5 (1,216.5) – –      
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28.	Deferred Taxation
The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group recognised and movements thereon during the current 
and prior years:

(HK$ Million)

Accelerated
tax

depreciation

Provisions
and

impairment
Revaluation

of assets
Unrealised

gain

Undistributed
earnings and

others
Tax

losses Total

At 31 December 2017 (12.7) 673.5 (183.0) (56.1) 0.2 46.2 468.1
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 – 28.0 – – – – 28.0       
At 1 January 2018 (12.7) 701.5 (183.0) (56.1) 0.2 46.2 496.1
Exchange adjustments – (36.0) 0.5 4.0 – (0.4) (31.9)
Recognised in profit or loss (2.2) 95.4 – (3.1) – (1.3) 88.8       
At 31 December 2018 (14.9) 760.9 (182.5) (55.2) 0.2 44.5 553.0
Exchange adjustments – (12.2) 0.2 1.2 – (0.2) (11.0)
Recognised in profit or loss 0.8 52.7 31.9 1.2 0.3 8.1 95.0       
At 31 December 2019 (14.1) 801.4 (150.4) (52.8) 0.5 52.4 637.0       

For reporting purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities 
have been offset in the underlying subsidiaries. The following 
is the analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for 
financial reporting purposes:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Deferred tax assets 780.0 729.9

Deferred tax liabilities (143.0) (176.9)  
637.0 553.0  

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised 
tax losses of HK$468.3 mill ion (31/12/2018: HK$485.6 
million) available to offset against future profits. The deductible 
temporary difference and tax losses have not been recognised 
as it is uncertain that there will be sufficient future taxable profits 
available for the utilisation of these temporary differences. The 
unrecognised tax losses included a sum of HK$7.5 million that 
will expire during 2020 to 2024 (31/12/2018: HK$7.3 million will 
expire during 2019 to 2023).

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, withholding 
tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits 
earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. 
Deferred tax has not been provided for in the consolidated 
financial statements in respect of temporary differences 
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries 
amounting to HK$1,147.9 million at the end of the reporting 
period (31/12/2018: HK$1,081.6 million). The taxable temporary 
differences have not been recognised as the Group is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

29.	Amounts Due From Associates
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Amounts due from associates 347.4 380.9
Less: impairment allowance (17.5) (17.1)  

329.9 363.8  
Analysed for reporting purposes as:
– Non-current assets 261.3 266.7
– Current assets 68.6 97.1  

329.9 363.8  

Further details of amounts due from associates are disclosed in 
Note 38 and Note 47.
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30.	Loans and Advances to Consumer 
Finance Customers

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Loans and advances to consumer finance 
customers

– Hong Kong 8,576.2 7,803.4
– Mainland China 2,545.1 2,611.9
Less: impairment allowance (707.8) (645.6)  

10,413.5 9,769.7  
Analysed for reporting purposes as:
– Non-current assets 2,770.5 2,618.9
– Current assets 7,643.0 7,150.8  

10,413.5 9,769.7  

The loans and advances to consumer finance customers bear 
interest rate are as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Fixed rate loan receivables 6% to 48% 6% to 48%
Variable rate 

loan receivables
P-1% to

P+22.6%
P-1% to

P+22.6%  

Movement of impairment allowance during the year of 2019 
and 2018 are disclosed in Note 47(b).

The Consumer Finance Division uses the provision matrix to 
calculate the impairment allowance for loans and advances to 
consumer finance customers. The provision rates are based 
on ageing of different consumer financing loan products as 
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns 
and different factors, including historical default rates and 
collectability, being adjusted by forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort. In addition, loans 
and advances to consumer finance customers with significant 
balances are assessed for impairment individually based on 
historical credit information.

The ageing analysis for the loans and advances to consumer 
finance customers that are past due is as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Less than 31 days past due 582.9 528.6

31–60 days 55.6 50.4

61–90 days 20.9 11.9

91–180 days 148.4 48.2

Over 180 days 61.4 109.2  
869.2 748.3  

As at 31 December 2019, loans and advances to consumer 
finance customers with aggregate carrying amount of HK$869.2 
million (31/12/2018: HK$748.3 million) are past due. Out of the 
past due balances, HK$61.8 million (31/12/2018: HK$157.4 
million) has been past due 90 days or more and is considered 
to be credit-impaired. The impairment provision has taken into 
account the credit quality of the underlying assets, the financial 
strength of the borrowers as well as collateral and other credit 
enhancements.

The loans and advances to consumer finance customers 
categorised as unsecured and secured, are as follows:

At the reporting date, loans and advances to consumer 
finance customers consisted of HK$9,510.0 million unsecured 
(31/12/2018: HK$8,871.9 million) and HK$903.5 million 
secured (31/12/2018: HK$897.8 million). The Group has not 
recognised a loss allowance for loans amounting to HK$398.3 
million (2018: HK$823.8 million) which are secured by collateral.

The amount and type of collateral required depend on an 
assessment of the credit risk of the customer or counterparty.

As at 31 December 2019, the gross carrying amount of loans 
and advances to consumer finance customers amounts to 
HK$11,121.3 million (31/12/2018: HK$10,415.3 million). The 
Group is entitled to sell or repledge collateral when there is 
default by the borrowers. There has not been any significant 
changes in the quality of collateral held for loans and advances 
to consumer finance customers.
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30.	Loans and Advances to Consumer 
Finance Customers (Continued)

The main types of collateral and credit enhancement obtained 
are as follows:

–	 for personal lending, charges over residential properties/
commercial properties; and

–	 for commercial lending, corporate guarantee, charges over 
residential properties/commercial properties, charges over 
real estate properties, pledge of shares or debentures over 
the borrower’s assets.

In general, secured loans and advances are made to consumer 
finance customers with sufficient amount of collateral provided 
by them. Management requests additional collateral as 
appropriate in accordance with the underlying agreements, and 
monitors the market value of collateral during its review of the 
adequacy of the impairment allowance.

Estimates of the fair value of collateral are based on the 
valuation techniques commonly used for the corresponding 
assets at the time of borrowing.

It is the Group’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in 
an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce or repay 
the outstanding loan balances. In general, the Group does not 
retain repossessed properties for business purposes. As at 31 
December 2019, no repossessed properties were held by the 
Group (2018: Nil).

In respect of the secured loans and advances to customers 
with the carrying amount of HK$143.7 million (2018: HK$183.5 
million), the fair value of collateral of such loans and advances 
can be objectively ascertained to cover the outstanding amount 
of loan balances based on quoted prices of collateral.

The carrying amounts of the loans and advances to consumer 
finance customers approximate their fair values.

31.	Mortgage Loans
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Mortgage loans

– Hong Kong 3,648.6 3,863.9

Less: impairment allowance (21.7) (9.7)  
3,626.9 3,854.2  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Non-current assets 1,270.7 1,956.8

– Current assets 2,356.2 1,897.4  
3,626.9 3,854.2  

The mortgage loans bear interest rate are as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Fixed rate 
loan receivables

5.8% to
31.2%

5.5% to
30.0%

Variable rate 
loan receivables

P-2.3% to
P+6.8%

P-2.5% to
P+6.6%

  

Movement of impairment allowance during the year of 2019 
and 2018 are disclosed in Note 47(b).

The mortgage loans have been reviewed by the mortgage loans 
division to assess impairment allowances which are based on 
an evaluation of collectability, ageing analysis of accounts, fair 
value of collateral and on management’s judgement, including 
the current creditworthiness and the past collection statistics 
of individual accounts and are adjusted for forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

The ageing analysis for the mortgage loans that are past due is 
as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Less than 31 days past due 148.8 306.0

31–60 days 32.0 285.5

61–90 days 4.0 61.4

91–180 days – 22.5

Over 180 days 143.8 7.5  
328.6 682.9  
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31.	Mortgage Loans (Continued)

At the reporting date, mortgage loans with aggregate carrying 
amount of HK$328.6 million (31/12/2018: HK$682.9 million) 
are past due. Out of the past due balances, HK$143.8 million 
(31/12/2018: HK$30.0 million) has been past due 90 days or 
more and is considered to be credit-impaired however with 
collateral. The impairment provision has taken into account 
the credit quality of the underlying assets, the financial 
strength of the borrowers as well as collateral and other credit 
enhancements.

The mortgage loans categorised as unsecured and secured, 
are as follows:

At the reporting date, mortgage loans consisted of HK$174.4 
mil l ion unsecured (31/12/2018: HK$175.1 mil l ion) and 
HK$3,452.5 million secured (31/12/2018: HK$3,679.1 million). 
The Group has not recognised a loss allowance for loans 
amounting to HK$3,033.7 million (2018: HK$3,582.7 million) 
which are secured by collateral.

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an 
assessment of the credit risk of the customer. The main types 
of collateral and credit enhancement obtained are mortgages 
over residential properties/commercial properties.

As at 31 December 2019, the gross carrying amount of 
mortgage loans amounts to HK$3,648.6 million (31/12/2018: 
HK$3,863.9 million). The Group is entitled to sell or repledge 
collateral when there is a default by the borrowers. There has 
not been any significant change in the quality of collateral held 
for mortgage loans.

In general, mortgage loans are granted on a secured basis 
with sufficient amount of collateral provided by the borrower. 
Management requests additional collateral as appropriate in 
accordance with the underlying agreements, and monitors the 
market value of collateral during its review of the adequacy of 
the impairment allowance.

Estimates of the fair value of collateral are based on valuation 
techniques commonly used for the corresponding assets at the 
time of borrowing.

It is the Group’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in 
an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce or repay 
the outstanding loan balances. In general, the Group does 
not retain repossessed properties for business purposes. At 
the end of the reporting period, the net realisable value of the 
repossessed properties held by Mortgage Loans Division is 
HK$1.2 million (2018: HK$7.9 million).

In respect of secured mortgage loans to mortgage loan 
customers with the carrying amount of HK$3,452.5 million 
(2018: HK$3,679.1 million), the fair value of collateral of such 
mortgage loans can be objectively ascertained to cover a 
substantial portion of the outstanding loan amounts based on 
valuations conducted by an independent property valuer.

The unsecured mortgage loans include second mortgage 
loans in respect of which the Group are not entitled to the first 
charge of relevant mortgage properties. Management considers 
that the second mortgage loans are classified as unsecured 
loans due to the impediment in repossession of the mortgage 
properties and the practical difficulties to ascertain the residual 
collateral value after claim by first mortgagee.

The carrying amounts of the mortgage loans approximate their 
fair values.

32.	Term Loans
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Secured term loans 2,111.6 1,945.4

Unsecured term loans 106.0 690.6

Less: impairment allowance (311.4) (150.8)  
1,906.2 2,485.2  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Non-current assets 49.6 33.1

– Current assets 1,856.6 2,452.1  
1,906.2 2,485.2  

The term loans bear interest rate are as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Fixed rate loan receivables

4.0% to

21.6%

4.0% to 

30.0%  

Movement of impairment allowance during the year of 2019 
and 2018 are disclosed in Note 47(b).

It is the Group’s policy to dispose of repossessed collateral in 
an orderly fashion.
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The following is an ageing analysis of trade and other 
receivables based on date of invoice/contract note at the 
reporting date:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Less than 31 days 279.2 277.8

31-60 days – 2.5  

279.2 280.3

Trade and other 

receivables without ageing 102.6 88.3  

381.8 368.6  

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables at 
amortised cost approximate their fair values.

Further details on financial risk management of trade and other 
receivables are disclosed in Note 47.

34.	Bank Deposits, Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bank balances and cash 2,732.2 2,645.9

Fixed deposits with banks with 

a term within 3 months 2,892.7 1,976.5  
Cash and cash equivalents 5,624.9 4,622.4

Short-term pledged bank deposits and 

bank balances 33.2 20.0

Fixed deposits with banks with 

a term between 4 to 12 months 68.1 353.5  
5,726.2 4,995.9  

The carrying amounts of the bank deposits, cash and cash 
equivalents approximate their fair values. Further details on 
financial risk management of bank deposits, cash and cash 
equivalents are disclosed in Note 47.

32.	Term Loans (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the gross carrying amount of secured 
term loans amounts to HK$2,111.6 million (31 December 2018: 
HK$1,945.4 million). The main types of collateral and credit 
enhancement obtained includes share charges over unlisted 
and listed equity securities, personal guarantees, assignment of 
rights and charges over properties. The Group is entitled to sell 
or repledge collateral when there is default by the borrowers. 
There has not been any significant changes in the quality of 
the collateral held for secured term loans. The Group has not 
recognised a loss allowance amounting to HK$410.1 million 
(2018: HK$1,535.6 million) which are secured by collateral.

No ageing analysis is disclosed for term loans financing, as, in 
the opinion of the management, the ageing analysis does not 
give additional value in the view of the nature of the term loans 
financing business.

The carrying amounts of the term loans approximate their fair 
values.

Further details on financial risk management of term loans are 
disclosed in Note 47.

33.	Trade Receivables, Prepayments and 
Other Receivables

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Other receivables

– Deposits 38.0 38.7

– Others 391.3 329.9

Less: impairment allowance (47.5) –  

Trade and other 

receivables at amortised cost 381.8 368.6

Prepayments 105.4 19.1  

487.2 387.7  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Non-current assets 20.4 22.9

– Current assets 466.8 364.8  

487.2 387.7  
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35.	Bank and Other Borrowings
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bank loans

– Unsecured term loans 7,544.2 6,205.7

– Secured loans 550.8 915.3  
Total bank borrowings 8,095.0 7,121.0

Other borrowings 62.1 62.1  
8,157.1 7,183.1  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Current liabilities 5,659.9 5,221.3

– Non-current liabilities 2,497.2 1,961.8  
8,157.1 7,183.1  

At 31 December 2019, bank and other borrowings were 
repayable as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bank borrowings

– Within one year 4,468.7 3,627.1

– In the second year 1,483.3 1,025.1

– Over two years and within five years 951.7 874.6

Bank borrowings with 

a repayment on demand clause

– Within one year 1,191.3 1,594.2  
8,095.0 7,121.0

Other borrowings

– Over five years 62.1 62.1  
8,157.1 7,183.1  

As at 31 December 2019, all the bank loans and other 
borrowings are in Hong Kong dollars except for equivalent 
amounts of  Ni l  which was denominated in Renminbi 
(31/12/2018: HK$114.1 million), HK$60.1 million which was 
denominated in Australian dollar (31/12/2018: Nil), HK$251.2 
million which was denominated in British pounds (31/12/2018: 
Nil) and HK$217.7 million which was denominated in US 
dollar (31/12/2018: HK$72.7 million). Further details related to 
financial risk management of such balances are disclosed in 
Note 47.

The carrying amounts of the bank and other borrowings 
approximate their fair values.

36.	Trade Payables, Other Payables and 
Accruals

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Other accounts payable 137.3 65.7

Accrued staff costs and 

other accrued expenses 201.1 171.2  
338.4 236.9  

  

The following is an ageing analysis of the trade payables, other 
payables and accruals based on the date of invoice/contract 
note at the reporting date:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Less than 31 days/repayable on demand 125.3 43.3

31–60 days 6.3 10.2

61–90 days 5.6 12.8

91–180 days 0.7 1.3  
137.9 67.6

Accrued staff costs, 

other accrued expenses and 

other payables without ageing 200.5 169.3  

338.4 236.9  

The carrying amounts of the trade payables, other payables and 
accruals at amortised cost approximate their fair values.
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37.	Financial Assets Sold Under 
Repurchase Agreements

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Analysed by collateral type:

Debt instruments classified as:

Financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss 386.2 1,216.5  

As at 31 December 2019, debt instruments which are classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with 
carrying amount of HK$524.9 million (2018: HK$1,483.7 
million) were sold under repurchase agreements with other 
financial institutions. All repurchase agreements are due within 
12 months from the end of the reporting period. Details of the 
arrangement are set out in Note 27.

38.	Related Party Transactions
During the year, the Group entered into the following material 
transactions with related parties:

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Associates and joint ventures of a 
holding company

Rental and building management fees to 
an associate of a holding company*** (2.6) (3.5)

Rental and building management fees to 
a joint venture of a holding company* (25.0) (25.3)

Interest expense to a joint venture of 
a holding company on 
lease liabilities*** @ (1.4) –

Interest expense to an associate of a 
holding company*** (5.9) (5.5)  

Associates and joint ventures
Loan referral fee and participation fee 

received from an associate ^ 10.3 21.6
Management and service fees received 

from associates and joint ventures ^ 2.9 3.9
Brokerage expenses to an associate ^ (0.6) (3.8)
Service fees to an associate ^ (7.2) (4.5)
Insurance premiums paid to an associate 

^ (2.0) (1.2)
Unlisted redeemable preference shares 

issued by an associate ^ – (64.6)  
Holding company and its subsidiaries
(Repayment)/loan from 

a fellow subsidiary*** (481.6) 388.7
Finance costs to fellow subsidiaries*** (36.6) (32.2)
Service fee to a fellow subsidiaries*** – (0.5)
Management fees paid/payable to 

a holding company* (16.9) (17.7)
Rental and building management fees to 

a holding company* (1.4) (0.3)
Other related party
Interest income from loan to Independent 

Non-Executive Director** 5.4 2.1
Repayment from/(loan to) Independent 

Non-Executive Director** 1.2 (145.0)  

*	 The transactions also constituted connected transactions or continuing 

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 

disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in 

section Continuing Connected Transactions of the Directors’ Report.

**	 The amounts due from a deceased director are secured, interest bearing 

at market interest rate and repayable within 12 months from the date of 

drawdown. The transactions also constituted connected transactions or 

continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are 

provided in the announcement of the Company dated 23 October 2018.

***	 The transactions also constituted connected transactions or continuing 

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 

However those transactions are exempt from all disclosure requirements in 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

^	 The transactions did not fall under the definition of connected transaction or 

continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules.

@	 As at 31 December 2019, the Group has lease liabilities of HK$24.1 million 

to the joint venture of a holding company, of which HK$39.8 million was 

recognised after date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e. 1 January 2019.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key 
management during the year were as follows:

(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Short-term benefits* 103.8 79.7

Post-employment benefits* 2.0 1.7  
105.8 81.4  

  

The above table includes HK$4.28 million of short-term benefits 
and HK$0.14 million of post-employment benefits for one of the 
Key Management Personnel who falls into the scope of related 
party transactions but not regarded as a connected person (as 
defined in the Listing Rules).

*	 During the year, 957,000 shares were granted under the SHK Employee 

Ownership Scheme (“EOS”) to key management personnel. In addition, 

1,498,000 shares with a total amount of HK$5.56 million were vested for 

key management personnel during the year. The total dividend payments 

paid to the key management personnel during the year were HK$0.63 

million (2018: HK$0.14 million). Further information of the EOS is disclosed 

in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” Section and Directors’ Report 

of this Annual Report.

The transactions also constituted connected transactions or continuing 

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 

However those transactions are exempt from the disclosure requirements in 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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38.	Related Party Transactions (Continued)

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held 
on 23 July 2012, it was resolved that a director’s service 
agreement entered between the Group and a director of a 
subsidiary for a term of ten years be approved. Subject to the 
terms and conditions of the agreement, the Group has granted 
the director of a subsidiary an option (“Option”) to subscribe for 
or purchase up to 20% of the issued capital of a new company 
(“Newco”) to be established to hold all equity interest in 
subsidiaries incorporated or to be incorporated in the PRC for 
money lending businesses in the PRC (“PRC Subsidiaries”) at 
an exercise price which is determined based on the aggregate 
carrying amount of shareholders equity and shareholders loans 
proportional to the shareholding to be taken up by the director 
of a subsidiary at the time of exercise of the Option. Prior to 
the period before the Option becomes vested, the director 
of a subsidiary is also entitled a bonus calculated based on 
the performance of the PRC Subsidiaries. The transaction 
constituted a very substantial disposal and a connected 
transaction and its details were disclosed in the Company’s 
circular dated 29 June 2012.

The fair value of the Option on grant date of 23 July 2012 was 
HK$255.1 million which was calculated using the Black-Scholes 
pricing model and carried out by Norton Appraisals Limited, 
a firm of independent and qualified professional valuers not 
connected with the Group. The inputs into the model include 
an underlying asset value of PRC Subsidiaries as at the grant 
date of HK$1,018.1 million, risk free rate of 2.74%, volatility of 
39.25% and expected option life of 5 years. No share based 
payment expense is recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 
Nil) since one of the vesting conditions for the Option is the 
successful completion of the establishment of the Newco, the 
date of which, in the opinion of the management, could not yet 
be estimated with reasonable certainty.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following 
material balances with related parties:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Associates

Amounts due from associates^ 329.9 363.8

Amounts due to associates^ – (1.9)  
329.9 361.9  

Holding company and fellow  

subsidiaries

Management fees paid/payable to a 

holding company* (2.4) (4.5)

Short-term loan due to fellow 

subsidiaries*** (32.9) (514.5)

Notes/paper payable held by fellow 

subsidiaries*** (395.8) (371.5)

Notes/paper payable held by an associate 

of a holding company*** (77.9) –  
Amount due from Independent  

Non-Executive Director** (148.6) (147.1)  

*	 The transactions also constituted connected transactions or continuing 

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 

disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in 

section Continuing Connected Transactions of the Directors’ Report.

**	 The amounts due from a deceased director are secured, interest bearing 

at market interest rate and repayable within 12 months from the date of 

drawdown. The transactions also constituted connected transactions or 

continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are 

provided in the announcement of the Company dated 23 October 2018.

***	 The transactions also constituted connected transactions or continuing 

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 

However those transactions are exempt from all disclosure requirements in 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

^	 The transactions did not fall under the definition of connected transaction or 

continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules.

The amounts due from (to) associates are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to a holding company are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest 
bearing and repayable on demand.
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39.	Provisions

(HK$ Million)

Employee

benefits

Loan

commitments

Financial

guarantee

contracts Others Total

At 1 January 2018 55.7 – 10.0 4.0 69.7

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 – 27.8 – – 27.8

Exchange adjustments – – (0.1) – (0.1)

Additional provisions for the year 84.5 0.9 (9.6) 10.4 86.2

Amount written back – – – (8.8) (8.8)

Amount utilised during the year (71.1) – – – (71.1)     
At 31 December 2018 69.1 28.7 0.3 5.6 103.7

Additional provisions for the year 95.0 3.9 – 1.1 100.0

Amount written back (0.3) – (0.3) – (0.6)

Amount utilised during the year (49.9) – – – (49.9)     
At 31 December 2019 113.9 32.6 – 6.7 153.2     

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Current liabilities 152.9 103.5

– Non-current liabilities 0.3 0.2  
153.2 103.7  

40.	Lease Liabilities
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 1/1/2019

Current liabilities 89.9 72.1

Non-current liabilities 27.8 63.0  

117.7 135.1  

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 1/1/2019

Maturity analysis

Not later than 1 year 89.9 72.1

Later than 1 year and not later than  

5 years 27.8 63.0

Later than 5 years – –  
117.7 135.1  

41.	Notes/Paper Payable
(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

US dollar denominated notes 

(the “US$ Notes”)

– 4.75% US$ Notes maturing  

in May 2021 (“the “4.75% Notes”) 1,927.0 2,801.7

– 4.65% US$ Notes maturing  

in September 2022 (the “4.65% Notes”) 3,504.8 4,362.1

US dollar denominated senior notes 

(the “US$ Senior Notes”)

– 5.75% US$ Senior Notes maturing  

in November 2024 (the “5.75% Notes”) 2,734.3 –

HK dollar denominated notes/paper 

(the “HK$ Notes/Paper”)

– HK$ Notes/Paper 432.6 636.2  
8,598.7 7,800.0  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

– Current liabilities 569.5 752.7

– Non-current liabilities 8,029.2 7,047.3  
8,598.7 7,800.0  
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41.	Notes/Paper Payable (Continued)

The US$ Notes and US$ Senior Notes were issued by a 
subsidiary, Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited, under a US$3 
billion guaranteed medium term note programme.

The HK$ Notes/Paper were issued by a subsidiary, Sun Hung 
Kai (ECP) Limited, under a US$1 billion guaranteed commercial 
paper programme.

The 4.75% Notes are listed on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited. The nominal value of the 4.75% Notes 
was US$249.8 million or equivalent to HK$1,944.9 million 
(31/12/2018: US$361.6 million or equivalent to HK$2,831.8 
million) at the reporting date. The fair value of the 4.75% Notes 
based on the price quoted from pricing service at the reporting 
date was HK$1,950.6 million (31/12/2018: HK$2,768.2 million) 
which was categorised as Level 2.

The 4.65% Notes are listed on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited. The nominal value of the 4.65% Notes 

outstanding after eliminating the intra-group holdings was 
US$444.5 mil l ion or equivalent to HK$3,461.2 mil l ion 
(31/12/2018: US$550.0 million or equivalent to HK$4,306.8 
million) at the reporting date. The fair value of the 4.65% Notes 
based on the price quoted from pricing service at the reporting 
date was HK$3,492.1 million (31/12/2018: HK$4,131.2 million) 
which was categorised as Level 2.

On 5 November 2019, the Group launched a tender offer to 
purchase for cash the 4.75% Notes and the 4.65% Notes at an 
offer price of US$1,000 per each US$1,000 in principal amount 
of the 4.75% Notes and the 4.65% Notes. On 15 November 
2019, the Group completed the purchase of the 4.75% Notes 
and the 4.65% Notes in an aggregate principal amount of 
US$220.0 million.

The 5.75% Notes are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited. The nominal value of the 5.75% Notes was 
US$350.0 million or equivalent to HK$2,725.5 million at the 
reporting date. The fair value of the 5.75% Notes based on 
the price quoted from pricing service at the reporting date was 
HK$2,761.6 million which was categorised as Level 2.

42.	Share Capital
Number of shares Share capital

31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Million Shares Million Shares HK$ Million HK$ Million

Issued and fully paid
Balance brought forward 2,008.0 2,153.0 8,752.3 8,752.3

Shares cancelled after repurchase (8.9) (145.0) – –

Shares repurchased but not yet cancelled (0.3) – – –    
Balance carried forward 1,998.8 2,008.0 8,752.3 8,752.3    

During the year, the trustee of the EOS acquired 1.3 million 
shares (2018: 5.6 million shares) of the Company through 
purchases on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
for the awarded shares of the EOS. The total amount paid to 
acquire the shares during the period was HK$4.7 million (2018: 
HK$24.8 million), which has been deducted from the owners’ 
equity. Further information is disclosed in the relevant section of 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this Annual 
Report.

During the year, an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Group – 
UAF repurchased its own shares through a private agreement 
for HK$731.5 million which increased the Group’s ownership 
interest from 58.18% to 62.74%.

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 9.2 million 
shares through purchases on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited at an aggregate consideration of HK$33.0 million. 
Further information is disclosed in the relevant section of the 
Directors’ Report.

In 2018, the Company repurchased its own shares through 
an off-market share buy-back from Asia Financial Services 
Company Limited (“AFSC”) purchases on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited for HK$650.9 mil l ion ( including 
expenses). On 4 May 2018, AFSC executed a Deed of 
Undertaking in favour of the Company conditionally undertaking 
to execute a buy-back contract (the “Buy-back Contract”) 
relating to an off-market share buy-back by the Company of 
145,000,000 Shares held by AFSC (“Share Buy-back”). The 
Buy-back price had been reduced from HK$4.75 per Share to 
HK$4.61 per Share after adjusting for the 2017 second interim 
dividend of HK$0.14 per Share paid to AFSC on 28 June 2018. 
The Buy-back price had been further reduced to HK$4.49 per 
Share subsequent to the 2018 interim dividend of HK$0.12 per 
Share declared by the Board on 15 August 2018 which was 
paid on 12 September 2018. The agreed form of the Buy-back 
Contract was approved by the independent Shareholders at the 
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 17 July 
2018 and the Buy-back Contract was entered into between 
AFSC and the Company on 20 July 2018.
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43.	Analysis of Other Comprehensive Expenses
Attributable to owners 

of the Company 

(HK$ Million)

Exchange

reserve

Revaluation

reserve

Non-

controlling

interests Total

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – (15.4) 1.5 (13.9)

Exchange differences arising on translating foreign operations (73.2) – (40.5) (113.7)

Share of other comprehensive income of associates 4.2 – – 4.2

Share of other comprehensive expenses of joint ventures (3.5) – – (3.5)    
(72.5) (15.4) (39.0) (126.9)    

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – (108.9) (1.4) (110.3)

Exchange differences arising on translating foreign operations (197.0) – (138.8) (335.8)

Transfer of revaluation surplus upon disposal of joint ventures – 2.8 – 2.8

Share of other comprehensive expenses of associates (0.8) – – (0.8)

Share of other comprehensive expenses of joint ventures – (3.2) – (3.2)    
(197.8) (109.3) (140.2) (447.3)    

    

44.	Commitments
(a)	 Operating lease commitments

The Group as lessee

At 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments for future 
aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases related to its office premises and office 
equipment which fall due as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2018

Within one year 103.6

In the second to fifth year inclusive 79.2 
182.8 

 

The lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for 
its office premises and office equipment under operating lease 
arrangements. The lease terms and rentals of properties are 
fixed at one to five years. The lease commitments include rental 
payable to a joint venture of a holding company of HK$41.6 
million as at 31 December 2018 and an associate of a holding 
company of HK$1.2 million.

At 31 December 2019, the Group is committed to HK$6.4 
million for short-term leases.

The maturity profile of the lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 
40.

(b)	 Loan commitments

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Within one year 1,397.0 1,226.0  

(c)	 Other commitments

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Capital commitments for funds 751.5 476.4

Other capital commitments – 3.7  
751.5 480.1  

45.	Contingent Liabilities
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had guarantees 
to a joint venture in the amount of HK$105.2 million (2018: 
HK$107.0 million) and an independent third party of HK$389.3 
million (2018: Nil), respectively and the movement is as follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

At 1 January 107.0 112.7

Additions 387.7 –

Exchange adjustments (0.2) (5.7)  
At 31 December 494.5 107.0  
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46.	Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support the 
Group’s growth and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages i ts capita l  structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of its activities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made 
in objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 31 
December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net 
debts divided by the equity. Net debts represent the total of 
bank and other borrowings and notes/paper payable less bank 
deposits, cash and cash equivalents. The equity comprises 
all components of equity attributable to the owners of the 
Company. The gearing ratio at the reporting date was as 
follows:

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bank and other borrowings 8,157.1 7,183.1

Notes/paper payable 8,598.7 7,800.0  
16,755.8 14,983.1

Less: bank deposits, 

cash and cash equivalents (5,726.2) (4,995.9)  
Net debts 11,029.6 9,987.2  
Equity attributable to 

owners of the Company 20,381.7 19,039.2  
Gearing ratio 54.1% 52.4%  

47.	Financial Risk Management
Risk is inherent in the financial service business and sound 
risk management is a cornerstone of prudent and successful 
financial practice. That said, the Group acknowledges that a 
balance must be achieved between risks control and business 
growth. The principal financial risks inherent in the Group’s 
business are market risk (includes equity risk, interest rate risk 
and foreign exchange risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Group’s risk management objective is to enhance shareholders’ 
value while retaining exposure within acceptable thresholds.

The Group’s risk management governance structure is 
designed to cover all business activities and to ensure all 
relevant risk classes are properly managed and controlled. 
The Group has adopted a sound risk management and 
organisational structure equipped with comprehensive policies 
and procedures which are reviewed regularly and enhanced 
when necessary in response to changes in markets, the 
Group’s operating environment and business strategies. The 
Group’s independent control functions including Internal Audit, 
play an important role in the provision of assurance to the Board 
and senior management that a sound internal risk management 
mechanism is implemented, maintained and adhered to.



Annual Report 2019 /     141

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a)	 Market Risk

(i)	 Equity Risk

There are many asset classes available for investment in the marketplace. One of the Group’s key business undertakings is investing 
in equity. Market risk arising from any equity investments is driven by the daily fluctuations in market prices or fair values. The 
ability to mitigate such risk depends on the availability of any hedging instruments and the diversification level of the investment 
portfolios undertaken by the Group. More importantly, the knowledge and experience of the trading staff managing the risk are 
also vital to ensure exposure is being properly hedged and rebalanced in the most timely manner. Proprietary trading across the 
Group is subject to limits approved by senior management. Valuation of these instruments is measured on a “mark-to-market” and 
“mark-to-fair-value” basis depending on whether they are listed or unlisted. Value at Risk (“VaR”) and stress tests are employed in 
the assessment of risk. Meanwhile other non-VaR limits such as “maximum loss” and “position” limits are also set out to restrict 
excessive risk undertakings. VaR and stress tests are approaches which are widely used in the financial industry as tools to quantify 
risk by combining the size of a position and the extent of a potential market movement into a potential financial impact.

The Group’s market-making and proprietary trading positions and their financial performance are reported daily to senior 
management for review. Internal Audit also performs regular checks to ensure there is adequate compliance in accordance with the 
established market risk limits and guidelines.

The table below summarises the overall financial impact on the Group arising from market movements in global equity indices. 
The analysis is based on the assumption that equity indices move ±20% with all other variables being held constant and all equity 
instruments undertaken by the Group moving simultaneously. Declines in the indices are expressed as negatives.

At 31 December 2019 At 31 December 2018  

Potential impact on profit or 

loss for the year

Potential impact on other 

components of equity

Potential impact on profit or loss 

for the year

Potential impact on other 

components of equity    

(HK$ Million) 20% –20% 20% –20% 20% –20% 20% –20%

Local Index 333.1 (324.0) 8.3 (8.3) 298.8 (292.7) 8.8 (8.8)

Overseas Index 1,838.4 (1,838.5) 17.6 (17.6) 1,469.6 (1,478.6) 26.1 (26.1)

Futures, options and knock-out options are hedged by other derivatives in view of the volatile markets and wide trading ranges.

(ii)	 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of loss due to changes in interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk exposure arises predominantly 
from term financing and loans and advances to consumer finance customers. Interest spreads are managed with the objective of 
maximising spreads to ensure consistency with liquidity and funding obligations.

At 31 December 2019, assuming that market interest rates moved by ±50 basis points (31/12/2018: ±50 basis points), the profit 
before tax for the year for the Group would have been HK$13.4 million lower or HK$13.6 million higher respectively (2018: HK$11.4 
million lower or HK$11.2 million higher respectively). Assets and liabilities bearing interest below 50 basis points are excluded from 
50 basis points downward movement.
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a)	 Market Risk (Continued)

(ii)	 Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

The exposures of the Group’s financial assets (liabilities) bearing variable interest rate to cash flow interest rate risks and the earlier 
of their contractual repricing dates and contractual maturity dates are as follows:

(HK$ Million)

On demand

or less than

3 months

3 months to

1 year

1 year to

5 years

Over

5 years Total

At 31 December 2019

Loans and advances to consumer finance customers 133.9 – – – 133.9

Mortgage loans 53.7 1,288.4 – – 1,342.1

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 3,824.3 – – – 3,824.3

Bank borrowings (8,125.3) – – – (8,125.3)     
At 31 December 2018

Loans and advances to consumer finance customers 182.1 – – – 182.1

Mortgage loans 1,644.9 – – – 1,644.9

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 3,048.3 – – – 3,048.3

Bank borrowings (3,597.0) (1,638.9) (1,957.0) – (7,192.9)     

The exposures of the Group’s financial assets (liabilities) bearing fixed interest rate to fair value interest rate risks and the earlier of 
their contractual repricing dates and contractual maturity dates are as follows:

(HK$ Million)

On demand

or less than

3 months

3 months to

1 year

1 year to

5 years

Over

5 years

Non-interest

bearing Total

At 31 December 2019

Loans and advances to consumer finance customers 2,876.6 4,697.8 2,699.8 5.4 – 10,279.6

Mortgage loans 833.8 1,436.4 14.6 – – 2,284.8

Bonds included in financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss 340.4 264.9 250.5 157.9 – 1,013.7

Term loans 1,027.2 827.4 51.6 – – 1,906.2

Amounts due from associates – – – – 329.9 329.9

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 1,682.8 68.1 – – 151.0 1,901.9

Bank borrowings (20.0) – – – (11.8) (31.8)

Lease liabilities (22.9) (67.0) (27.8) – – (117.7)

Notes/paper payable – (569.4) (8,029.3) – – (8,598.7)

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and a holding company (32.8) – – – (2.5) (35.3)      
At 31 December 2018

Loans and advances to consumer finance customers 2,403.4 4,664.9 2,393.9 125.4 – 9,587.6

Mortgage loans 668.9 1,129.1 411.3 – – 2,209.3

Bonds included in financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss 312.8 – 106.7 1,377.0 – 1,796.5

Term loans 1,075.4 1,396.1 13.7 – – 2,485.2

Amounts due from associates – – – – 363.8 363.8

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 838.5 353.5 – – 755.6 1,947.6

Bank borrowings (22.8) – – – 32.6 9.8

Notes/paper payable – (752.7) (7,047.3) – – (7,800.0)

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and a holding company (514.5) – – – (4.5) (519.0)      
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a)	 Market Risk (Continued)

(iii)	 Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising 
from movements in foreign exchange rates.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from 
currency exposures originating from proprietary trading 
positions, private equity investments, loans and advances and 
bank and other borrowings denominated in foreign currencies, 
mainly in Australian dollars, British pounds, Euro, Canadian 
dollar and Renminbi (”RMB”). Foreign exchange risk is managed 
and monitored by senior management. The risk arises from 
open currency positions are subject to management approved 
limits and are monitored and reported daily.

At 31 December 2019, assuming that the foreign exchange 
rates moved ±5% (31/12/2018: ±5%) with all other variables 
held constant, the profit before tax for the year for the Group 
would be HK$92.6 million higher/lower (2018: HK$88.2 million 
higher/lower).

(b)	Credit Risk

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties 
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial 
losses to the Group. As at 31 December 2019, the Group 
performed impairment assessment for financial assets and 
other items under ECL model. Information about the Group’s 
credit risk management, maximum exposure to credit risk (which 
for financial assets is represented by their carrying amounts) 
and the related impairment assessment are summarised in 
the tables below. In addition, the Group is also exposed to 
credit risk arising from loan commitments, financial guarantee 
contracts for which the maximum exposure to credit risk is 
disclosed in Notes 44(b), 39 and 45. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk of the investment securities at FVTPL which are 
exposed to credit risk is their carrying amount, which amounts 
to HK$1,662.6 million at 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$3,517.5 
million), and is monitored by management according to their 
geographical locations and industries. Generally, the Group 
considers that the credit risks associated with loans and 
advances to consumer finance customers, mortgage loans 
and term loans is mitigated because they are secured over 
properties and other securities. For those remaining items that 
do not have any collateral or other credit enhancements to 
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets, loan 
commitments and financial guarantee contracts, are exposed to 
credit risk.

The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits 
on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual 
counterparties and by monitoring exposures in relation to 
such limits. The Group evaluates the credit risk for each loan 
application on the basis of the repayment abilities of the 
customers having regard to their financial position, employment 
status, past due record and credit reference checking result (if 
applicable).

Credits are granted according to the hierarchy of approval 
authorities within the Group, including the front-line approval 
officers, central credit officers, the Credit Committee and the 
Boards of Directors of the respective companies within the 
Group (if applicable).

The Group has established a credit quality review process 
to provide early identification of possible changes in the 
creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral 
revisions and interviews with customers to update the credit risk 
of customers. Credit review checking and approval processes 
are properly segregated to ensure effective internal control over 
credit risk and monitoring in the respective companies within 
the Group. Dedicated teams of operations staff independent 
from the credit approval authorities are assigned for recovery 
of overdue debts. The credit quality review process enables 
the Group to assess the potential loss as a result of the risk to 
which it is exposed and take appropriate corrective actions.

The Group adopts a prudent approach to credit r isk 
management framework. Its credit policy is timely revised 
to align with the prevailing credit environment which is 
continuously affected by changes in business, economy, 
regulatory requirements, money market, and social conditions.

Internal Audit Department and Risk Management Department 
of respective companies within the Group periodically conducts 
internal control reviews and compliance checking over all 
aspects of credit processes to ensure that the established 
credit policies and procedures are complied with and sufficient 
controls are in place to mitigate credit risk.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the 
counterparties are banks/financial institutions with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than the concentration of credit risk on liquid funds 
which are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, 
the Group does not have any other significant concentration 
of credit risk. Loans and advances to consumer finance 
customers, mortgage loans and term loans consist of a large 
number of customers who are spread across diverse industries.

Concentration risk of loans and advances to consumer finance 
customers is managed by reference to individual customers. 
The aggregate credit exposure in relation to the ten largest 
outstanding consumer finance customers, including corporate 
entities and individuals, after taking into account any collateral 
held or other credit enhancements, net of ECL, at 31 December 
2019 was HK$1,233.4 million (2018: HK$1,197.4 million) of 
which 64.6% (2018: 63.3%) was secured by collateral.
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Concentration risk of mortgage loans is managed by reference 
to individual mortgage finance customers. The aggregate 
credit exposure in relation to the ten largest outstanding 
mortgage finance customers, including corporate entities and 
individuals, after taking into account any collateral held or other 
credit enhancements, net of ECL, at 31 December 2019 was 
HK$1,176.2 million (2018: HK$1,032.4 million) of which 100% 
(2018: 100%) was secured by collateral.

Concentration risk of term loans is managed by reference to 
individual term loan customers. The aggregate credit exposure 
in relation to the ten largest outstanding term loan customers, 
including corporate entities and individuals, after taking into 
account any collateral held or other credit enhancements, net 
of ECL, at 31 December 2019 was HK$1,770.3 million (2018: 
HK$2,320.6 million) of which 100% (2018: 73.8%) was secured 
by collateral.

The Group’s internal credit risk assessment for loans and advances to consumer finance customers and mortgage loans comprises 
the following categories:

Internal credit risk 
categories Description

Loans and receivables at 
amortised costs

Loan commitments/ 
financial guarantee 
contracts

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 
any past-due amounts

12-month ECL 12-month ECL

Watch list Debtor usually settles overdue balances after due date 12-month ECL 12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial 
recognition based on information from internal or external 
resources

Lifetime ECL – not credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL – not credit-
impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL – credit-
impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery of debts

Amount is written off 
against the allowance 
account

N/A

The Group takes into consideration forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort in its assessment of 
significant increase in credit risk as well as in its measurement 
of ECL. The Group employs experts who use external and 
internal information to generate a ‘base case’ scenario of 
future forecast of relevant economic variables along with a 
representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. The 
external information includes economic data and forecasts 
published by governmental bodies and monetary authorities.

The Group applies probabilities to the forecast scenarios 
identified. The base case scenario is the single most-likely 
outcome and consists of information used by the Group for 
strategic planning and budgeting. The Group has identified and 
documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each 
portfolio of financial instruments and, using a statistical analysis 
of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-
economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. The Group 
has not changed in the estimation techniques or significant 
assumptions during the reporting period.
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets (including loans and advances to consumer finance 
customers, mortgage loans, term loans, amounts due from associates, amounts due from brokers, short-term pledged bank 
deposits and bank balances, bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and other receivables), loan commitments and financial 
guarantee contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment:

Note
Internal credit risk
categories 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

2019 2018
HK$ Million HK$ Million

Loans and receivables at amortised costs and maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into 
account of any collaterals and other credit enhancements

Loans and advances to 
consumer finance customers

30 Low risk/watch list 12-month ECL 10,501.9 9,912.9

Doubtful Lifetime ECL  
(not credit impaired)

464.8 281.8

Loss Lifetime ECL  
(credit-impaired)

154.6 220.6

  
11,121.3* 10,415.3*

Mortgage loans 31 Low risk/ watch list 12-month ECL 3,170.6 3,487.6
Doubtful Lifetime ECL  

(not credit impaired)
14.4 350.7

Loss Lifetime ECL  
(credit-impaired)

463.6 25.6

  
3,648.6* 3,863.9*

Term loans 32 Note 2 12-month ECL 1,041.7 2,228.3
Note 2 Lifetime ECL  

(not credit-impaired)
459.2 –

Lifetime ECL  
(credit-impaired)

716.7 407.7

  
2,217.6 2,636.0

Amounts due from associates 29 N/A 12-month ECL 329.9 363.8
N/A Lifetime ECL  

(credit-impaired)
17.5 17.1

  
347.4 380.9

Amounts due from brokers N/A 12-month ECL 451.7 507.0  
Short-term pledged bank deposits and 

bank balances
34 N/A 12-month ECL 33.2 20.0

  
Bank deposits 34 N/A 12-month ECL 68.1 353.5  
Cash and cash equivalents 34 N/A 12-month ECL 5,611.5 4,610.7  
Trade and other receivables 33 N/A 12-month ECL 231.4 368.6

N/A Lifetime ECL  
(credit impaired)

197.9 –

  
429.3 368.6

Other items
Loan commitments (Note 1) 44 Low risk/ watch list 12-month ECL 1,382.4 1,214.6

Doubtful Lifetime ECL  
(not credit impaired)

14.6 11.4

  
1,397.0 1,226.0

Contingent liabilities – financial 
guarantee (Note 3)

45 N/A 12-month ECL 494.5 107.0

  

*	 The gross carrying amounts disclosed above include the relevant interest receivables.

Notes:

1.	 Loan commitments represent undrawn loan commitments to consumer finance customers, mortgage customers and term loans customers granted by the Group 
under revolving loan facility arrangement.

2.	 The ECL is assess by reference to the probability of default and loss given default for the relevant credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies, 
and adjusted for forward-looking factors that are available.

3.	 The gross carrying amount of financial guarantee – represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under respective contracts.
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Impairment assessment

To assess the impairment loss on loans and advances to consumer finance customers, the Group groups together all outstanding 
loan balances, not subject to individual assessment, with common risk characteristics which are ascertained by categories of loan 
products and are further categorised then into different past due days brackets. ECL is calculated using methodology prescribed 
under HKFRS 9 (details refer to Note 3 Financial assets – impairment of financial assets) and the resultant impairment loss rate for 
loans balances which are assessed based on provision matrix within 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) are shown 
below:

Gross carrying amount being assessed based on provision matrix:

Loans and advances to consumer finance customers Average loss 31/12/2019 Average loss 31/12/2018

rate HK$ Million rate HK$ Million

Current (not past due) 4.2% 8,336.7 4.1% 8,170.9

1 to 30 days past due 17.0% 692.3 19.3% 594.9

31 to 60 days past due 59.8% 124.0 60.1% 120.8

61 to 90 days past due 75.6% 73.2 83.9% 73.9  
9,226.2 8,960.5  

Debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired debts with gross carrying amounts of HK$1,740.5 million and 
HK$154.6 million respectively (2018: HK$1,234.2 million and HK$220.6 million respectively) on 31 December 2019 were assessed 
individually for impairment loss allowances.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that have been recognised for loans and advances to consumer finance 
customers, mortgage loans, term loans, amounts due from associates, loan commitments and trade and other receivables.
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Loans and advances to consumer finance customers

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

(not credit –

impaired)

Lifetime

ECL (credit –

impaired) Total

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

As at 1 January 2018 382.4 148.5 87.2 618.1    
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (50.1) 50.1 – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to 12m ECL 9.0 (9.0) – –

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (7.1) – 7.1 –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to credit-impaired – (559.4) 559.4 –

Remeasurement of ECL 29.0 610.3 396.8 1,036.1

New financial assets originated or purchased 589.9 – – 589.9

Repayment and derecognition (543.3) (54.6) (3.1) (601.0)    
27.4 37.4 960.2 1,025.0    

Movement without impact on profit or loss:

Written off (Note) – – (983.9) (983.9)

Exchange adjustments (9.2) (4.1) (0.3) (13.6)    
(9.2) (4.1) (984.2) (997.5)    

As at 31 December 2018 400.6 181.8 63.2 645.6

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (9.4) 9.4 – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to 12m ECL 3.1 (3.1) – –

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (8.9) – 8.9 –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to credit-impaired – (475.9) 475.9 –

Remeasurement of ECL (23.9) 532.1 489.9 998.1

New financial assets originated or purchased 617.2 – – 617.2

Repayment and derecognition (552.0) (51.9) (12.2) (616.1)    
26.1 10.6 962.5 999.2    

Movement without impact on profit or loss:

Written off (Note) – – (933.0) (933.0)

Exchange adjustments (2.8) (1.2) – (4.0)    
(2.8) (1.2) (933.0) (937.0)    

As at 31 December 2019 423.9 191.2 92.7 707.8    

Note:	 Amount of HK$933.0 million (2018: HK$983.9 million) that were written off during the year are still subject to enforcement activities.
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Mortgage loans

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit –

impaired)

Lifetime
ECL (credit –

impaired) Total
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

As at 1 January 2018 0.8 2.8 1.6 5.2    
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (0.2) 0.2 – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to 12m ECL 0.2 (0.2) – –

Remeasurement of ECL (1.8) 1.8 5.7 5.7

New financial assets originated or purchased 1.8 – – 1.8

Repayment and derecognition (0.8) (0.8) (1.4) (3.0)    
(0.8) 1.0 4.3 4.5    

As at 31 December 2018 – 3.8 5.9 9.7

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (0.1) – 0.1 –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to credit-impaired – (2.4) 2.4 –

Remeasurement of ECL 3.6 (1.0) 11.2 13.8

New financial assets originated or purchased 0.7 – – 0.7

Repayment and derecognition (0.7) (0.4) (1.4) (2.5)    
3.5 (3.8) 12.3 12.0    

As at 31 December 2019 3.5 – 18.2 21.7    

Term loans

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit –

impaired)

Lifetime
ECL (credit –

impaired) Total
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

As at 1 January 2018 0.4 – 86.2 86.6    
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Remeasurement of ECL – – 64.8 64.8

Repayment and derecognition – – (0.6) (0.6)    
– – 64.2 64.2    

As at 31 December 2018 0.4 – 150.4 150.8

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (18.8) 18.8 – –

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (59.9) – 59.9 –

Remeasurement of ECL 81.0 13.1 65.8 159.9

New financial assets originated or purchased 0.7 – – 0.7    
3.0 31.9 125.7 160.6    

As at 31 December 2019 3.4 31.9 276.1 311.4    
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Amounts due from associates

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

(not credit –

impaired)

Lifetime

ECL (credit –

impaired) Total

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

As at 1 January 2018 – – 17.1 17.1

Repayment and derecognition – – – –    
– – – –    

As at 31 December 2018 – – 17.1 17.1

Remeasurement of ECL – – 0.4 0.4    
– – 0.4 0.4    

As at 31 December 2019 – – 17.5 17.5    

Loan commitments

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

(not credit –

impaired)

Lifetime

ECL (credit –

impaired) Total

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

As at 1 January 2018 23.1 4.7 – 27.8

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (0.6) 0.6 – –

Remeasurement of ECL (0.2) 5.4 – 5.2

New financial assets originated or purchased 23.2 – – 23.2

Repayment and derecognition (22.6) (4.9) – (27.5)    
As at 31 December 2018 22.9 5.8 – 28.7

Changes due to financial instruments recognised during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (0.7) 0.7 – –

Remeasurement of ECL 1.7 6.6 – 8.3

New financial assets originated or purchased 24.7 – – 24.7

Repayment and derecognition (23.3) (5.8) – (29.1)    
As at 31 December 2019 25.3 7.3 – 32.6    
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Trade and other receivables

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

(not credit –

impaired)

Lifetime

ECL (credit –

impaired) Total

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

As at 1 January 2018 – – 0.3 0.3

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (5.4) – 5.4 –

Remeasurement of ECL – – 0.1 0.1

New financial assets originated or purchased 5.4 – – 5.4

Repayment and derecognition – – (0.4) (0.4)    
– – 5.1 5.1    

Movement without impact on profit or loss:

Written off – – (5.4) (5.4)    
– – (5.4) (5.4)    

As at 31 December 2018 – – – –

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (0.1) – 0.1 –

Remeasurement of ECL – – 47.5 47.5

New financial assets originated or purchased 0.1 – – 0.1

Repayment and derecognition – – – –    
– – 47.6 47.6    

Movement without impact on profit or loss:

Written off – – (0.1) (0.1)    
– – (0.1) (0.1)    

As at 31 December 2019 – – 47.5 47.5    
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for loans and advances to consumer finance customers, mortgage loans, term loans, amounts due 
from associates, loan commitments and trade and other receivables are mainly due to changes in expected credit loss rate at each 
stage and changes in gross carrying amounts of respective loans and receivables are as follows:

Loans and advances to consumer finance customers

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 

(not credit- 

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 

(credit-

impaired) Total

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018 9,281.6 246.5 176.1 9,704.2

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (1,033.3) 1,033.3 – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to 12m ECL 18.2 (18.2) – –

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (194.5) – 194.5 –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to credit-impaired – (879.1) 879.1 –

New financial assets originated or purchased 13,724.6 – – 13,724.6

Repayment and derecognition (11,741.4) (96.2) (44.2) (11,881.8)

Written off – – (983.9) (983.9)

Exchange adjustments (142.3) (4.5) (1.0) (147.8)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 9,912.9 281.8 220.6 10,415.3

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (1,194.7) 1,194.7 – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to 12m ECL 6.2 (6.2) – –

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (240.8) – 240.8 –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to credit-impaired – (735.4) 735.4 –

New financial assets originated or purchased 15,093.5 – – 15,093.5

Repayment and derecognition (13,031.7) (268.8) (108.9) (13,409.4)

Written off – – (933.0) (933.0)

Exchange adjustments (43.5) (1.3) (0.3) (45.1)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 10,501.9 464.8 154.6 11,121.3    

As at 31 December 2019, loans and advances to consumer finance customers with a gross carrying amount of HK$89.0 million (2018: 
HK$89.6 million) classified as lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) is covered by collateral and other credit enhancement measures.



152     / Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Mortgage loans

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit- 

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-

impaired) Total
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018 2,048.5 68.0 8.9 2,125.4

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (401.6) 401.6 – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to 12m ECL 14.3 (14.3) – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to credit-impaired – (29.1) 29.1 –

New financial assets originated or purchased 3,340.8 – – 3,340.8

Repayment and derecognition (1,514.4) (75.5) (12.4) (1,602.3)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 3,487.6 350.7 25.6 3,863.9

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (196.8) 196.8 – –

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (7.9) – 7.9 –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to 12m ECL – – – –

Transfer from lifetime ECL to credit-impaired – (459.1) 459.1 –

New financial assets originated or purchased 2,033.1 – – 2,033.1

Repayment and derecognition (2,145.4) (74.0) (29.0) (2,248.4)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 3,170.6 14.4 463.6 3,648.6    

As at 31 December 2019, mortgage loans with a gross carrying amount of HK$463.6 million (2018: HK$25.6 million) classified as 
lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) is covered by collateral.

Term loans

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit- 

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-

impaired) Total
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018 2,835.0 – 406.6 3,241.6

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

New financial assets originated or purchased 590.9 – 1.1 592.0

Repayment and derecognition (1,197.6) – – (1,197.6)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 2,228.3 – 407.7 2,636.0

Changes due to financial instruments recognised during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL (459.2) 459.2 – –

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (309.0) – 309.0 –

New financial assets originated or purchased 371.4 – – 371.4

Repayment and derecognition (789.8) – – (789.8)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 1,041.7 459.2 716.7 2,217.6    

As at 31 December 2019, term loans with a gross carrying amount of HK$716.7 million (2018: HK$407.7 million) classified as 
lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) is covered by collateral and other credit enhancement measures.
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)	Credit Risk (Continued)

Amounts due from associates

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit- 

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-

impaired) Total
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018 418.8 – 17.1 435.9

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Repayment and derecognition (55.0) – – (55.0)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 363.8 – 17.1 380.9

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Advances – – 0.4 0.4

Repayment and derecognition (33.9) – – (33.9)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 329.9 – 17.5 347.4    

Trade and other receivables

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit- 

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-

impaired) Total
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018 139.8 – – 139.8

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

New financial assets originated or purchased 242.9 – – 242.9

Repayment and derecognition (14.1) – – (14.1)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 368.6 – – 368.6

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January/during the year:

Transfer from 12m ECL to credit-impaired (242.9) – 242.9 –

New financial assets originated or purchased 105.7 – – 105.7

Repayment and derecognition – – (45.0) (45.0)    
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 231.4 – 197.9 429.3    
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47.	Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)	 Liquidity Risk

The goal of liquidity management is to mitigate risk that a given security or asset cannot be traded quickly enough in the market 
to prevent a loss or make the required profit. Another goal is to enable the Group, even under adverse market conditions, to 
actively manage and match funds inflow against all maturing repayment obligations to achieve maximum harmony on cash flow 
management.

The Group manages its liquidity position to ensure a prudent and adequate liquidity ratio. This is achieved by a transparent and 
collective monitoring approach across the Group involving Executive Directors and the Group CFO.

The exposure of the Group’s contractual undiscounted cash flow for financial liabilities and their contractual maturity dates are as 
follows:

(HK$ Million)

On demand

or less than

90 days

91 days

to 1 year

1 year

to 5 years

Over

5 years Total

At 31 December 2019

Bank and other borrowings+ 4,892.5 877.4 2,609.7 62.1 8,441.7

Trade and other payables 137.3 – – – 137.3

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements 386.2 – – – 386.2

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and a holding company 35.5 – – – 35.5

Lease liabilities 24.0 68.9 28.5 – 121.4

Notes/paper payable 181.9 666.1 9,126.6 – 9,974.6

Loan commitments# 1,397.0 – – – 1,397.0

Guarantees* – 105.2 389.3 – 494.5     
Total 7,054.4 1,717.6 12,154.1 62.1 20,988.2     
At 31 December 2018

Bank and other borrowings+ 5,181.1 68.9 2,018.9 62.1 7,331.0

Trade payables and other payables 65.7 – – – 65.7

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements 1,216.5 – – – 1,216.5

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and a holding company 523.5 – – – 523.5

Amounts due to associates 1.9 – – – 1.9

Notes/paper payable 738.1 234.2 7,928.0 – 8,900.3

Loan commitments# 1,226.0 – – – 1,226.0

Guarantees* – 107.0 – – 107.0     
Total 8,952.8 410.1 9,946.9 62.1 19,371.9     

+	 Bank and other borrowings with repayment on demand clause are classified as on demand in the above analysis although the demand clause has not been 

exercised.

#	 The amount represents the maximum undrawn loan commitments under the loan facilities arrangement and the Group could be required to provide loan 

disbursements upon demand from the consumer finance customers. Based on the expectation at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is 

remote for such whole loan commitments to be fully drawn down in any significant respect.

*	 The amounts included above for guarantees are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount 

if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantees.
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48.	Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s 
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

(HK$ Million)

Short-term
loans due
to fellow

subsidiaries
(Note 38)

Bank and
other

borrowings
(Note 35)

Lease
liabilities
(Note 40)

Notes/
paper payable

(Note 41) Total

At 31 December 2018 514.5 7,183.1 – 7,800.0 15,497.6
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 – – 135.1 – 135.1     
At 1 January 2019 514.5 7,183.1 135.1 7,800.0 15,632.7
Financing cash flows:
New short-term loans due to fellow subsidiaries repaid (481.6) – – – (481.6)
Net short-term bank and other borrowings repaid – (19,034.0) – – (19,034.0)
New long-term bank and other borrowings raised – 19,967.6 – – 19,967.6
Proceeds from issue of notes/paper – – – 3,989.8 3,989.8
Repurchase of notes/paper – – – (1,718.9) (1,718.9)
Repayment of notes/paper – – – (1,498.7) (1,498.7)
Accrued interest – 355.6 5.5 385.4 746.5
Interest paid – (314.7) (5.5) (347.1) (667.3)
Lease payments – – (77.6) – (77.6)
New lease entered/lease modified – – 60.5 – 60.5
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes – (0.5) (0.3) (11.8) (12.6)     
At 31 December 2019 32.9 8,157.1 117.7 8,598.7 16,906.4     
At 31 December 2017 125.8 3,797.2 – 8,130.9 12,053.9
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 – – – (11.5) (11.5)     
At 1 January 2018 125.8 3,797.2 – 8,119.4 12,042.4
Financing cash flows: –
New short-term loans due to fellow subsidiaries raised 388.7 – – – 388.7
Net short-term bank and other borrowings repaid – (12,590.2) – – (12,590.2)
New long-term bank and other borrowings raised – 16,018.8 – – 16,018.8
Proceeds from issue of notes/paper – – – 795.1 795.1
Redemption of notes/paper – – – (576.4) (576.4)
Repayment of notes/paper – – – (616.5) (616.5)
Accrued interest – 241.0 – 396.8 637.8
Interest paid – (157.0) – (368.0) (525.0)
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes – (6.6) – 49.6 43.0
Others – (120.1) – – (120.1)     
At 31 December 2018 514.5 7,183.1 – 7,800.0 15,497.6     

49.	Post Balance Sheet Event
The outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) started in Wuhan, the PRC and spread throughout China and since then to 
countries across the world. The increase in transmission and geographical spread of COVID-19 largely occurred after the year end 
and, as at 31 December 2019, there were only a limited number of cases concentrated in Wuhan, Hubei. Travel restrictions and 
quarantine measures adopted by governments, non-governmental organisations, and private entities in relation to COVID-19 that 
could reasonably have been deemed to affect the Group’s financial statements, have substantially all occurred after the year end. 
Resultant economic and financial effects related to COVID-19 are largely attributed to events that have taken place after the year 
end, and therefore, the Directors considered that the events resulting from the spread of COVID-19 after 31 December 2019 should 
be accounted for as non-adjusting events. The Directors will monitor the developments of COVID-19 situation closely, assess and 
react proactively to its impacts on the financial position and operating results of the Group. A prolonged COVID-19 crisis may have 
a material effect on our 2020 financial results. Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances, the related impact on our Group’s 
consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial condition could not be reasonably estimated at this stage and any 
impact will be reflected in the Group’s 2020 financial statements and beyond depending on how the situation evolves.
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50.	Statement of Financial Position of the 
Company

(HK$ Million) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Non-current Assets

Property and equipment 0.8 1.2

Intangible assets 6.2 1.3

Interest in subsidiaries 4,008.7 4,008.4

Interest in associates 700.8 700.8

Amounts due from subsidiaries 7,905.4 7,562.0

Amounts due from associates 59.8 60.1  
12,681.7 12,333.8  

Current Assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries 5,408.3 4,634.8

Other receivables 5.0 2.7

Tax recoverable 3.4 4.2

Cash and cash equivalents 339.8 73.2  
5,756.5 4,714.9  

Current Liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries 7,045.3 5,288.2

Amounts due to holding company 2.4 4.5

Trade and other payables 31.4 15.8

Provisions 111.8 83.8  
7,190.9 5,392.3  

Net Current Liabilities (1,434.4) (677.4)  
Total Assets less Current Liabilities 11,247.3 11,656.4  
Capital and Reserves

Share capital 8,731.0 8,731.0

Reserves 2,516.0 2,925.2  
Equity attributable to owners of the 

Company 11,247.0 11,656.2  
Non-current Liabilities

Provisions 0.3 0.2  
11,247.3 11,656.4  

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved 
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 
2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Seng Huang Simon Chow Wing Charn

Director Director

51.	Reserves of the Company
(HK$ Million) 2019 2018

Retained earnings

Balance at 1 January 2,925.2 3,377.4

Profit and total comprehensive income for 

the year 144.6 758.7

Unclaimed dividends forfeited 0.2 –

Dividends paid (521.0) (560.0)

Shares repurchased (33.0) (650.9)  
Balance at 31 December 2,516.0 2,925.2  

The distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 
2019 amounted to HK$1,905.9 mi l l ion (31/12/2018: 
HK$2,315.0 million), being its net realised profits calculated 
under Section 291 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited
China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
China CITIC Bank International Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Dah Sing Bank, Limited
Taipei Fubon Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.
CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
Taishin International Bank Co., Ltd.
Mega International Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.,
  Offshore Banking Branch
Far Eastern International Bank, 
  Hong Kong Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
Tai Fung Bank Limited
Cathay United Bank Company, Limited, 
  Hong Kong Branch

REGISTRAR
Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
42/F, Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

WEBSITES
www.shkco.com
www.shkcredit.com.hk
www.uaf.com.hk
www.uaf.com.cn
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